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We had 6,487,852 shares of common stock outstanding as of De@&mBen 0.

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a walbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in RO of the Securities Act.

A Yes X No

If this is an annual or transition report, indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports fuBeetignl3 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

A Yes X No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantdsfiled all reports required to be filed by Sectib® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding h@nths (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports) hascE)n
subject to such filingequirements for the past @@ys.

X Yes A No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, ¥f latgramtime Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to43ef RegulatiorST ( A232. 405 of this chmmphser)
(or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).

A Yes A No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large acceletatedrfi accelerated filer, or a nancelerated filer. See definition of
"accelerated filer" and "large accelerated filer" in RL26&-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filek Non-accelerated fileK Accelerated file’\

Indicate by check mark which basis of accounting the registrant has used to prepare the financial statements inclditied.in this

U.S. GAAPX IFRS as issued by IASE OtherA

If "Other" has been checked in response to the previous question, indicate by check mark which financial statememgistmatitdnas
elected to follow.

A ltem17 A ltem 18

If this is an annual report, indicate by check mark whether the registrashell company (as defined in RUib-2 of the Exchange Act).

A Yes X No
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARBLOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report contains forwalambking statements as defined in Secttd of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
"Securities Act"), and Sectid?lE of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"). These foloekidg statements include
information about possible or assumed future results of our opesatia our performance. Our forwdabking statements include, but are
not limited to, statements regarding us or our management's expectations, hopes, beliefs, intentions or strategidhedgarcérand
other statements other than statementsstbtical fact. In addition, any statements that refer to projections, forecasts or other
characterizations of future events or circumstances, including any underlying assumptions, arddokivegcdtatements. The words
"anticipates," "forecasts," "belie," "continue,"” "could," "estimate," "expect," "intends," "may," "might," "plan," "possible," "potential,"
"predicts," "project," "should," "would" and similar expressions may identify ford@okling statements, but the absence of these words
does not man that a statement is not forwdeamking. Forwardlooking statements in this annual report may include, for example, statemer
about our:

A our future operating or financial results;

A our financial condition and liquidity, including our ability to comply with our loan covenants and to obtain additiongihfinarthe
future to fund capital expenditures, acquisitions and other general corporate activities;

A our ability to pay dividends in the future;

A drybulk shipping industry trends, including charter rates and factors affecting vessel supply and demand;

A future, pending or recent acquisitions, business strategy, areas of possible expansion, and expected capital speiimg or ¢
expenses and general and administrative expenses;

A the useful lives and value of our vessels;

A our ability to receive in full or partially our accounts receivable and insurance claims;

A greater than anticipated levels of drybulk vessel new building orders or lower than anticipated rates of drybulk vgssg| scra

A changes in the cost of other modes of bulk commodity transportation;

A availability of crew, number of offiire days, drydocking requirements and insurance costs;

A changes in condition of our vessels or applicable maintenance or regulatory standards (which may affect, among other thi
anticipated drydocking costs);

A competition in the seaborne transportation industry;

A global and regional economic and political conditions;

A fluctuations in currencies and interest rates;

A our ability to leverage to our advantage our Manager's relationships and reputation in the drybulk shipping industry;

A the overall health and condition of the U.S. and global financial markets;

A changes in seaborne and other transportation patterns;

A changes in governmental rules and regulations or actions taken by regulatory authorities;

A potential liability from future litigation and incidents involving our vessels and our expected recoveries of claims uimderr anc

policies;
A acts of terrorism and other hostilities; and
A other factors discussed in the section titled "Risk Factors" in this annual report.

We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forleking statements contained in this annual report, or the document:
to which we refer you in thiannual report, to reflect any change in our expectations with respect to such statements or any change in e
conditions or circumstances on which any statement is based.

FreeSeas Inc. is a Republic of the Marshall Islands company that is referred to in this annual report orF-twgeftier with its
subsidiaries, as "FreeSeas Inc.," "FreeSeas," "the Company,” "we," "us," or "our."

We use the term "deadweight tons™dwt," in describing the capacity of our drybulk carriers. Dwt, expressed in metric tons, each of
which is equivalent to 1,000 kilograms, refers to the maximum weight of cargo and supplies that a vessel can carryaDistsudite
generally categiared as Handysize, Handymax, Panamax and Capesize. The carrying capacity of a Handysize drybulk carrier typically
ranges from 10,000 to 39,999 dwt and that of a Handymax drybulk carrier typically ranges from 40,000 to 59,999 dwt. Byonpthpar



carrying capacity of a Panamax drybulk carrier typically ranges from 60,000 to 79,999 dwt and the carrying capacity of a Gdpékize dr
carrier typically is 80,000 dwt and above.
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Unless otherwise indicated
A All references to "$" and "dollars" in this document are to U.S. dollars

A Financial information presented inis document that is derived from financial statements appearing elsewhere in this docun
prepared in accordance with the U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and

A All references to dollar amounts in this document are expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars.

All sharerelated and per share information throughout the document have been adjusted to give effect to the one share for five shal
reverse stock split #t was effective on Octobér 2010.

This report should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and the accompanyingtoptesithere
are included in Iterd8 to this annual report.

ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS
Not applicable.

ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE
Not applicable.

ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION
A. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The selected consolidated financial information set forth below has been derived from our audited financial stateneep¢aferathded
Decembe1, 2010, 2009, 2008, 2007 and 2006. The information is only a summary and should be read in conjunction with our auditec
consolidated financial statements for the years ended Dec&hb2010 and 2009 and notes thereto contained elsewhere herein. The
financial results should not be construed as indicative of financial results for subsequent periods. geinfttemation on the Company"
and "ltem5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects.”

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Statement ofOperations Data:
Operating revenues $ 57,65( $ 57,53¢ $ 66,68¢ $ 20,14 $ 11,72
Income (lossfrom operations (17,000 11,45¢ 26,57( 5,761 (2,28))
Other expense (4,827 (4,600 (7,379¢) (5,919 (1,049
Net income (loss) (21,82) 6,85¢ 19,19: (15€) (3,329
Earnings Per Share Data:
Net income (lossper share:

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ (3.46) $ 1.3t $ 4.57 $ (0.09 $ (2.69)

Diluted earnings (loss) per shal $ (3.46) $ 1.3¢ $ 4.5¢€ $ (0.09 $ (2.69)
Weighted average number of sha

Basic weighted average numbe

of shares 6,313,60! 5,092,77. 4,201,29: 1,757,61 1,258,37

Diluted weighted average numl

of shares 6,313,600 5,092,77. 4,210,39: 1,757,618 1,258,37

Dividends per share $ o} $ o} $ 2.2t $ 0.87¢ $ o}

Year Ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Selected Balace Sheet Data:
Total cash $ 10,07: $ 9,591 $ 5,97 $ 63,74 $ 372
Vessels, net 213,69: 270,70: 275,40! 108,02: 19,36¢

Total assets 250,98 297,32: 307,86 191,97. 23,08t



Long-term debt, including current portion 120,45¢ 137,95¢ 160,35( 56,30( 7,83(
Total shareholders' equity $123,19( $ 144,45; $120,85! $112,62¢ $ 7,007
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B. Capitalization and Indebtedness

Not applicable.

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable.

D. Risk Factors

Risk Factors Relating to the Drybulk Shipping Industry

The international drybulk shipping industry is cyclical and volatile and charter rates have decreased significantly anduntiagrf
decrease in the future, which may adversely affect our earnings, vessel values and results of operations.

The drybulk shipping industry is cyclical with volatility in charter hire rates and profitability. The degree of chartatehirelatility
among different types of drybulk vessels has varied widely. Since the middle of the third quarter of 2008)ichaates for drybulk
vessels have decreased substantially, and although charter rates have recovered from their lows, they may remainhefatibséaable
future and could continue to decline further. Additionally, charter rates have beenlg#yticolatile in the first quarter of 2011 and have
substantially decreased. As a result, our charter rates could decline significantly, resulting in a loss and a recduntiggsin e

We anticipate that the future demand for our drybulk vessdlibevdependent upon existing conditions in the world's economies,
seasonal and regional changes in demand, changes in the number of drybulk vessels being ordered and constructedf traatiigaaty
oversupply of vessels, changes in the capaditheoglobal drybulk fleet and the sources and supply of drybulk cargo to be transported by
sea. Adverse economic, political, social or other developments could have a further material adverse effect on dryhglik gféppral
and on our business angearating results in particular.

Our ability to recharter our drybulk vessels upon the expiration or termination of their current time charters, the charter rates payabl
under any renewal or replacement charters will depend upon, among othertti@rgsyent state of the drybulk shipping market. If the
drybulk shipping market is in a period of depression when our vessels' charters expire, it is likely that we may beréechaddo them at
reduced rates, including rates whereby we incur a \elsieh may reduce our earnings or make our earnings volatile.

In addition, because the market value of our vessels may fluctuate significantly, we may incur losses when we selhicssedy, w
adversely affect our earnings. If we sell vesselstama when vessel prices have fallen and before we have recorded an impairment
adjustment to our financial statements, the sale may be at less than the vessel's carrying amount on our financiglretstétingritsa loss
and a reduction in earnings.

While the drybulk carrier charter market has recently strengthened, it remains significantly below its high in the middi@0&f @nd the
average rates achieved in the three prior years, which has and may continue to adversely affect our revenues, eswhipggitability
and our ability to comply with our loan covenants.

The revenues, earnings and profitability of companies in our industry are affected by the charter rates that can be tieaireéet,
which is volatile and has experienced $igant declines since its highs in the middle of 2008. For example, the Baltic Drybulk Index, or
BDI, an index published by The Baltic Exchange of shipping rates for 20 key drybulk routes, declined from a high of May2®08 to
a low of 663 in Deceber2008, which represents a decline of 94% within a single calendar year. The BDI fell over 70% during
October2008 alone. During 2009, the BDI remained volatile, reaching a low of 772 on J&n2&§0 and a high of 4,661 on November
2009. During P10, the BDI was also volatile, declining from a high of 4,209 on B&y2010 to a low of 1,700 on Julp, 2010.
Additionally, charter rates have been particularly volatile in the first quarter of 2011. Oh3viag11, the BDI was 1,306 increasing fram
low of 1,043 on February 4, 2011. The decline and volatility in charter rates has been due to various factors, inctigliagt#tien caused
by the floods in Australia which led to the closure of major ports and mineral extraction facilities, tbeatéignpeduction in the demand of
commodities by China, the increase in newbuilding deliveries, political and governmental instability and rising oil priseguéntly, the
freight rates achieved by drybulk companies have declined sharply, reduditegogity and, at times, failing to cover the costs of operating
vessels. The decline and volatility in charter rates in the drybulk market also affects the value of our drybulk vedsétdlomisi the trends
of drybulk charter rates, and earnings an charters, and similarly affects our cash flows, liquidity and our ability to comply with the
covenants contained in our loan agreements.

Economic recession and disruptions in world financial markets and the resulting governmental action in the UnigéelsStnd in other
parts of the world could have a further material adverse impact on our results of operations, financial condition and cagh fl

We face risks resulting from changes in economic environments, changes in interest rates ang iimstladibianking, energy,
commodities and securities markets around the world, among other factors. Major market disruptions, the adverse chew@ges in ma
conditions and the regulatory climate in the United States and worldwide may adversely affesirmsshimpair our ability to borrow
amounts under our existing credit facility or any credit facilities we enter into. In addition, as our operations areGesmk| the
economic environment in Greece, including the recent downgrade in its crigdjt rafy have adverse impacts on us. We cannot predict
how long the current market conditions will last. However, these economic and governmental factors, together with thataeadine in
charter rates, could have a significant effect on our restitiperations and could affect the price of our common stock.
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The earthquake and resulting tsunami and nuclear power plant crisis that struck Japan in M&@hl could, in the near term, result in
reduced drybulk trade and demand in Japan, which could reduce the number of charters to and from Japan and global chaseanmdt
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and residiloperations.

In March2011, a severe earthquake struck the northeast portion of Japan. The earthquake created a severe tsunami, the dffects of
were felt in Japan, other countries along the eastern cost of Asia and across the Pacific tDeddamviiian Islands, Alaska, Canada, the
western coast of the United States, Mexico and Central and South America. In addition, the earthquake and resultingviswaased
several nuclear power plants located in Japan to fail, emit radiation asilpossult in meltdowns that could have catastrophic effects. The
full effect of these disasters, both on the Japanese and global economies and the environment, is not currently kngwigtdredkmawn
for a significant period of time. These disasteiill likely result in fewer drybulk charters to and from Japan, in both the short and
intermediate terms, including charters for our vessels, and could reduce charter rates globally both in the short emchiorigexddition,
there can be no assucas that our vessels trading in the Pacific may not be impacted by the possible effects of spreading radiation. The
disasters and the resulting economic instability, both in the region and globally, could have a material adverse aeffataocialu
condition and results of operations.

While there are certain signs that the global economy is improving, there is still considerable instability in the worldragpwhich
could initiate a new economic downturn or introduce volatility in the global mark&sgglobal economic downturn, or volatility in the
global markets, especially in the Asian region, could reduce drybulk trade and demand, which could reduce charter rates/aral h
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and resuftsperations.

Negative trends in the global economy that emerged in 2008 have continued through the first half of 2011. A detertbeattobad
economy may cause a decrease in worldwide demand for certain goods and, thulk sinjpping. Conuing economic instability could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We expect that a significant number of the port calls made by our vessels will involve the loading or discharging ofriaw imptets
in the Asian and Pacific region, particularly China and Japan. A negative change in economic conditions in any Asiapastiantayly
China, Japan and, to some extent, India, can have a material adverse effect on our business, finamtiahgaosisults of operations, as
well as our future prospects, by reducing demand and, as a result, charter rates and affecting our ability to chastds.durpest years,
China and India have had two of the world's fastest growing economies ;dégross domestic product and have been the main driving
force behind increases in marine drybulk trade and the demand for drybulk vessels. If economic growth declines in @hindja)apd
other countries in the AsiBacific region, we may face deases in such drybulk trade and demand. Moreover, the current economic
slowdown in the economies of the United States, the European Union and Asian countries may further adversely affectenetiomic
China, India and elsewhere. Our business, fir@mmsition, results of operations, ability to pay dividends as well as our future prospects,
would be materially and adversely affected by a iasging or significant economic downturn in any of these countries.

Changes in the economic and political eémenment in China and policies adopted by the government to regulate its economy may have
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Chinese economy differs from the economies of most countries lmgjJdadhe Organization for Economic Cooperation and
Development, or OECD, in such respects as structure, government involvement, level of development, growth rate, cagtitaénginv
allocation of resources, rate of inflation and balance of paymesitsquo Prior to 1978, the Chinese economy was a planned economy. Sin
1978, increasing emphasis has been placed on the utilization of market forces in the development of the Chinese ecerisrag. Ther
increasing level of freedom and autonomy in aread ss allocation of resources, production, pricing and management and a gradual shif
emphasis to a "market economy" and enterprise reform. Although limited price reforms were undertaken, with the remes tioat pr
certain commodities are principadetermined by market forces, many of the reforms are experimental and may be subject to change or
abolition. We cannot assure you that the Chinese government will continue to pursue a policy of economic reform. Thapeved tf
and exports fronChina could be adversely affected by changes to these economic reforms, as well as by changes in political, economi
social conditions or other relevant policies of the Chinese government, such as changes in laws, regulations or expanttrastidtions,
all of which could, adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.

Risks involved with operating oceagoing vessels could affect our business and reputation, which may reduce our revenues.
The operation of an oceayoing vessel has inherent risks. These risks include the possibility of:
A crew strikes and/or boycotts;

marine disaster;

piracy;

environmental accidents;

Do o o Do

cargo and property losses or damage;
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A business interruptions caused by mechanical failure, human error, war, terrorism, political action in various countserkedatm
adverse weather conditions.

The involvement of any of our vessels in an environmental disaster may harm our reputation as a safe and reliableatess&hgmdr
these circumstances or events could increase our costs or lower our revenues.

Our vessels are exposed to operationiaks, including terrorism and piracy, which may not be adequately covered by our insurance.

The operation of any vessel includes risks such as mechanical failure, collision, fire, contact with floating objecispoapgoty loss or
damageand business interruption due to political circumstances in foreign countries, piracy, terrorist attacks, armed hudtidibes a
strikes. With a drybulk carrier, the cargo itself and its interaction with the ship can be a risk factor. By theidndiutle cargoes are often
heavy, dense, easily shifted, and react badly to water exposure. In addition, drybulk carriers are often subjectedtdatternt during
unloading operations with grabs, jackhammers (to pry encrusted cargoes outalfijharid small bulldozers. This treatment may cause
damage to the vessel. Vessels damaged due to treatment during unloading procedures may be more susceptible to lmaakhlto the s
breaches in drybulk carriers may lead to the flooding of the vehséds. If a drybulk carrier suffers flooding in its forward holds, the bulk
cargo may become so dense and waterlogged that its pressure may buckle the vessel's bulkheads leading to the load$ wEauessel
unable to adequately maintain our vessedsmay be unable to prevent these events. Any of these circumstances or events could negativ
impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Further, such occurrences could result in death or injury to persons, loss of poomenironmental damage, delays in the delivery of
cargo, loss of revenues from or termination of charter contracts, governmental fines, penalties or restrictions on dnrsilvesisghigher
insurance rates and damage to our reputation and custontemsfigps generally. In the past, political conflicts have also resulted in attack
on vessels, mining of waterways and other efforts to disrupt international shipping, particularly in the Arabian GulActgymfterrorism
and piracy have also affedt@essels trading in regions such as the South China Sea and the Gulf of Aden and Indian Ocean off the coa
Somalia and Kenya. If these attacks and other disruptions result in areas where our vessels are deployed being cbpiastegrsads
"war risk" zones or Joint War Committee "war, strikes, terrorism and related perils” listed areas, as the Gulf of Aden sypettijums
payable for such coverage could increase significantly and such insurance coverage may be more difficult or itopmigsibleln
addition, there is always the possibility of a marine disaster, including oil spills and other environmental damage. dtheeggels carry
a relatively small amount of the oil used for fuel ("bunkers"), a spill of oil from one of ageleor losses as a result of fire or explosion
could be catastrophic under certain circumstances.

We may not be adequately insured against all risks, and our insurers may not pay particular claims. With respect tmswaarisks
which we usudy obtain for certain of our vessels making port calls in designated war zone areas, such insurance may not be obtained
one of our vessels entering into an actual war zone, which could result in that vessel not being insured. Even if cacmsrnage is
adequate to cover our losses, we may not be able to timely obtain a replacement vessel in the event of a loss. Urdef ¢l oeeatit
facilities, we will be subject to restrictions on the use of any proceeds we may receive from nd@meur insurance policies. Furthermore,
in the future, we may not be able to maintain or obtain adequate insurance coverage at reasonable rates for our fledso/le maject
to calls, or premiums, in amounts based not only on our own claim eebot@lso the claim records of all other members of the protection
and indemnity associations through which we receive indemnity insurance coverage for tort liability. Our insurancelpolétiatam
deductibles, limitations and exclusions which, altgh we believe are standard in the shipping industry, may nevertheless increase our cc
in the event of a claim or decrease any recovery in the event of a loss. If the damages from a catastrophic oil spitboinethésaster
exceeded our insuranceverage, the payment of those damages could have a material adverse effect on our business and could possil
result in our insolvency.

In addition, we may not carry loss of hire insurance. Loss of hire insurance covers the loss of revenuetdnded eassel offire
periods, such as those that occur during an unscheduled drydocking due to damage to the vessel from accidents. Angdodinglfaa
vessel or any extended period of vessehafé, due to an accident or otherwise, could haraterial adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

An oversupply of drybulk vessel capacity may lead to reductions in charter rates and profitability.

The market supply of drybulk vessels has been increasinghamiimber of drybulk vessels on order is near historic highs. As of
DecembeRl, 2010, newbuilding orders had been placed for an aggregate of approximately 47% oféxéstimgnglobal drybulk fleet,
with deliveries expected mainly during the succegdBmonths, although available data with regard to cancellations of existing
newbuilding orders or delays of new build deliveries are not always accurate. As of De8én@0d9, newbuilding orders had been placed
for an aggregate of approximately 61%toé therexisting global drybulk fleet, with deliveries expected mainly during the succeeding 36
months, although available data with regard to cancellations of existing new build orders or delays of new build dedivetiedveays
accurate. There hawbeen noticeably fewer vessels scrapped during 2010 than during the height of the economic crisis because of the
increased prevailing charter during the second half of 2009 and first half of 2010. As a result, the available suppik eEdsgis may
exceed the expected demand for ton mile transportation, even if the latter continues to grow as per the underlying tegnly. dgerate
our fleet in the spot market, where charter rates are more volatile and revenues are, therefore, less predietstewEhwill be exposed
to the volatility of the charter rates with respect to our fleet depending on the ultimate growth of the global drytank flseiemand. We
may be exposed to a prolonged period of adjustment of the supply and demaneatahe s
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The international drybulk shipping industry is highly competitive, and we may not be able to compete successfully for ehattenew
entrants or established companies with greater resources.

We employ our vessels in a highly competitive market that is capital intensive and highly fragmented. Competition eatirilgromim
other vessel owners, some of which have substantially greater resources than we do. Competition for the trainépbyatidcargo by
sea is intense and depends on price, customer relationships, operating expertise, professional reputation and st agd,doodition
of the vessel. Due in part to the highly fragmented market, additional competitors wtdr gesaurces could enter the drybulk shipping
industry and operate larger fleets through consolidations or acquisitions and may be able to offer lower charter rataselzdobeto offer,
which could have a material adverse effect on our fleet utdizand, accordingly, our profitability.

Rising crew costs may adversely affect our profits.

Crew costs are a significant expense for us under our charters. Recently, the limited supply of and increased demandafifiedell
crew, due to the inease in the size of the global shipping fleet, has created upward pressure on crewing costs, which we generally bea
our period time and spot charters. Increases in crew costs may adversely affect our profitability.

Charter rates are subject to seaw fluctuations, which may adversely affect our operating results.

Our fleet consists of Handysize and Handymax drybulk carriers that operate in markets that have historically exhibi taséstmms
in demand and, as a result, in charter talss seasonality may result in quarterquarter volatility in our operating results. The energy
markets primarily affect the demand for coal, with increases during hot summer periods when air conditioning and refreggra&onore
electricity andowards the end of the calendar year in anticipation of the forthcoming winter period. Grain shipments are driven by the
harvest within a climate zone. Because three of the five largest grain producers (the United States, Canada and thénitamppesan
located in the northern hemisphere and the other two (Argentina and Australia) are located in the southern hemispleoeduarves
throughout the year and grains require drybulk shipping accordingly. As a result of these and other factors, thehignyimgjkndustry is
typically stronger in the fall and winter months. Therefore, we expect our revenues from our drybulk carriers to bevisgaiketlgluring
the fiscal quarters ending JuB@ and Septemb&0 and, conversely, we expect our revenues foar drybulk carriers to be typically
stronger in fiscal quarters ending Decembgiand Marck81. Seasonality in the drybulk industry could materially affect our operating
results.

We are subject to regulation and liability under environmental laws ahd failure to comply with these regulations may subject us to
increased liability, may adversely affect our insurance coverage and may result in a denial of access to, or detentid@iim pogts. This
could require significant expenditures and reducerccash flows and net income.

Our business and the operation of our vessels are materially affected by government regulation in the form of intesneéntiahs
and national, state and local laws and regulations in force in the jurisdictiohscimtive vessels operate, as well as in the country or
countries of their registration, including those governing the management and disposal of hazardous substances aed:lgastgs,ahoil
spills and other contamination, air emissions, and wasehedrges and ballast water management. We are also required by various
governmental and quagbvernmental agencies to obtain certain permits, licenses and certificates with respect to our operations. Becau
such conventions, laws, regulations and perequirements are often revised, or the required additional measures for compliance are still
under development, we cannot predict the ultimate cost of complying with such conventions, laws, regulations or peemi¢nésjLor the
impact thereof on theesale prices or useful lives of our vessels. Additional conventions, laws and regulations may be adopted which co
limit our ability to do business or increase the cost of our doing business and which may materially adversely affecessir finenal
condition and results of operations.

Environmental requirements can also affect the resale prices or useful lives of our vessels or require reductjorcapaciy, ship
modifications or operational changes or restrictions. Failure to comply with these requirements could lead to decraagiy aefvail more
costly insurance coverage for environmental matters or result in the denial of accessntgucisdational waters or ports, or detention in
certain ports. Under local, national and foreign laws, as well as international treaties and conventions, we couldiiiatliahilities,
including cleanup obligations and claims for natural resoyreesonal injury and property damages in the event that there is a release of
petroleum or other hazardous materials from our vessels or otherwise in connection with our operations. The 2010 eiposion of
Deepwater Horizomnd the subsequent releas®ibinto the Gulf of Mexico or similar events may result in further regulation of the shippin
industry, including modifications to statutory liability schemes. Violations of, or liabilities under, environmental cegutatn result in
substantial penads, fines and other sanctions, including, in certain instances, seizure or detention of our vessels. Events of thiddchature
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The operation of our vedsds affected by the requirements set forth in the International Safety Management, or ISM Code. The ISM
Code requires shipowners and bareboat charterers to develop and maintain an extensive "Safety Management System.ihthelegstem
the adoption o safety and environmental protection policy setting forth instructions and procedures for safe operation and dealing witt
emergencies. The failure of a shipowner or bareboat charterer to comply with the ISM Code may subject such party tdiabdiegsed
may decrease available insurance coverage for the affected vessels, and/or may result in a denial of access to,inr cetiirtiqorts.

The European Union is currently considering proposals to further regulate vessel operations. Irativituials in the European Union
may also have additional environmental and safety requirements. It is difficult to predict what legislation or regudatypmafy be
adopted by the European Union or any other country or authority.



The Internatioal Maritime Organization, or IMO, or other regulatory bodies may adopt additional regulations in the future that could
adversely affect the useful lives of our vessels as well as our ability to generate income from them. These requirahastsaftaithe
resale value of our vessels.
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The United States Oil Pollution Act of 1990, or OPA, established an extensive regulatory and liability regime for therpaoigct
cleanrup of the environment fromil spills. OPA affects all owners and operators whose vessels trade in the United States of America or
of its territories and possessions or whose vessels operate in waters of the United States of America, which inclittetatiseseof the
United States of America and its 200 nautical mile exclusive economic zone.

Under OPA, vessel owners, operators and bareboat charterers are "responsible parties" and are jointly, severallyliadesfuiotgss
the spill results solely from the taor omission of a third party, an act of God or an act of war) for all containment anelipleasts and
other damages arising from discharges or threatened discharges of oil from their vessels, including bunkers (fuel).

Increased inspection procedures and tighter import and export controls could increase costs and disrupt our business.

International shipping is subject to various security and customs inspection and related procedures in countries dfdegimion.
Inspection procedures can result in the seizure of the contents of our vessels, delays in the loading, offloading andédhedgyying of
customs duties, fines or other penalties against us.

Since the terrorist attacks of Septembgy 201, there have been a variety of initiatives intended to enhance vessel security. On
November25, 2002, the U.S. Maritime Transportation Security Act of 2002, or the MTSA, came into effect. To implement certain portio
of the MTSA, in July2003, the U.SCoast Guard issued regulations requiring the implementation of certain security requirements aboarc
vessels operating in waters subject to the jurisdiction of the United States. Similarly, in De2zé@themendments to the International
Convention for he Safety of Life at Sea, or SOLAS, created a new chapter of the convention dealing specifically with maritime security.
new chapter became effective in JAB04 and imposes various detailed security obligations on vessels and port authoritieEwmia$t o
are contained in the newly created International Ship and Port Facilities Security Code, or the ISPS Code. The ISP&igodd te d
protect ports and international shipping against terrorism. AfterlJit904, to trade internationally, a veksiust attain an International
Ship Security Certificate from a recognized security organization approved by the vessel's flag state. For a furthendgsbeptarious
requirements, please see "Busifegsvironmental and Other RegulatidivVessel Searity Regulations.”

The United States Coast Guard (USC@$ developed the Electronic Notice of Arrival/DepartusBl@A/D) application to provide the
means of fulfilling the arrival and departure notification requirements of the USCG and CustoBw@dadProtection (CBR)nline. Prior
to Septembet 1, 2001, ships or their agents notified the Marine Safety Office (MSO)/Captain of the Port (COTP) zone, within 24 hours
the vessel's arrival via telephone, facsimile (fax), or electronic maigff. Due to the events of Septemiddr, 2001, the USCG's National
Vessel Movement Center (NVMC)/Ship Arrival Notification System (SANE} set up as part of the U.S. Department of Homeland
Security (DHS)nitiative. Also, as a result of this initiative, theveanced notice time requirement changed from 24 hours' notice to 96 hour:
notice (or 24 hours' notice, depending upon normal transit time). The NOAs and/or NODs continue to be submitted vig falepitone
e-mail, but are now to be submitted to the NZMwhere watch personnel entered the information into a central USCG database.
Additionally, the National Security Agency has identified certain countries known for high terrorist activities and &l &asssther called
some of these identified couids in its previous ports and/or the members of the crew are from any of these identified countries, more
stringent security requirements must be met.

On Juneb, 2005, the Advanced Passenger Information System (A#i8) Rule became effective (19CHBR’b and 4.64). Pursuant to
these regulations, a commercial carrier arriving into or departing from the United States is required to electronioatiatr&d S
manifest to U.S. Customs and Border Protection (GB®ugh an approved electronic inteange and programming format. All
international commercial carriers transporting passengers and /or crewmembers must obtain an international carrieddmnd andile
with the CBP prior to entry or departure from the United States. The minimumabaemaht is $50,000.

It is possible that changes to inspection procedures could impose additional financial and legal obligations on us.répucteenges to
inspection procedures could also impose additional costs and obligations on our custdmesg,an certain cases, render the shipment of
certain types of cargo uneconomical or impractical. Any such changes or developments may have a material adverserdifesiheasou
results of operations, cash flows, financial condition and abilipatodividends.

If any of our vessels fail to maintain their class certification and/or fail any annual survey, intermediate surveydaittking or special
survey, that vessel would be unable to carry cargo, thereby reducing our revenues and profitabdityicating certain loan covenants of
our third-party indebtedness.

The hull and machinery of every commercial vessel must be classed by a classification society authorized by its caoisttyy dhes
classification society certifies that a vddsesafe and seaworthy in accordance with the applicable rules and regulations of the country of
registry of the vessel and the Safety of Life at Sea Convention, or SOLAS.

A vessel must undergo annual surveys, intermediate surveydpdkings and special surveys. In lieu of a special survey, a vessel's
machinery may be on a continuous survey cycle, under which the machinery would be surveyed periodically eyeampgikied. Our
vessels are on special survey cycles for hull inspection and continuous survey cycles for machinery inspection. Eventsessglired
to be drydocked every two to three years for inspection of the underwater parts of such vessel.

If any vessel does not maintain its class and/or fails any annual survey, intermediate swdegkidg/or special survey, the vessel will
be unable to carry cargo between ports and will be unemployable and uninsurable, thereby reducing our reyaofitsbditgl That could
also cause us to be in violation of certain covenants in our loan agreements. In addition, the cost of maintainingsbcliagess®itions
may be substantial at times and could result in reduced revenues.
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The smuggling of drugs or other contraband onto our vessels may lead to governmental claims against us.

We expect that our vessels will call in ports in South America and other areas where smugglers are known to hitienaiptigs and
other contraband on vessels, with or without the knowledge of crew members. To the extent our vessels are found witt, cohétilea
inside or attached to the hull of our vessel and whether with or without the knowledge of angrefiqgwe may face governmental or other
regulatory claims which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and finaranal conditi

Maritime claimants could arrest our vessels, which could interrupt our cash flow.

Crew members, suppliers of goods and services to a vessel, shippers of cargo and other parties may be entitled ttenragatimsea
vessel for unsatisfied debts, claims or damages. In many jurisdictions, a maritime lien holder may enfortwy itsriésting a vessel
through foreclosure proceedings. The arresting or attachment of one or more of our vessels could interrupt our caskdlave arscto pay
large sums of funds to have the arrest lifted.

In addition, in some jurisdictions, sua@as South Africa, under the "sister ship" theory of liability, a claimant may arrest both the vessel
which is subject to the claimant's maritime lien and any "associated" vessel, which is any vessel owned or controfiacthbyotlirer or
managed by theame manager. Claimants could try to assert "sister ship" liability against one of our vessels for claims relating &t anoth
our vessels or a vessel managed by our Manager.

Governments could requisition our vessels during a period of war or emergersylting in loss of earnings.

A government could requisition for title or seize our vessels. Requisition for title occurs when a government take$ aomsskband
becomes the owner. A government could also requisition our vessels for hith,aghurs when a government takes control of a vessel and
effectively becomes the charterer at dictated charter rates. Generally, requisitions occur during a period of war oy.eGm@rgamoent
requisition of one or more of our vessels could reduceeuanues and net income.

Our vessels may suffer damage and we may face unexpectedalling costs, which could affect our cash flow and financial condition.

If our vessels suffer damage, they may need to be repaired atlaaking facility, resuihg in vessel downtime and vessel-biffe. The
costs of drydock repairs are unpredictable and can be substantial. We may have to-gagldng costs that our insurance does not cover.
The inactivity of these vessels while they are being repaired poditiened, as well as the actual cost of these repairs, would decrease ou
earnings. In addition, space at dtgcking facilities is sometimes limited and not all-digcking facilities are conveniently located. We may
be unable to find space at a suitatihydocking facility or we may be forced to move to a-docking facility that is not conveniently
located to our vessels' positions. The loss of earnings while our vessels are forced to wait for space or to reledatkitogdigcilities that
are firther away from the routes on which our vessels trade would also decrease our earnings.

Rising fuel prices may adversely affect our profits.

Upon redelivery of vessels at the end of a period time or trip time charter, we maygageolto repurchase bunkers on board at
prevailing market prices, which could be materially higher than fuel prices at the inception of the charter periodoin alttuitigh we
rarely deploy our vessels on voyage charters, fuel is a significant,tiietargest, expense that we would incur with respect to vessels
operating on voyage charter. As a result, an increase in the price of fuel may adversely affect our profitability. dhe guigply of fuel is
volatile and fluctuates based on eventssile our control, including geopolitical developments, supply and demand for oil and gas, action
by OPEC and other oil and gas producers, war and unrest in oil producing countries and regions, regional productiangbatterns
environmental concerns aneigulations.

Risk Factors Relating to FreeSeas

Our operations expose us to global political risks, such as wars and political instability, which may interfere with thatiopesf our
vessels causing a decrease in revenues from such vessels.

We are an international company and primarily conduct our operations outside the United States. Changing economamgbolitical
governmental conditions in the countries where we are engaged in business or where our vessels are registered witl Hféeptss.
political conflicts, particularly in the Middle East, resulted in attacks on vessels, mining of waterways and otheo efifiptt shipping in
the area. For example, recent political and governmental instability in Egypt and Libya mayedasis trading in such regions. In addition,
future political and governmental instability, revolutions and wars in regions where our vessels trade could affectpaitarasiand
adversely affect our operations by causing delays in shipping @ircestites or making shipping impossible on such routes, thereby causit
a decrease in revenues.

We intend to continue to charter all of our vessels in the spot market, and as a result, we will be exposed to the gyafidaliblatility of
the spot charr market.

Since we intend to continue to charter all of our vessels in the spot market, we will be exposed to the cyclicalityilapdiibiatspot
charter market, and we may not have long term, fixed time charter rates to mitigate the dfbatssef @lownturns in the spot market.
Handysize and Handymax vessels, which we currently operate, have been less volatile compared to larger vessels sughaasl Panama
Capesize vessels but this may discontinue in the future. We cannot assure youtiidbtevable to successfully charter our vessels in the
future at rates sufficient to allow us to meet our obligations. The supply of and demand for shipping capacity stranggsrfleight rates.



Because the factors affecting the supply and demanekEsels are outside of our control and are unpredictable, the nature, timing, directi
and degree of changes in industry conditions are also unpredictable.
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Factors that influence demand for drybubssel capacity include:
A demand for and production of drybulk products;

A global and regional economic and political conditions including developments in international trade, fluctuations ialinddstri
agricultural production and armed conflicts;

A the distance drybulk cargo is to be moved by sea;

A environmental and other regulatory developments; and

A changes in seaborne and other transportation patterns.

The factors that influence the supply of drybulk vessel capacity include:
the number of newbuilding deliveries;

port and canal congestion;

A
A
A the scrapping rate of older vessels;
A vessel casualties; and

A

the number of vessels that are out of service, i.e-upjadirydocked, awaiting repairs or otherwise not available for

In addition to the prevailing and anticipated freight rates, factors that affect the rate of newbuilding, scrappingagogd Iaginde
newbuilding prices, secondhand vessel values in relation to scrap prices, costs of bunkers and other opesatmgfcassociated with
classification society surveys, normal maintenance and insurance coverage, the efficiency and age profile of the ebisting frearket
and government and industry regulation of maritime transportation practices, pdytienlaronmental protection laws and regulations.
These factors influencing the supply of and demand for shipping capacity are outside of our control, and we may notdoerabttyt
assess the nature, timing and degree of changes in industry amhditio

We anticipate that the future demand for our drybulk carriers will be dependent upon economic growth in the world's economies
including China and India, seasonal and regional changes in demand, changes in the capacity of the global drybulit eadritrefle
sources and supply of drybulk cargo to be transported by sea. The capacity of the global drybulk carrier fleet seennsclikaket and we
can provide no assurance as to the timing or extent of future economic growth. Adverse economit, goaititar other developments
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. Sfybuld thardet
strengthen significantly in the future, we may enter into medium to long term enmgitogontracts for some or all of our vessels.

When our charters end, we may not be able to replace them promptly, and any replacement charters could be at lower dkarter ra
which may materially adversely affect our earnings and results of operations.

We will generally attempt to recharter our vessels at favorable rates with reputable charterers. All of our vessel®peretatly the
spot market. If the drybulk shipping market is in a period of depression when our vessels' charters exkady ithat we may be forced to
re-charter them at reduced rates, if such charters are available at all. We cannot assure you that we will be able toatiatdarsatv
comparable or higher rates or with comparable charterers, or that we will ie abtain new charters at all. The charterers under our
charters have no obligation to renew or extend the charters. We will generally attempt to recharter our vessels atdigovétiie
reputable charterers as our charters expire. Failure to abfdatement charters at rates comparable to our existing charters will reduce ol
eliminate our revenue, will adversely affect our ability to service our debt, and will delay our ability to pay dividemaiekbwmlders. Further,
we may have to repositioruovessels without cargo or compensation to deliver them to future charterers or to move vessels to areas wt
we believe that future employment may be more likely or advantageous. Repositioning our vessels would increase ouratessebspe
If any of the foregoing events were to occur, our revenues, net income and earnings may be materially adversely affected.

If we do not successfully employ our vessels our revenues, cash flows and profitability, and our ability to comply wiih ckdar loan
covenants, would be adversely affected.

We currently employ all of our vessels in the spot market, all with charters scheduled to expire within one to threbymeinitis time
we will have to negotiate new employment for these vessels. If theinatee charter market fall significantly for the rest of 2011 and into
2012, it will affect the charter revenue we will receive from these vessels, which would have an adverse effect on esy cashrilows
and profitability, as well as our abilitg ttomply with our debt covenants.
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Our growth depends on the growth in demand for and the shipping of drybulk cargoes.

Our growth strategy focuses on the drybulk shipping sector. Accordingly, our growth depends on growth in world and eetameial d
for and the shipping of drybulk cargoes, which could be negatively affected by a number of factors, such as declirefindpyimelk
cargoes or general political and economic conditions.

Reduced demand for and the shipping of drybulk cargoes would have a material adverse effect on our future growth amd could ha
business, results of operations and financial d@miln particular, Asian Pacific economies and India have been the main driving force
behind the past increase in seaborne drybulk trade and the demand for drybulk carriers. The negative change in ecdimnsimamgdi
Asian Pacific country, but pecularly in China or Japan, as well as India, may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations, as well as our future prospects, by further reducing demand and resultant charter rates.

We depend upon a fesignificant customers for a large part of our revenues. The loss of one or more of these customers could adverse
affect our financial performance.

We have historically derived a significant part of our revenue from a small number of chartererg.2Dd6, we derived approximately
42% of our gross revenue from three charterers, during 2009, we derived approximately 55% of our gross revenues fraendrso aher
during 2008, we derived approximately 61% of our gross revenues from three chalne2@dsl, we anticipate a significant reduction in our
dependency on a small number of charters, as we shift our chartering strategy more fully to the spot charter market.

However, if we do remain dependent, in large part, on a small number ofretgrieone or more of our charterers is unable to perform
under one or more charters with us, or if we are not able to find appropriate replacement charterers, or if a charsesecentaic rights to
terminate its charter, we could suffer a lossavenues that could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results |
operations.

We lose a charterer or the benefits of a charter if a charterer fails to make charter payments because of its finktycial inabi
disagreemets with us or otherwise, terminates the charter because we fail to deliver the vessel within the time specified iarttieechart
vessel is lost or damaged beyond repair, there are serious deficiencies in the vessel or prolonged petiirds déatflt under the charter
or the vessel has been subject to seizure for more than a specified number of days.

Our charterers may terminate or default on their charters, which could adversely affect our results of operations and @ash fl

The ability ofeach of our charterers to perform its obligations under a charter will depend on a number of factors that are beyond ou
control. These factors may include general economic conditions, the condition of the drybulk shipping industry, thatesartesied for
specific types of vessels, hedging arrangements, the ability of charterers to obtain letters of credit from its custbmessi\as, cash flow
considerations and various operating expenses. Many of these factors impact the financialofiabiligharterers. There can be no
assurance that some of our charterers would not fail to pay charter hire or attempt to renegotiate charter rates. S8tereldfaildo honor
its obligations under its agreement with us, it may be difficult for setoire substitute employment for the affected vessel, and any new
charter arrangements we secure in the spot market or on a time charter may be at lower rates.

For example, the M/\Free Jupiterwas on time charter with Korea Line Corp., or KLC, a South Korean company, fror8,J20@7 until
she was ralelivered to us on Februa®2, 2011. KLC made several unilateral deductions from hire payments during thgdaremurse of
the time charterand no hire has been received from KLC from Febr8aB011 until the actual redelivery of the vessel on Febr2@ry
2011. We commenced arbitration proceedings against KLC, and have taken action to obtain security, including the arrassefKIA&
result, we have obtained thighrty security in the amount of $1,680 (which includes provision for interest and legal costs) in the form of
letter of undertaking from KLC's P&l club covering KLC's unilateral deductions from the hire. We have alsedlotish security held in
escrow in the amount of $159 from the execution of a lien ofhgeb. On Januar®s, 2011 KLC announced that it had filed a petition for
the rehabilitation proceeding for court receivership in the Seoul Central District @odithhe court had issued a preservation order.
Although we believe that we have taken appropriate steps to limit any losses as a result of KLC's actions, there caurdrecee st we
will recover all or any part of the amounts due to us.

If our charterers fail to meet their obligations to us, we would experience material adverse effects on our revenues, cash flows and
profitability and our ability to comply with our debt covenants and pay our debt service and other obligations.

The performance bour existing charters and the creditworthiness of our charterers may hinder our ability to implement our business
strategy by making additional debt financing unavailable or available only at higher than anticipated cost.

The actual or perceived cli¢ quality of our charterers, and any defaults by them, may materially affect our ability to obtain the additio
debt financing that we will require to acquire additional vessels or may significantly increase our costs of obtainingrsiicy. fOur
inability to obtain additional financing at all, or at a higher than anticipated cost, may materially impair our abiliietodnt our business
strategy.

At Decembel, 2010 our current liabilities exceeded our current assets, which could impair oditalbd successfully operate our
business and could have material adverse effects on our revenues, cash flows and profitability and our ability to complyrwligibt
covenants and pay our debt service and other obligations.

At Decembei81, 2010, oucurrent liabilities exceeded our current assets. In addition, and as further discussed in the section of this re



titted "Summary of Contractual Obligations," the expected short term capital commitments to fund the construction isstaitiaetite
shipbuilding contracts in 2011 amount to $4,880. Cash expected to be generated from the operations assuming that mdriketrateste
would deteriorate in 2011 may not by itself be sufficient to cover our ongoing working capital requirements. iateoagr our ongoing
working capital requirements, we may not be able to pay our obligations as they become due, we may fall out of comipl@amndeanit
agreements and as a result we would experience material adverse effects on our revenuess eashtofitability.
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There may be risks associated with the purchase and operation of secondhand vessels.

Our business strategy may include additional growth through the acquisition of additional secondhand vessels. Althquegtt we ins
secondhand vessels prior to purchase, this does not normally provide us with the same knowledge about their conditiaulthdtave
had if such vessels had been built for and operated exclusively by us. Therefore, our future operating results couletlyeaffegeed if
some of the vessels do not perform as we expect. Also, we generally do not receive the benefintésviram the builders if the vessels
we buy are older than one year.

The aging of our fleet may result in increased operating costs in the future, which could adversely affect our abilityredeopar vessels
profitably.

In general, the costs tnaintain a vessel in good operating condition increase with the age of the vessel. As of D8de2®ED, the
average age of the vessels in our current fleet was 14 years. As our vessels age, they may become less fuel efficertsthydtonor
maintah and will not be as advanced as more recently constructed vessels due to improvements in design and engine techrfology. Rat
cargo insurance, paid by charterers, also increase with the age of a vessel, making older vessels less desirable. tG aemenental
regulations, safety or other equipment standards related to the age of vessels may require expenditures for altbadadijar bf new
equipment, to our vessels and may restrict the type of activities in which our vessels may A&ngageessels age, market conditions may
not justify those expenditures or enable us to operate our vessels profitably during the remainder of their useful lives.

We may be subject to increased premium payments because we obtain some of our insurangh fbrotection and indemnity
associations.

We may be subject to increased premium payments, or calls, in amounts based not only on our and our Manager's claitnaisoords b
the claim records of other members of the protection and indemnity atésesithrough which we receive insurance coverage for tort
liability, including pollutionrelated liability. In addition, our protection and indemnity associations may not have enough resources to co
claims made against them. Our payment of these @alilsl result in significant expense to us, which could have a material adverse effect
our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Delays or defaults by the shipyards in the construction of the two newbuildings that we currently have on order and angssels that
we may order in the future could increase our expenses and diminish our net income and cash flows.

Our business stegy currently includes additional growth through acquiring newbuilding contracts or constructing new vessels. On
August17, 2010, we entered into two shipbuilding contracts, with a reputable Chinese shipyard, for the construction of tweeHandysiz
drybulk vessels of approximately 33,600 dwt each, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $48,800 (excluding dxtra costs o
approximately $920). The vessels are scheduled for delivery in the second and third quarters of 2012. These projeatikliodadny
projects could be subject to the risk of delay or defaults by shipyards caused by, among other things, unforeseermgiakigriog
problems, work stoppages, weather interference, unanticipated cost increases, delays in receipt of negasssty &ad inability to obtain
the requisite permits or approvals. In accordance with industry practice, in the event any such shipyards are unabegdo utehiler the
vessels ordered, we may not have substantial remedies. Failure to consdalistenivessels by the shipyards or any significant delays coulc
increase our expenses and diminish our net income and cash flows.

Further declines in charter rates and other market deterioration could cause us to incur impairment charges.

We evaluatehe recoverable amounts of our vessels to determine if events have occurred that would require an impairment of their
carrying amounts. The recoverable amount of vessels is reviewed based on events and changes in circumstances thattevthad timelic
carrying amount of the assets might not be recovered. The review for potential impairment indicators and future undistopetading
cash flows related to the vessels is complex and requires us to make various estimates including future stetbeaatengs from the
vessels which have been historically volatile.

When our estimate of future undiscounted net operating cash flows for any vessel is lower than the vessel's carryiegcaaiviegt
value is written down, by recording a charg operations, to the vessel's fair market value if the fair market value is lower than the vesse
carrying value. The carrying values of our vessels may not represent their fair market value because the market piaiwofisezssels
tend to flueuate with changes in charter rates and the cost of newbuildings. Any impairment charges incurred as a result of cleaitees in
rates could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

The market values of our vessels have declined and may further decrease, and we may incur losses when we sell vessels a& we may |
required to write down their carrying value, which may adversely affect our earnings.

The market values of our vessels ililictuate depending on general economic and market conditions affecting the shipping industry a
prevailing charter hire rates, competition from other shipping companies and other modes of transportation, the tygmesageesf our
vessels, applicdd governmental regulations and the cost of newbuildings.

If a determination is made that a vessel's future useful life is limited or its future earnings capacity is reducedegdbinchn
impairment of its carrying amount on our financiakstaents that would result in a charge against our earnings and the reduction of our
shareholders' equity. If for any reason we sell our vessels at a time when prices have fallen, the sale price may bedesstads'
carrying amount on our financiastatements, and we would incur a loss and a reduction in earnings.
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A decline in the market value of our vessels could lead to a default under our loan agreements and the loss of our vessels.

We havencurred secured debt under loan agreements for all of our vessels. The market value of our vessels is based, inrfgairt, on cl
rates and the stability of charter rates over a period of time. As a result of global economic conditions, volatilitgrinatésy generally
declining charter rates, and other factors, we have recently experienced a decrease in the market value of our \@gsetstélsatontinue
to decline and/or the market value of our fleet declines further, we may not be inarmraphith certain covenants of our existing loan
agreements that relate to maintenance of asset values and, as a result, we may not be able to refinance our deldtitodtéimaading.

As of DecembeB1, 2009 and Decembad, 2008, we were not finll compliance with certain loan covenants but obtained waivers and/or
covenant amendments from each of our lenders. As of Dec&hb2010, we were in compliance with all loan covenants. See
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial ConditionResults of Operatiors Loan Agreement Covenants." There can be no
assurances, however, that charter rates will stabilize or increase, that the market value of our vessels will stalbéaseosrithat we will
remain in compliance with the finant@ovenants in our loan agreements or that our lenders will agree to waivers or forbearances.

Our loan agreements contain covenants that may limit our liquidity and corporate activities, including our ability to paedis. If the
drybulk market remainglepressed or further declines, we may require further waivers and/or covenant amendments to our loan
agreements relating to our compliance with certain covenants for certain periods of time. The waivers and/or covenant amisnahiene
impose additional opmting and financial restrictions on us and modify the terms of our existing loan agreements. Any such waivers or
amendments, if needed, could contain additional restrictions and might not be granted at all.

Our loan agreements require that we mamtartain financial and other covenants. The low drybulk charter rates and drybulk vessel
values have previously affected, and may in the future affect, our ability to comply with these covenants. A violatsencofvéreants
constitutes an event of defaunder our credit facilities and would provide our lenders with various remedies, including the right to requir
us to post additional collateral, enhance our equity and liquidity, withhold payment of dividends, increase our intee@ss pagyndown
our indebtedness to a level where we are in compliance with our loan covenants, sell vessels in our fleet, or redtadsifiedoess as
current liabilities. Our lenders could also accelerate our indebtedness and foreclose their liens on ourheesselxide of any of these
remedies could materially adversely impair our ability to continue to conduct our business. Moreover, our lenders mtherpguirent of
additional fees, require prepayment of a portion of our indebtedness to them, aetkéeahortization schedule for our indebtedness and
increase the interest rates they charge us on our outstanding indebtedness.

As of DecembeB1, 2009 and Decembaf, 2008, we were not in full compliance with certain of our loan covenants. During March, Ju
November and Decemb2009, our lenders agreed to waive any breaches and/or modify certain of the financial covenants in our credit
agreements. As of Decembizt, 2010, we were in compliance with all loan covenants. For more information, see "Management's Discus
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operafiorisquidity and Capital Resourcés Long-Term Debtd Loan Agreement
Covenants." Therean be no assurances that we will remain in compliance with our loan covenants. If conditions in the drybulk charter
market remain depressed or worsen, we may need to request additional waivers or seek further amendments to our loan Bugezment
can ke no assurance that our lenders will provide such waivers or amendments. If we require waivers or amendments andoapbtairable t
them, as described above, we would be in default under our credit facilities and your investment in our common stosk owagtior all
of its value.

As a result of our loan covenants, our lenders have imposed operating and financial restrictions on us. These resjrittitireaima
ability to:

A incur additional indebtedness;
create liens on our assets;

sell capital stock of our subsidiaries;
make investments;

engage in mergers or acquisitions;
pay dividends;

make capital expenditures;

o o Do Do Do Do Ix

change the management of our vessels or terminate or materially amend our management agree
A sell our vessels.

The amended and restated credit agreement dated SepfimB609 with Deutsche Bank Nederland, as successor by merger with
Hollandsche Bank Unie, referred to as HBU, does not allow us to pay dividends without their prior written approval, evahrayifo be
unreasonably withheld. If we need covenant wayeur lenders may impose additional restrictions and may require the payment of
additional fees, require prepayment of a portion of our indebtedness to them, accelerate the amortization schedutiefteduess, and
increase the interest rates thénaige us on our outstanding indebtedness. We may be required to use a significant portion of the net pro
from any
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future capital raising to repay a portion of our outstanding indebtedness. We hee@ tagpay Deutsche Bank Nederland up to 10% of the
net proceeds of any capital raise up to a maximum of $3.0 million, out of which we have already paid approximateljohlfrom our

July 2009 followon offering. These potential restrictions anduiegments may limit our ability to pay dividends to you, finance our future
operations, make acquisitions or pursue business opportunities.

Servicing debt may limit funds available for other purposes and inability to service debt may lead to acceleration of diéteafosure
on our fleet.

To finance our fleet, we incurred secured debt under various loan agreements. Asl@, [@y1, we had outstanding an aggregate of
$114,871 in debt. We anticipate that we will increase our indebtedness by approximately $32,400 when we take deliteoy of the
newbuilding vessels in the second and third quarters of 2012. We will be repuitedicate a significant portion of our cash flow from
operations to pay the principal and interest on our debt. These payments will limit funds otherwise available for watddincpp#tpl
expenditures and other purposes. We will need to incur additindebtedness as we further renew and expand our fleet, which may incre:
our ratio of debt to equity. There can be no assurances that we will be able to obtain such financing when desired @coaptaite to
us. Further, the need to service dabt may limit funds available for other purposes, including distributing cash to our shareholders, and
inability to service debt could lead to acceleration of our debt and foreclosure on our fleet. We can provide no assirarosil the able
to generate cash flow in amounts that are sufficient for these purposes.

If we fail to manage our growth properly, we may not be able to successfully expand our market share.
We intend to continue to grow our fleet. Our growth will depend on:

locating and acquiring suitable vessels;

placing newbuilding orders and taking delivery of vessels;

identifying and consummating acquisitions or joint ventures;

integrating any acquired vessel successfully with our existing operz

enhancing our customer base;

managing our expansion; and

o 3o Do o Do Do P>

obtaining the required financing.

Growing any business by acquisition presents numerous risks, such as undisclosed liabilities and obligations andxgifiaritee in
obtaining additional qualified personnel, managing relationships with customers and suppliers, and integratacpnéeetlyoperations into
existing infrastructures.

We cannot give any assurance that we will be successful in executing our growth plans or that we will not incur sigp#itsed and
losses in connection with the execution of those growth plans.

Our ability to successfully implement our business plans depends on our ability to obtain additional financing, which neay thié value
of your investment in us.

We will require substantial additional financing to fund the acquisition of additi@sakls and to implement our business plans. We
cannot be certain that sufficient financing will be available on terms that are acceptable to us or at all. If we catmefire@scing we
need in a timely manner and on acceptable terms, we may abtét acquire the vessels necessary to implement our business plans anc
consequently you may lose some or all of your investment in us.

While we expect that a significant portion of the financing resources needed to acquire vessels will beahgdagin debt financing,
we may raise additional funds through additional equity offerings. New equity investors may dilute the percentage ofghip dntarest
of our existing shareholders. Sales or the possibility of sales of substantial amotatesfof our common stock in the public markets
could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

If we acquire additional dry bulk carriers and those vessels are not delivered on time or are delivered with significasis dete
earnings andfinancial condition could suffer.

We expect to acquire additional vessels in the future. A delay in the delivery of any of these vessels to us or thi¢haitmetiact
counterparty to deliver a vessel at all could cause us to breach our obbgatider a related time charter and could adversely affect our
earnings, our financial condition and the amount of dividends, if any, that we pay in the future. The delivery of thesmulsbe delayed
or certain events may arise which could resulis not taking delivery of a vessel, such as a total loss of a vessel, a constructive loss of a
vessel, or substantial damage to a vessel prior to delivery. In addition, the delivery of any of these vessels wital si#fstasittould have
similar corsequences.
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We currently rely on our Manager and, to a lesser extent, Safbulk Pty, Ltd., to manage and charter our fleet.

We currently have no employees and contract all of our financial, accounting, including our financial reporting andamteots! and
other bacloffice services, and the management of our fleet, including crewing, maintenance and repair, througteger. N\Dur Manager
has entered into a subanagement agreement with Safbulk Pty, Ltd., referred to as Safbulk, a company controlled by the Restis family,
the commercial management of our fleet, including negotiating and obtaining charters, relatiaswter brokers and performance of
postcharter activities. We rely on our Manager to provide the technical management of our fleet, and on Safbulk for oaradiodity t
charterers and charter brokers. The loss of either of their services o¥ failperform their obligations could reduce our revenues and net
income and adversely affect our operations and business if we are not able to contract with other companies to pregitiEdsesetake
over these aspects of our business directhe$eas has no control over our Manager and Safbulk operations. Our Manager is not liable t
for any losses or damages, if any, that may result from its management of our fleet unless the same shall have regillteld from
misconduct or gross negligemof our Manager or any person to whom performance of the management services has been delegated by
Manager. Pursuant to its agreement with us, our Manager' liability for such acts, except in certain limited circumstanoesxoeed ten
times theannual management fee payable by the applicable subsidiary to our Manager. Although we may have rights against ouf Man:
our Manager defaults on its obligations to us, we may have no recourse against our Manager. In addition, if Safbutindisfabligations
to our Manager, we may have no recourse against Safbulk. Further, we will need approval from our lenders if we intecel tairepl
Manager as our fleet manager.

If our Manager is unable to perform under its vessel management agreemenisusitour results of operations may be adversely
affected.

As we expand our fleet, we will rely on our Manager to recruit suitable additional seafarers and to meet other demaddmimpose
Manager. We cannot assure you that our Manager will lzetabtheet these demands as we expand our fleet. If our Manager's crewing
agents encounter business or financial difficulties, they may not be able to adequately staff our vessels. If our Maablgetoprovide
the commercial and technical managensamvice for our vessels, our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial position ar
our ability to pay dividends may be adversely affected.

We and one of our executive officers have affiliations with our Manager that could create confiicisterest detrimental to us.

Our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President, lon G. Varouxakis, is also the controlling shareholder and offid¢achger,
which is our ship management company. These dual responsibilities of our officheaethtionships between the two companies could
create conflicts of interest between our Manager and us. Each of our operating subsidiaries has a nonexclusive maresyeeTenivelyr
our Manager. Our Manager has subcontracted the charter archpest management of our fleet to Safbulk, which is controlled the Restis
family, one of our principal shareholders. Although our Manager currently serves as manager for vessels owned by ais; NEitteeger
nor Safbulk is restricted from entering into ragement agreements with other competing shipping companies, and Safbulk provides
management services to other international shipping companies, including the Restis Group, which owns and operatateesgbldkn
sector. Our Manager or Safbulk coalido allocate charter and/or vessel purchase and sale opportunities to others. There can be no assi
that our Manager or Safbulk would resolve any conflicts of interest in a manner beneficial to us.

Management and service fees are payable to our Mamagegardless of our profitability, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The management and service fees due from us to our Manager are payable whether or not our vesselscaeaaethpbgprdless of our
profitability. We have no ability to require our Manager to reduce the management fees and service fees if our praditabddgs, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and respétsatibns.

Our Manager is a privately held company, and there is little or no publicly available information about it. Therefore, @storvcould
have little advance warning of problems that affect our Manager that could also have a material adverse effect on us.

The ability of our Manager to continue providing services for our benefit will depend in part on its own financial SGieogithstances
beyond our control could impair our Manager's financial strength. Because our Manager is privately heliketyghat information about
its financial strength would become public or available to us prior to any default by our Manager under the management.aggeem
result, an investor in us might have little advance warning of problems that affect cagéfagven though those problems could have a
material adverse effect on us.

Because our seafaring employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements, failure of industry groups to renew derserdg
may disrupt our operations and adversely aff@ur earnings.

All of the seafarers employed on the vessels in our fleet are covered by collective bargaining agreements that seldbdsid/géan
cannot assure you that these agreements will prevent labor interruptions. Any labor interropdabad$scupt our operations and harm our
financial performance.

Increases in interest rates would reduce funds available to purchase vessels and service debt.

We have purchased, and may purchase in the future, vessels with loans that providedioripemiest payments based on indices that
fluctuate with changes in market interest rates. If interest rates increase significantly, it would increase our carstsngf ditr acquisition
of vessels, which could decrease the number of additional seékaele could acquire and adversely affect our financial condition and



results of operations and may adversely affect our ability to service debt.
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The derivative contracts we have entered into to hedgeexposure to fluctuations in interest rates could result in higher than market
interest rates and charges against our income.

We have entered into two interest rate swaps for purposes of managing our exposure to fluctuations in interestediestappli
indebtedness under two of our credit facilities, which provide for a floating interest rate based on LIBOR. Our hedegiesstratvever,
may not be effective and we may incur substantial losses if interest rates move materially differarithe fli@ed rates agreed to in our
derivative contracts. Since our existing interest rate swaps do not, and future derivative contracts may not, qualifgefot &re hedges for
accounting purposes, we recognize fluctuations in the fair value of sotthats in our income statement. In addition, our financial
condition could be materially adversely affected to the extent we do not hedge our exposure to interest rate flucteatmnginadcing
arrangements. Any hedging activities we engage inmoagffectively manage our interest rate exposure or have the desired impact on oL
financial conditions or results of operations.

Economic conditions and regulatory pressures impacting banks in Greece may cause disruptions to one of our lenders, whicluseay
an increase in the cost of our borrowings from that lender.

One of our lenders is the First Business Bank, or FBB, located in Greece. As a result of the recent financial crises Bréekdranks
have been under significant pressure fromahpplicable banking regulators to increase capital, increase earnings or merge with other bar
There can be no assurances that our banking relationship with FBB would continue if FBB were to merge with anotherb&H8or th
might not attempt to invakprovisions in our loan agreement that permits it to pass along increases in its cost of regulations. In either e\
our financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

We are a holding company, and we will dependthe ability of our subsidiaries to distribute funds to us in order to satisfy our financial
obligations or to make dividend payments.

We are a holding company and our subsidiaries, which are all wholly owned by us, conduct all of our operations and @yvn all of
operating assets. We have no significant assets other than the equity interests in our wholly owned subsidiaries, & abdgylto
make dividend payments depends on our subsidiaries and their ability to distribute funds to us. We and our subsitiampesmittied to
pay dividends to us only for so long as we are in compliance with all applicable financial ceyesramé and conditions of our debt. In
addition, we and our subsidiaries are subject to limitations on the payment of dividends under Marshall Islands lawsvéns8pénded
the payment of cash dividends on our common stock because of prevailimgnécconditions and to comply with restrictions in certain of
our loan agreements. Because economic conditions remain uncertain, and because we are focusing on the renewal & bavdleet, w
determined not to resume the payment of cash dividends &tbis

As we expand our business, we will need our Manager to upgrade its operational, accounting and financial systems, and egtafhor
If our Manager cannot upgrade these systems or recruit suitable additional employees, its services to us aridre¢hete performance
may suffer.

Our current operating, accounting and financial systems are provided by our Manager and may not be adequate if wesizgaihd the
our fleet, our Manager's efforts to improve those systems may be ineffectiveitlaradidwe significantly expand our fleet, we will have to
rely on our Manager to recruit additional shore side administrative and management personnel. We cannot assure yoartahgeowilM
be able to continue to hire suitable additional emplogsese expand our fleet. If our Manager cannot upgrade its operational and financie
systems effectively or recruit suitable additional employees, its services to us and, therefore, our performance nmay@ufipibty to
expand our business furtheilvbe restricted.

We and our Manager may be unable to attract and retain key executive officers with experience in the shipping industrynvelyich
reduce the effectiveness of our management and lower our results of operations.

Our success depends to a significant extent upon the abilities and efforts of our and our Manager's executive officsref ahg bf
these individuals could adversely affect our business prospects and financial condition. Our success will defenishgthese key
members of our and our Manager's management team. Difficulty in retaining our executive officers, and difficulty in oar Mtaiamg
its executive officers, could adversely affect our results of operations and ability to pay dividéado not maintain "key man" life
insurance on any of our officers.

Technological innovation could reduce our charter hire income and the value of our vessels.

The charter hire rates and the value and operational life of a vessel are deternasimedrtber of factors, including the vessel's efficiency,
operational flexibility and physical life. Efficiency includes speed, fuel economy and the ability to load and dischargeickiyg
Flexibility includes the ability to enter harbors, utilize tethdocking facilities and pass through canals and straits. The length of a vessel
physical life is related to its original design and construction, its maintenance and the impact of the stress of dfeatiairgbulk
carriers are built that are mmefficient or more flexible or have longer physical lives than our vessels, competition from these more
technologically advanced vessels could adversely affect the amount of charter hire payments we receive for our vessielsiate t
charters exjpe, and the resale value of our vessels could significantly decrease. As a result, our business, results of operéfiberssandsh
financial condition could be adversely affected.
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Purchasing and opeating previously owned, or secondhand, vessels may result in increased operating costs and ves$sads wffich
could adversely affect our earnings.

The majority of our vessels were acquired seeloaidd, and we estimate their useful lives to bges from their date of delivery from
the yard, depending on various market factors and management's ability to comply with government and industry regutetognisqu
Part of our business strategy includes the continued acquisition of second $seld when we find attractive opportunities.

In general, expenditures necessary for maintaining a vessel in good operating condition increase as a vessel aged $essgld han
may also develop unexpected mechanical and operational problems ddhpitence to regular survey schedules and proper maintenance.
Cargo insurance rates also tend to increase with a vessel's age, and older vessels tend to tedfieismfikin newer vessels. While the
difference in fuel consumption is factored inbe tfreight rates that our older vessels earn, if the cost of bunker fuels were to increase
significantly, it could disproportionately affect our vessels and significantly lower our profits. In addition, changesimmgmtal
regulations, safety or otheguipment standards may require:

A expenditures for alterations to existing equipment;
A the addition of new equipment; or
A restrictions on the type of cargo a vessel may trans

We cannot give assurances that future market conditions will justify such expenditures or enable us to operate oufitabbels pr
during the remainder of their economic lives.

Although we inspect the secondhand vessels that we acquire priock@agelr this inspection does not provide us with the same
knowledge about a vessel's condition and the cost of any required (or anticipated) repairs that we would have haskif hlkid been built
for and operated exclusively by us. Generally, we daeceive the benefit of warranties on secondhand vessels.

Our substantial operations outside the United States expose us to political, governmental and economic instability, whddhacouour
operations.

Because our operations are primarily cortddmutside of the United States, they may be affected by economic, political and
governmental conditions in the countries where we are engaged in business or where our vessels are registered. Rag,neotitséli
instability or civil unrest in rgions where we operate or may operate could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and ability to service our debt and pay dividends. In addition, tariffs, trade embargoes and other econonsidgahetiUnited
States opther countries against countries where our vessels trade may limit trading activities with those countries, which bautd also
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Unless we set aside reserves or are able to borrow funds faelesplacement, at the end of a vessel's useful life our revenue will decline
which would adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Unless we maintain reserves or are able to borrow or raise funds for vessemepi we may be unable to replace the vessels in our
fleet upon the expiration of their useful lives, which we expect to hea& from their date of delivery from the yard. Our cash flows and
income are dependent on the revenues earned by the ¢itaakour vessels to customers. If we are unable to replace the vessels in our fl
upon the expiration of their useful lives, our business, results of operations, financial condition and ability to pagsdiviitiee materially
and adversely affectedny reserves set aside for vessel replacement may not be available for dividends.

Our board of directors has determined to suspend the payment of cash dividends as a result of the prevailing market cinditien
international shipping industry. Untilsuch market conditions improve, it is not likely that we will reinstate the payment of dividends.

In light of the prevailing economic conditions and in order to comply with restrictions in our loan agreements, our dicactbos,
beginning in Fehrary2009, suspended the cash dividend on our common stock. Our dividend policy will be assessed by our board of
directors from time to time; however, it is not likely that we will reinstate the payment of dividends until market cendlitimve. In
addtion, the amended and restated agreement with Deutsche Bank Nederland dated S&ptetib8rdoes not allow us to pay dividends
without their prior written approval, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld. See "Management's Discussion as\df Airzdysiial
Condition and Results of OperatiofisLong-Term Debtd Loan Agreement Covenants." Therefore, there can be no assurance that, if we
were to determine to resume paying cash dividends, Deutsche Bank Nederland would provide any required consent.

Because we generate all of our revenues in U.S. dollars but will incur a portion of our expenses in other currencies, excatng
fluctuations could have an adverse impact on our results of operations.

We generate all of our revenues in U.S. do]lbatg we expect that portions of our future expenses will be incurred in currencies other tt
the U.S. dollar. This difference could lead to fluctuations in our net income due to changes in the value of the dedléo thiabther
currencies, in paidular the Euro. Expenses incurred in foreign currencies against which the dollar falls in value can increase, decreasin
income. Although for the year ended Decentiier2009 and for the year ended Decendier2010, the fluctuation in the value oéttollar
against foreign currencies had an immaterial impact on us.
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Investment in derivative instruments such as freight forward agreements could result in losses.

From time to time in the future, we may take positions in derivative instruments including freight forward agreements, BFAEANd
other derivative instruments may be used to hedge a vessel owner's exposure to the charter market by providalg fifralentracted
charter rate along a specified route and period of time. Upon settlement, if the contracted charter rate is less tizayetbetheaates, as
reported by an identified index, for the specified route and time period, the se¢llerfffAs is required to pay the buyer an amount equal to
the difference between the contracted rate and the settlement rate, multiplied by the number of days in the specif@ahpersady, if the
contracted rate is greater than the settlement redyuyer is required to pay the seller the settlement sum. If we take positions in FFAS or
other derivative instruments and do not correctly anticipate charter rate movements over the specified route and tiwe qaridduffer
losses in the settlingr termination of the FFA. This could adversely affect our results of operation and cash flow. As of the date of this
annual report, we had no freight forward agreements outstanding.

We may have to pay tax on United States source income, which would rezluregarnings.

Under the laws of the countries of our and our subsidiaries incorporation and/or vessels' registration, we are notaxbject to
international shipping income; however, we are subject to registration and tonnage taxes, whicbrmaauoked in "Vessel operating
expenses" in our consolidated statement of operations. Pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code of the United States, bt $hes@ode
income from the international operations of ships is generally exempt from UiSthiaxcompany operating the ships meets both of the
following requirements, (ahe company is organized in a foreign country that grants an equivalent exemption to corporations organized
the United States, and (bither (iymore than 50% of the vadwof the company's stock is owned, directly or indirectly, by individuals who ar
"residents" of the company's country of organization or of another foreign country that grants an "equivalent exemptjmratoos
organized in the United States (tf#0% Ownership Test") or (ithe company's stock is "primarily and regularly traded on an established
securities market" in its country of organization, in another country that grants an "equivalent exemption" to UnitedrStatdi®ns, or in
the Unital States (the "Publicifraded Test").

To complete the exemption process, our shipowning subsidiaries must file a U.S. tax return, state the basis of thair axxe iwiptizon
and retain documentation attesting to the basis of their exemptionsul@idiaries will complete the filing process for 2010 on or prior to
the applicable tax filing deadline.

All of our ship-operating subsidiaries currently satisfy the Publittgded Test based on the trading volume and the wiakty
ownership of oucommon stock, but no assurance can be given that this will remain so in the future, since continued compliance with tt
rule is subject to factors outside our control. Based on our U.S. source Shipping Income for 2008, 2009 and 2010, weub@dticoe
U.S. federal income tax of approximately $197, $159 and $34, respectively, in the absence of an exemption und83Section

U.S. tax authorities could treat us as a "passive foreign investment company," which could have adverse U.S. federal imcome t
consequences to U.S. holders.

A foreign corporation will be treated as a "passive foreign investment company," or PFIC, for U.S. federal income taxipaithese
(1) at least 75% of its gross income for any taxable year consists of certaimtypassive income" or (2t least 50% of the average value
of the corporation's assets produce or are held for the production of those types of "passive income." For purpogestef thassive
income" includes dividends, interest, and gains froendale or exchange of investment property and rents and royalties other than rents &
royalties which are received from unrelated parties in connection with the active conduct of a trade or business. Foofpingerséests,
income derived from thegpformance of services does not constitute "passive income." U.S. shareholders of a PFIC are subject to a
disadvantageous U.S. federal income tax regime with respect to the income derived by the PFIC, the distributions tHieymebei¥1C
and the g, if any, they derive from the sale or other disposition of their shares in the PFIC.

Based on our currently anticipated operations, we do not believe that we will be a PFIC with respect to any taxahileiyeegaha, we
intend to treat the gss income we derive or are deemed to derive from our time chartering activities as services income, rather than rel
income. Accordingly, we believe that our time chartering activities does not constitute "passive income," and the assetathand
operate in connection with the production of that income do not constitute passive assets.

There is, however, no direct legal authority under the PFIC rules addressing our proposed method of operation, aretiared cenirt
decision characterigeincome received from vessel time charters as rental rather than services income for U.S. tax purposes. According
assurance can be given that the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, or a court of law will accept our positionisamdsktrat the
IRS or a court of law could determine that we are a PFIC. Moreover, no assurance can be given that we would not &iriSliforeaay
future taxable year if there were to be changes in the nature and extent of our operations.

If the IRS were to find that we are or have been a PFIC for any taxable year, our U.S. shareholders will face adverse U.S. tax
consequences. Under the PFIC rules, unless those shareholders make an election available under the Code (which elsetfdmeseuld
adwerse consequences for such shareholders), such shareholders would be liable to pay United States federal incomengxrenaiimth
income tax rates on ordinary income plus interest upon excess distributions and upon any gain from the dispositomaofon stock, as
if the excess distribution or gain had been recognized ratably over the shareholder's holding period of our common stock.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

The market price of our common stock has been and may in the future be sulgjesignificant fluctuations.



The market price of our common stock has been and may in the future be subject to significant fluctuations as a regédicténsian
some of which are beyond our control. Among the factorshidna in the past and could in the future affect our stock price are:
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A quarterly variations in our results of operations;

our lenders' willingness to extend our loan covenant waivers, if necessary;

changes in market valuations of similar companies and stock market price and volume fluctuations generally
changes in earngs estimates or publication of research reports by analysts;

speculation in the press or investment community about our business or the shipping industry generally;
strategic actions by us or our competitors such as acquisitions or restructurings;

the thin trading market for our common stock, which makes it somewhat illiquid;

the current ineligibility of our common stock to be the subject of margin loans because of its low current marl
regulatory developments;

additions or departures of key personnel;

o o Do Jo Po Do I» Do o Do

general market conditions; and

b

domestic and international economic, market and currency factors unrelated to our performance.

The stock markets in general, and the markets for drybulk shipping and shipping stocks in particular, have experieneedlaktitgm
that has sometimes been unrelated to the operating performance of individual companies. These broad markes flnatuatioersely
affect the trading price of our common stock.

If holders of our warrants exercise their warrants to purchase shares of our common stock, our existing shareholders wiikeexe
immediate dilution.

As of DecembeB1, 2010, we had outstanding 150,000 Chasgarrants held by our founding shareholders exercisable at $5.00 per 1/5
a share, or $25.00 per share, only exercisable for whole shares, and expir2@, 2041 and 1,655,006 Clagsvarrants exercisableé a
$5.00 per 1/5 of a share, or $25.00 per share, only exercisable for whole shares, and expth@®0dly. As a result, if holders of our
warrants exercise their warrants, we may issue up to 361,001 additional shares, which could cause our sharéeadiated.

Issuance of preferred stock may adversely affect the voting power of our existing shareholders and have the effect o&diagpur
delaying or preventing a merger or acquisition, which could adversely affect the market price of our coratock

Our articles of incorporation, which have been approved by our shareholders, currently authorize our Board to issustpaedferired
one or moe series and to determine the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, with respect to, among other things, dividend
conversion, voting, redemption, liquidation and the number of shares constituting any series without further sharelodefappr
Board determines to issue preferred shares, such issuance may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisitfwidbet steyre
consider favorable. The issuance of preferred shares with voting and conversion rights may also adeetsbby afting power of the
holders of common shares. This could substantially impede the ability of public shareholders to benefit from a changleaind; @t a
result, may adversely affect the market price of our common stock and the abilityexisiimg shareholders to realize any potential change
of control premium.

As long as our stock price remains below $5.00 per share, our shareholders will not be able to use our shares as caltatesadih
accounts. Further, if our stock price falls belv $1.00, we may be subject to delisting or be forced to take action to cure this problem.

The last reported sale price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market ob@y12911 was $2.46 per share. If the market
price of our shares of commorosk remains below $5.00 per share, under Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, or FINRA, rules, our
shareholders will not be able to use such shares as collateral for borrowing in margin accounts. This inability toaccasrawe tommon
stock as cltateral may lead to sales of such shares creating downward pressure on and increased volatility in, the market jstiegesf our
of common stock. In addition, many institutional investors will not invest in stocks whose prices are below $5.00 per share.

Under the rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market, listed companies have historically been required to maintain a share |edst $1. 0
per share and if the share price declines below $1.00 for a period of 30 consecutive business days, theconepiésty would have a cure
period of at least 18@ays to regain compliance with the $1.00 per share minimum. If our share price declines below $1.00, we may be
required to take action, such as a reverse stock split, in order to comply with NASDAGatlesy be in effect at the time. We may raise
additional equity capital at the market and/or in privately negotiated transactions. The effect of this may be to dehaesprice and
dilute our shareholders' investment.
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Future sales of our stock could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that these satas, coayd oc
depresghe market price for our common stock. These sales could also impair our ability to raise additional capital througbf ther sale
equity securities in the future. We may issue additional shares of our stock in the future and our shareholderdorssilddge numbers
of shares held by them from time to time.

Because the Republic of the Marshall Islands, where we are incorporated, does not have-dewelbped body of corporate law,
shareholders may have fewer rights and protections than undeicgldUnited States law, such as Delaware, and shareholders may have
difficulty in protecting their interest with regard to actions taken by our Board of Directors.

Our corporate affairs are governed by amended and restated articles of incorporhbigitears and by the Marshall Islands Business
Corporations Act, or BCA. The provisions of the BCA resemble provisions of the corporation laws of a number of statéstedtiStates.
However, there have been few judicial cases in the Republic of trehMhBlslands interpreting the BCA. The rights and fiduciary
responsibilities of directors under the law of the Republic of the Marshall Islands are not as clearly establishedhtsszahé fiduciary
responsibilities of directors under statutes oigiad precedent in existence in certain U.S. jurisdictions. Shareholder rights may differ as
well. For example, under Marshall Islands law, a copy of the notice of any meeting of the shareholders must be givémanat3days
before the meeting, wheas in Delaware such notice must be given not less thdayklbefore the meeting. Therefore, if immediate
shareholder action is required, a meeting may not be able to be convened as quickly as it can be convened under Délaauedian.
Marshall klands law, any action required to be taken by a meeting of shareholders may only be taken without a meeting if consent is ir
writing and is signed by all of the shareholders entitled to vote, whereas under Delaware law action may be taken lhyappreed by
the number of shareholders that would be required to approve such action at a meeting. Therefore, under Marshall lislavagsdaw,
more difficult for a company to take certain actions without a meeting even if a majority of the sharedppdeve of such action. While
the BCA does specifically incorporate the raiatutory law, or judicial case law, of the State of Delaware and other states with substantia
similar legislative provisions, public shareholders may have more difficultyoteqting their interests in the face of actions by the
management, directors or controlling shareholders than would shareholders of a corporation incorporated in a U.Snjurisdictio

It may not be possible for investors to enforce U.S. judgments against us

We, and all our subsidiaries, are or will be incorporated in jurisdictions outside the U.S. and substantially all ofscamésisese of our
subsidiaries and will be located outside the U.S. In addition, most of our directors and officensifiteeanonresidents of the U.S., and alll
or a substantial portion of the assets of theserasidents are or will be located outside the U.S. As a result, it may be difficult or impossib
for U.S. investors to serve process within the U.S. upon usulsidiaries, or our directors and officers, or to enforce a judgment against u
for civil liabilities in U.S. courts. In addition, you should not assume that courts in the countries in which we oridiargsoare
incorporated or where our or thesats of our subsidiaries are located would enforce judgments of U.S. courts obtained in actions agains
or our subsidiaries based upon the civil liability provisions of applicable U.S. federal and state securities laws afovoaldreoriginal
actions, liabilities against us or our subsidiaries based on those laws.

Provisions in our organizational documents, our management agreement and under Marshall Islands corporate law, could make it
difficult for our shareholders to replace or remove our curreBoard of Directors or have the effect of discouraging, delaying or
preventing a merger or acquisition, which could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Several provisions of our amended and restated articles of incorporation-Eavisbgnd certain provisions of the Marshall Islands
corporate law, could make it difficult for our shareholders to change the composition of our Board of Directors inyaay, gmeventing
them from changing the composition of management. In addition, these provisions may discourage, delay or prevent acoeigitioar
that shareholders may consider favorable. These provisions include:

A authorizing our Board of Directors to issue "blank check" preferred stock without shareholder approval;
A providing for a classified Board of Directors with staggered, three year terms;

A prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors;
A

authorizing the removal of directors only for cause and only upon tmmative vote of the holders of a twhirds majority of the
outstanding shares of our common shares, voting as a single class, entitled to vote for the directors;

P

limiting the persons who may call special meetings of shareholders;

T

establishing advance notice requirements for election to our Board of Directors or proposing matters that can be acted on
shareholders at shareholder meetings; and

A limiting our ability to enter into business coimation transactions with certain shareholders.
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Furthermore, pursuant to the terms of our management agreement, our Manager is entdeditaton fee if such agreement is
terminated upon a "change of control." The termination fee as of Dec8hl2010 would be approximately $100ndlion. In addition, we
have implemented a shareholder rights plan pursuant to which the holders ofhowrcgtock receive one right to purchase one
onethousandth of a share of our SereParticipating Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $90.00 per share, subject to adjustment. Th
rights become exercisable upon the occurrence of certain changerisl egants. These provisions and our shareholder rights plan could
substantially impede the ability of public shareholders to benefit from a change in control and, as a result, may dfbetbedynzarket
price of our common shares and your abilitydalize any potential change of control premium.

ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
Our Organization and Corporate Structure

We were incorporated on Ap&i3, 2004 under the name "Adventure Holdings S.A." pursuant to the lawne Reffublic of the Marshall
Islands to serve as the parent holding company of ourastiiing entities. On Apri27, 2005, we changed our name to "FreeSeas Inc."

We became a public reporting company on DecerhbeP005, when we completed a merger Witimity Partners Acquisition Company
Inc., or Trinity, a blank check company formed to serve as a vehicle to complete a business combination with an opeets)grbwsich
we were the surviving corporation. At the time of the merger we owned tiyieelkl carriers. We currently own nine vessels, each of which
is owned through a separate wholly owned subsidiary.

In January2007, lon G. Varouxakis purchased all of the common stock owned by our two offeeinding shareholders. He
simultaneouslsold a portion of the common stock owned by him to FS Holdings Limited, an entity controlled by the Restis family, and 1
certain other investors. Immediately following these transactions, our Board of Directors appointed lon G. Varouxakis GhtieBaard
and President, our two other-tmunding shareholders and one other director resigned from the Board of Directors, and two new director:
were appointed to fill the vacancies.

On SeptembeB0, 2010, our shareholders approved afondive rever® split of our outstanding common stock effective Octdher
2010.

As of May16, 2011, we had outstanding 6,487,852 shares of our common stock and 1,655,0d6M@kaasts, which expire on Juhg,
2011.

Our common stock and Clagswvarrants ctrently trade on the NASDAQ Global Market under the trading symbols "FREE" and
"FREEZ," respectively.

Our executive offices are located at 89 Akti Miaouli & 4 Mavrokordatou Street, 185 38, Piraeus, Greece and our telepleoi® numb
00-30-210452-8770.
Capital Expenditures and Divestitures

During the last three fiscal years, our capital expenditurdslavestitures related to our efforts to renew and expand our fleet were as
follows:

A On Augustl7, 2010, we entered into two newbuilding contracts with a Chinese shipyard for the construction of two Handy:
drybulk vessels of approximately 33,68@t each, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $48,800 (excluding extr
of approximately $920). The vessels are scheduled for delivery in the second and third quarters of 2012.

A OnJuly30, 2010, we entered into an agreement to sell the M/V Free Destiny for a price of $3,213. The vessel was deliver
buyers on Augus27, 2010 and we recognized a gain of $807.

A On Augusts, 2009, we purchased the M/V Free Neptune from an unaffiliated third party for approximately $11,000 and rel
purchase costs of $302.

A On Septembet, 2008, we purchased the M/V Free Maverick for the cash purchase price of $39,600 and related purchase
$12.

A OnJuly7, 2008, we purchased the M/V Free Lady for a cash purchase price of $65,200 and related purchase costs of $1°
A On April 2, 2008, we purchased the M/V Free Impala for the purchase price of $37,500 and related purchase costs of $42
A On March19, 2008, we purchased M/V Free Knight for the purchase price of $39,250 and related purchase costs of $400.

Our Fleet

Our fleet currently consists of seven Handysize vessels and two Handymas Hessisearry a variety of drybulk commodities, including
iron ore, grain and coal, which are referred to as "major bulks," as well as bauxite, phosphate, fertilizers, steekprodottsugar and
rice, or "minor bulks." Additionally, we entered intordracts to purchase two newbuilding Handysize bulk carriers, of approximately 33,6(



dwt each, with a Chinese shipyard. These new vessels are scheduled for delivery in the second and third quartersaffld8y2.6As
2011, the aggregate dwt of ourdtas approximately 247,446 dwt and the average age of our fleet is approximately 13 years.
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We are currently focusing on the Handysize and Handyseators, which we believe are more versatile in the types of cargoes that the
can carry and trade routes they can follow, and offer less volatile returns than larger vessel classes. We may, hoinelangexcdpybulk
vessels if desirable opportum arise.

We have contracted the management of our fleet to Free Bulkers S.A., referred to as our Manager, an entity contrdBed by lon
Varouxakis, our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, and one of our principal shareholders. Cer plavidgs technical
management of our fleet, accounting services and office space. Our Manager has subcontracted the charehater poshagement of
our fleet to Safbulk Pty Ltd., a company controlled by the Restis family, which also is onepofngipal shareholders. While Safbulk is
responsible for finding and arranging charters for our vessels, the final decision to charter our vessels remains with us.

The following table presents our fleet information as of Ml6y2011:;

Vessel Name Type Built Dwt Employment
M/V Handymax 200z 50,24¢ About 35 month time charter at $14,0
Free Lad per day for the first 120 days and
ree Lady $15,500 for the balance period throug
May/June2011
MV Handymax 200z 47,77 Minimum 60 to about 90 day time
Free Jupi charter at $16,000 per day plus gross
ree Jupiter delivery bonus $270,000 through
July/August2011
MV Handysize 199¢ 24,11 About 80day time charter trip at
1 h hM 11
Free Knight $10,000 per day through May/Jude
MV Handysize 199¢ 23,99 About 62day time charter trip at $9,1(

Free Maverick per day through May/Jurz011

MV Handysize 1997 24,11 About 30day time charter trip at $9,9C
h hM 11
e [ per day through May/Jurgd
M/V Handysize 199¢ 30,83¢ 4-6 months time charter at $14,000 pe
Free N day for the first 115 days and $15,25(
ree Neptune thereafter, through May/JuB011
MV Handysize 199t 24,31¢ About 2025 day time charter trip at
Free Hero $10,500 per day through M&p11
MV Handysize 199t 22,05: 4-6 months time charter at $12,000 pe

Free Goddess day through August/Octob@011
We are taking steps to renew our fleet. We have initiated a plan to sell theErb#\'mpala the M/V Free Neptun@and the M/VFree

Hero. In addition, on Aprill4, 2011, we entered into an agreement to sell the M/V Free Eng884duilt, 26,318 dwt Handysize dry bulk

carrier, for a sale price of $4,200. The vessel was delivered to the buyers A3\ 1. A gain will be realized in the second quarter of

2011. The major part of the sale proceeds will be applied towardsmgdua debt. There can be no assurances that we will be able to obte

prices that are acceptable to us or that we will otherwise be able to negotiate satisfactory terms of sale for the odssetbre

Competitive Strengths

We believe that we possess a number of strengths that provide us with a competitive advantage in the drybulk shipgijng industr
including:

A Experienced management teawe have benefited from the expertise of our executive officers including that of lon G. Varg
our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, and that of our Manager's personnel, which consists of seasoned st
professionals with longtandng experience in the industry. We believe that our management team and our Manager have
strengthened our balance sheet while actively and decisively renewing the fleet throughout the challenging economic clim
experienced both industryide and worldwide during the past several years:

A We restructured certain of our debt agreements, providing us with additional financial flexibility, while maintaining



cost of funding (a weighted average interest rate of 3.0% for the year ended De8g&natdi0), which has allowed the
continued growth of our fleet.

We successfully initiated our fleet renewal program, first by acquiring, in A@@@&, the M/VFree Neptunga 30,838
dwt, 1996built drybulk carrier. We subsequently placed an order for the construction of two 33,600 dwt drybulk cai
delivery within the second and third quarters of 2012. We also sold our oldest vessels, taedIDéstinya 25,240 i,
1982built drybulk carrier, and the M/¥ree Envoya 1984built, 26,318 dwt drybulk carrier, which were delivered to tt
buyers in Augus2010 and May011, respectively.
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A We have secured additional committed indebtedness of up to $38,400 in the last two years. Of this total commitm:
had been drawn as of DecemB610. In this process, we have developed new relationships with additional financial
institutions and anks.

A We have maintained a strong operating performance of 97% for the year ended D&3gr@b&6, which may be
considered remarkable considering the type of vessels and the average age of our fleet, while keeping costs on w
believe to be the lower end of the industry average.

Solid balance sheeWVe have strengthened our balance sheet through the reduction of our net debt ton#ildi® &s of
DecembeBl, 2010, translating into a net debt to total capitalization ratio of 44%. This ratio is calculated by subtracting cas
debt and dividing ¥ the sum of liabilities and shareholders' equity. We believe that the maintenance of a reasonable ratio ¢
total capitalization is an important measurement of our ability to borrow funds to make additional vessel acquisitions.

Strategic relationshipsWe have extensive experience and relationships with ship brokers, financial institutions, industrial p
and commodity traders. We use these relationships to identify chartering and acquisition opportunities and in deelexvilaise
to us sources of additional financing, to make industry contacts, and to gain market intelligence. Our current spefiadizitiglk
asset class allows us to not only monitor markets with a single measure, but also makes us the gfaostoefaf businesses that
have a need or requirement for a Handysize specialist.

Cost effective and efficient operation§hrough our Manager, we believe that we have established a strong track record in tl
technical management of drybulk carriers which has enabled us to maintagffivdsnt operations. We actively monitor and
control vessel operating expenses while ri@iing the high quality of our fleet through regular inspections, balanced maintel
programs, high standards of operation, and retaining and training qualified crew members.

Business Strategy

Our primary objectives are to profitably grow our business and maximize value to our shareholders by pursuing the toditegieg:s

A

Handysize and Handymax focu®ur fleet of drybulk carriers consists of Handysize and Handymax vessels, altheugay
consider acquiring larger vessels if we identify appropriate opportunities. Given the relatively low number of Handysize an
Handymax drybulk vessels on order, and a relatively great number of Handysize and Handymax drybulk vessels at an ag
20years or older, we believe there will be continued demand for such vessels. Handysize and Handymax vessels are typi
shallowdrafted and equipped with onboard cranes. This makes them more versatile and able to access a wider range of |
dischaging ports than larger ships that are unable to service many ports due to their size or the lack of local port infradtmy
countries in the Asia Pacific region, including China, as well as countries in Africa and South America, have shalldye ports
believe that our vessels, and any Handysize or Handymax vessels that we may acquire, should enable us to transpoity v
of cargoes and to pursue a greater number of chartering opportunities than if we owned larger drybulk vessels. &dtehdysize
Handymax vessels have also historically achieved greater charter rate stability than larger drybulk vessels.

Renew and expand our fleetVe intend to continue growing our fleet in a disciplined manner through acquisition of
well-maintained, secondhand vessels or selective investments in newbuildings. Since prices for vessels have fallen sigrué
the middle of 2008, we expecthave significant opportunities to acquire high quality, high specification secondhand vessel
newbuildings for attractive prices. We perform a technical review and financial analysis of each potential acquisitign and c
purchase vessels as market gbods and opportunities dictate and warrant. Furthermore, as part of our fleet renewal progra
will continue to sell vessels in order to renew our fleet when we believe it is in our and our shareholders' best interests.

Optimize our employment mixVe intend to continue to deploy a large part of our fleet primarily in the spot market, depend
our view of the direction of the markets and other tactical or strategic considerations. The spot market is volatils #xed hold
potential for significant increases or decreases in shipping rates over time. Additionally, we may pursue time chagertcove
provide cash flow to cover part of our fleet's fixed costs and lock some of our vessels into mediumemiattartes depending
on our views of the market. We believe this employment strategy will allow us to participate in the potential upsideotf the <
market during periods of rising charter rates while providing us with more predictable operating cash flowseathovgwsitde
protection.

Use of flexible financial strategyWe have used and intend to continue to use a conservative combination of bank debt, cas
from operations and proceeds from equity offerings to fund our vessel acquisitions. We assess the level of debt we will fric
of our ability to repay that debt based on the level of cash flow we expect to generate pursuant to our charteringdtrategy :
operating cost structure. We believe that the maintenance of a reasonable ratio of net debt to total capitalizatiompevitabetod
our ability to borrow funds to make additional vessel acquisitions. In 2009, we suspended the payment of easdls dividur
common stock because of prevailing economic conditions and to comply with restrictions in certain of our loan agree @esd
economic conditions remain uncertain, and because we are focusing on the renewal of our fleet, we have daetetoniasdme
the payment of cash dividends at this time.
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Vessel Employment
We have employed and continue to employ our vessels in the spot charter market, under trip time charters and peritet$ime char

A trip time charter is a shotérm time charter for a voyage taeten load port(s) and discharge port(s) under which the charterer pays
fixed daily hire rate on a semionthly basis for use of the vessel. A period time charter is charter for a vessel for a fixed period of time a
set daily rate. Under trip time chaideand time charters, the charterer pays voyage expenses. Under all three types of charters, the vess
owners pay for vessel operating expenses, which include crew costs, provisions, deck and engine stores, lubricatiagog], insu
maintenance and rejps. The vessel owners are also responsible for each vessafsaking and intermediate and special survey costs.
Lastly, vessels can be chartered under "bareboat" contracts whereby the charterer is responsible for the vessel's arainipesaziies,
as well as all voyage expenses.

Vessels operating on period time charter provide more predictable cash flows, but can yield lower profit margins thaperesisgsn
the spot market during periods characterized by favorable market condvtems®ls operating in the spot market generate revenues that ar
less predictable but may enable us to increase profit margins during periods of increasing drybulk charter rates. Haveandrthea be
exposed to the risk of declining drybulk charteesatwhich may be higher or lower than the rates at which we chartered our vessels. We
constantly evaluating opportunities for period time charters, but only expect to enter into additional period timefolartens obtain
contract terms that safysour criteria.

Although we have not previously done so, we may from time to time utilize forward freight agreements that enable ustt enter
contractual obligations to sell the spot charter forward and thereby reduce our exposure to agetenniction of the charter market.

Customers

During 2010, we derived approximately 42% of our gross revenues from three charterers, and during 2009, we derivedapproximat
55% of our gross revenues from two charterers. We believe that our cubtmseds composed of established charterers.

Management of Operations and Fleet

Pursuant to our amended and restated services agreement with our Manager, our operations are executed and supenasedéry our |
based on the strategy devised by tharld of directors and subject to the approval of our board of directors as described below. We pay a
monthly fee of $118.5, (on the basis that the dollar/Euro exchange rate is 1.35 or lower; if on the last business dapmthedeh
dollar/Euro exchangrate exceeds 1.35 then the service fee payable will be adjusted for the following month in question, so that the am
payable in dollars will be the equivalent in Euro based on 1.35 dollar/Euro exchange rate) as compensation for seribegsheist
related to accounting, financial reporting, implementation of Sarb@rksy internal control over financial reporting procedures and general
administrative and management services. Our Manager is entitled to a termination fee if the agreememtisdenmoin a "change of
control" as defined in its services agreement with our Manager.

Our Manager provides us with the following services:

A General AdministrationOur Manager provides us with general administrative, office and support semeicessary for our
operations and our fleet, including technical and clerical personnel, communication, accounting, and data processing serv

A Financial Accounting Service@ur Manager maintains our books, records and accounts and provides all services as are ne
for the preparation and maintenance of the our accounting records in accordance with U.S. GAAP, preparing and filihg fin
statements with the SEC and NBA&Q in accordance with applicable financial reporting requirements, and developing,
implementing, monitoring and assessing our internal controls;

A Sale and Purchase of Vessésir Manager advises our board of directors when opportunities arise to purchase, including tt
newbuildings, or to sell any vessels. All decisions to purchase or sell vessels require the approval of our boardsofAtisector
purchases or sales ofssels approved by our board of directors are arranged and completed by our Manager. This involves
appointment of superintendents to inspect and take delivery of vessels and to monitor compliance with the terms arglafon
the purchase contracts.

We also contract the technical and commercial management of our vessels to our Manager. Ol Qbbethe subsidiaries
Adventure Fourteen S.A. and Adventure Fifteen S.A. entered into management agreements with our Mahagepfasion of
management services to our two newbuilding vessels we have under contract. Our Manager has a separate managemehtezmttratt wit
our shipowning subsidiaries and provides a wide range of services on a fixed fee per vessel besgsieexl below. These services include
vessel operations, maintenance, regulatory compliance, crewing, supervistachityg and repairs, arranging insurance for vessels, vessel
supplying, advising on the purchase and sale of vessels, and perforntiiig @ecounting and other administrative services, including
financial reporting and internal controls requirements. Pursuant to our amended management agreement with our Manager, we pay
Manager a monthly technical management fee of $16.5 (on thethaisike dollar/Euro exchange rate is 1.30 or lower; if on the first
business day of each month the dollar/Euro exchange rate exceeds 1.30 then the management fee payable will be iher@aseith fior t
question, so that the amount payable in dollalisbe the equivalent in Euro based on 1.30 dollar/Euro exchange rate) plus a fee of $0.4 p
day for superintendant attendance and other direct expenses.



We also pay our Manager a fee equal to 1.25% of the gross freight or hire from the employment of FreeSeas' vessels and a 1%
commission on the gross purchase price of any new vessel acquired or the gross sale price of any vessel sold by FtheZssastavitte
of our Manager. Furthermore, our Manager has entered into an agreement with Safbulk, for the provision of chartesheantbpestvices
for our fleet. Additionally, we pay our Manager a monthly fee of $118.5 as compensation for servicedoelat®unting, financial
reporting, implementation of Sarbar@gley internal control over financial reporting procedures and general administrative and managen
services plus expenses.
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Our Managr currently manages all of our vessels and we anticipate that our Manager will manage any additional vessels we may a
in the future. Safbulk performs management services to other international shipping entities, including the Restis@rpanes.c

We believe that we pay our Manager industtgndard fees for these services.

Crewing and Employees

We currently have no employees, our Manager is responsible for employing all of the executive officers and staff tme>aqeevise
the operations. In addition, our Manager is responsible for recruiting, either directly or through a crewing agent, thdiserdamaf all
other crew members for our vessels.

Long -Term Debt

We and our subsidiaries have obtained financing fromat#iti and unaffiliated lenders for our vessels. For a description of our financin
see Itenb, LongTerm Debt.
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Charter Hire Rates

Charter hire rates fluctuate by varying degrees among drybulk csimiecategories. The volume and pattern of trade in a small number
of commaodities (major bulks) affect demand for larger vessels. Therefore, charter rates and vessel values of largitenetsrisgreater
volatility. Conversely, trade in a greatemnioer of commodities (minor bulks) drives demand for smaller drybulk carriers. Accordingly,
charter rates and vessel values for those vessels are subject to less volatility.

Charter hire rates paid for drybulk carriers are primarily a function of the underlying balance between vessel supprahdidesagh
at times other factors may play a role. Furthermore, the pattern seen in charter rates is broadly mirrored diffierentieharter types and
the different drybulk carrier categories. However, because demand for larger drybulk vessels is affected by the volttee aridrpde in
a relatively small number of commodities, charter hire rates (and vessel valleegeo&hips tend to be more volatile than those for smaller
vessels.

In the time charter market, rates vary depending on the length of the charter period and vessel specific factors ssjpbeasaagkfuel
consumption.

In the voyage chartenarket, rates are influenced by cargo size, commodity, port dues and canal transit fees, as well as commencen
and termination regions. In general, a larger cargo size is quoted at a lower rate per ton than a smaller cargo siith Rusiteportor
canals generally command higher rates than routes with low port dues and no canals to transit. Voyages with a load goegwiththat
includes ports where vessels usually discharge cargo or a discharge port within a region with ports wieleatksaejo also are generally
guoted at lower rates, because such voyages generally increase vessel utilization by reducing the unloaded portible ¢ rtiet|zs
included in the calculation of the return charter to a loading area.

Within thedrybulk shipping industry, the charter hire rate references most likely to be monitored are the freight rate indicestissued b
Baltic Exchange. These references are based on actual charter hire rates under charters entered into by marketpanxitipasndsily
assessments provided to the Baltic Exchange by a panel of major shipbrokers.

Property

On Februanp, 2007, we entered into an agreement with our Manager pursuant to which we agreed to pay our Mahatjaf tine
rents due from ouManager to the lessor of our rented office space, commencing on Jan@agy. Beginning on Januaty 2008 and in
conjunction with a further expansion of our office space, we agreed to pay our Manageifai¢he monthly rent plus oralf of the
apportioned common expenses charged by the lessor. Reimbursement of rental and common expenses continue on the sanoeibasis u
amended services agreement with our Manager.
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Competition

We operate in markets that are highly competitive and based primarily on supply and demand. Ownership of drybulktughiers is
fragmented and is divided among approximately 1,400 drybulk carrier owners. We compete for charters on the basieségrloeation,
size, age and condition of the vessel, as well as on our reputation. There are many drybulk shipping companies whicly tradpdibn
the U.S. stock markets, such as DryShips Inc., Diana Shipping Inc., Eagle Bulk Shipping IncaELtdsdxcel Maritime Carriers Ltd.
and Baltic Trading Limited, which are significantly larger than we are and have substantially more capital, more arestaiger v
personnel, revenue and profits and which are in competition with us. There is ramesghat we can successfully compete with such
companies for charters or other business.

Our Manager arranges our charters (whether spot charters, period time charters, bareboat charters or pools) throdifinakersise o
who negotiate the ternte the charters based on market conditions. We compete with other owners of drybulk carriers in the, Handysize
Handymax sectors. Charters for our vessels are negotiated by our Manager utilizing a worldwide network of shipbroksingp Aro&ses
advise our Manager on a continuous basis of the availability of cargo for any particular vessel. There may be several shiglvekicirs
any one charter. The negotiation for a charter typically begins prior to the completion of the previous chagetoraead any idle time.

The terms of the charter are based on industry standards.

Seasonality

Coal, iron ore and grains, which are the major bulks of the drybulk shipping industry, are somewhat seasonal in natargyThe e
markets primarily affeicthe demand for coal, with increases during hot summer periods when air conditioning and refrigeration require r
electricity and towards the end of the calendar year in anticipation of the forthcoming winter period. The demand étenuis ¢o deine
in the summer months because many of the major steel users, such as automobile makers, reduce their level of proficetitiy digirg
the summer holidays. Grains are completely seasonal as they are driven by the harvest within a climaeamgetiBee of the five largest
grain producers (the United States of America, Canada and the European Union) are located in the northern hemisplotheramebthe
(Argentina and Australia) are located in the southern hemisphere, harvests occurahirthuglgear and grains required drybulk shipping
accordingly.

Environmental and Other Regulations

Government regulation and laws significantlfeats the ownership and operation of our vessels. The vessels are subject to internation
conventions and treaties, national, state and local laws and regulations in force in the countries in which our vessastenayare
registered, including thesgoverning the management and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes, the cleanup of oil spills and o
contamination, air emissions, and water discharges and ballast water management.

A variety of governmental and private entities subjectvassels to both scheduled and unscheduled inspections. These entities includ
the local port authorities (United States Coast Guard, harbor master or equivalent), classification societies, flagnisatatiadnicountry
of reqgistry) and charterers. Gain of these entities require us to obtain permits, licenses, financial assurances and certificates for the
operation of our vessels. Failure to maintain necessary permits or approvals could require us to incur substantiabatiststber
temporay suspension of operation of one or more of our vessels.

We believe that the heightened level of environmental and quality concerns among insurance underwriters, regulatoesexsdschart
leading to greater inspection and safety requirements orssdkls and may accelerate the scrapping of older vessels throughout the indus
Increasing environmental concerns have created a demand for vessels that conform to the stricter environmental standaedtpiik'e to
maintain operating standards fall of our vessels that will emphasize operational safety, quality maintenance, continuous training of its
officers and crews and compliance with U.S. and international regulations. We believe that the operation of our vesdedtaistial
complian@ with applicable environmental laws and regulations; however, because such laws and regulations are frequently chayged ¢
impose increasingly stricter requirements, such future requirements may limit our ability to do business, increaseiongicoges,dbrce
the early retirement of our vessels, and/or affect their resale value, all of which could have a material adverse @fftaneial condition
and results of operations.

International Maritime Organization

The International Marithe Organization, or IMO, the United Nations agency for maritime safety and the prevention of pollution by sh
has adopted the International Convention for the Prevention of Marine Pollution, 1973, as modified by the related P16&&;obiofhe
MARPOL Convention, which has been updated through various amendments. The MARPOL Convention establishes environmental
standards relating to oil leakage or spilling, garbage management, sewage, air emissions, handling and disposal gfiitsxang li
handlirg of harmful substances in packaged forms. The IMO adopted regulations that set forth pollution prevention requireroabls appli
to drybulk carriers. These regulations have been adopted by over 150 nations, including many of the jurisdictions in vasisbl®u
operate.

In Septembel997, the IMO adopted Annex VI to the MARPOL Convention to address air pollution from ships. Annex VI sets limits ¢
sulfur oxide and nitrogen oxide emissions from ship exhausts and prohibits deliberate emissions déplaiing substances, such as
chlorofluorocarbons. Annex VI also includes a global cap on the sulfur content of fuel oil and allows for special arestalbdisieed with



more stringent controls on sulfur emissions. In Oct@®88, IMO adopted amendmts to Annex VI regarding particulate matter, nitrogen
oxide, and sulfur oxide emission standards that apply as ol J210. Among other things, the Annex VI amendments will progressively
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reduce sulfur oxide emissions from ships, with the global sulfur cap reduced initially to 3.50% (from the current 4.809¢§, £fm
January2012; then progressively to 0.50%, effective from Jang@g0. The limits applicable in Sulfur Emission Coh#koeas (SECAS)
will be reduced to 1.00%, beginning on JARAL0 (from the current 1.50%); being further reduced to 0.10%, effective from J@20d&ry
The United States ratified the Annex VI amendments in Oct2®@8, thereby rendering its emission stad equivalent to IMO
requirements. As a result, Annex VI entered into force for the United States in Ja@0aryn Marct?010, the IMO designated the area
extending 200 miles from the territorial sea baseline adjacent to the Atlantic/Gulf and €astis of the United States and Canada, the
main Hawaiian Islands, and the French Territories of St. Pierre and Miquelon as an Emission Control Area. The new BEAiIntdl en
force in Augus011 and become legally enforceable in Au@st?2. New requements associated with the ECA may increase the cost of
operation of our vessels in U.S. and Canadian waters. Other ECAs may be designated, and the jurisdictions in whick operatssmlay
adopt more stringent emission standards independent of IMhalieve we are in substantial compliance with current Annex VI
requirements, but we may incur costs to comply with the new standards in future years.

The operation of our vessels is also affected by the requirements set forth in the IMO's Man@gelmdoit the Safe Operation of Ships
and Pollution Prevention, or the ISM Code. The ISM Code requires shipowners and bareboat charterers to develop and exdénsivea
"Safety Management System" that includes the adoption of a safety and envimlmpmaeiction policy setting forth instructions and
procedures for safe operation and describing procedures for dealing with emergencies. The failure of a shipowner or traomagameto
comply with the ISM Code may subject such party to increaseditljalohay decrease available insurance coverage for the affected vessels
and may result in a denial of access to, or detention in, certain ports. Currently, each of our vessels is&vtiftmtieHowever, there can
be no assurance that such certifimatwill be maintained indefinitely.

Additional or new conventions, laws and regulations may also be adopted that could adversely affect our ability to opesatisou

The U.S. Oil Pollution Act of 1990

The United States Oil Pollution Aof 1990, or OPA, established an extensive regulatory and liability regime for the protection and
clearrup of the environment from oil spills. OPA affects all owners and operators whose vessels trade in the United Stetesedsaredt
possessions avhose vessels operate in waters of the United States, which includes the United States' territorial sea and its 200enautic:
exclusive economic zone. The United States has also enacted the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensatitynfantd Liab
or CERCLA, which applies to the discharge of hazardous substances other than oil, whether on land or at sea. Both OFA Araff&fR
our operations.

Under OPA, vessel owners, operators, charterers and management companies are "resguiesibéng are jointly, severally and
strictly liable (unless the spill results solely from the act or omission of a third party, an act of God or an actasfalladiitainment and
removal costs and other damages arising from discharges or thredissfedges of oil from their vessels, including bunkers (fuel).

Effective July31, 2009, the U.S. Coast Guard adjusted the limits of OPA liability for dry bulk vessels to the greater of $1000 per gro:s
or $854,400 ah established a procedure for adjusting the limits for inflation every three years. CERCLA contains a liability scheme that
similar to that under the OPA, and liability under CERCLA is limited to the greater of $300 per gross taniliof%or vessés carrying a
hazardous substance as cargo and the greater of $300 per gross tomulti®0.for any other vessel. These limits of liability do not apply
if an incident was directly caused by violation of applicable U.S. federal safety, construatiperating regulations or by a responsible
party's gross negligence or willful misconduct, or if the responsible party fails or refuses to report the incidentparédecand assist in
connection with oil removal activities. In response to the 2016pdllin the Gulf of Mexico resulting from the explosion of theepwater
Horizondrilling rig, bills have been introduced in the U.S. Congress to increase the limits of OPA liability for all vessels.

OPA requires owners and operators of vesselstabish and maintain with the United States Coast Guard evidence of financial
responsibility sufficient to meet their potential liabilities under OPA. Under the regulations, vessel owners and opsyaeidence their
financial responsibility by showinproof of insurance, surety bond, sielfurance, or guaranty. Upon satisfactory demonstration of financial
responsibility, a Certificate of Financial Responsibility, or COFR, is issued by the United States Coast Guard. Tlaitecarsicbe carried
ahoard the vessel to comply with these financial responsibility regulations. We have complied with these financial regpegsitaitions
by obtaining and carrying COFRs for each of our vessels that operate in U.S. waters, currently FneeMzdddesshe M/V Free Impala
and the M/VFree Jupiter We may incur additional costs to obtain COFRs for additional vessels, if required, and to comply with increase
limits of liability in the future.

OPA specifically permits individual states to imposertlogin liability regimes with regard to oil pollution incidents occurring within
their boundaries, and some states have enacted legislation providing for unlimited liability for oil spills. In som&ateseshi&h have
enacted such legislation, have get issued implementing regulations defining vessels owners' responsibilities under these laws. We
currently comply, and intend to continue to comply in the future, with all applicable state regulations in the ports miemsetaicall.

We currely maintain pollution liability coverage as part of our protection and indemnity insurance for each of our vessels agutiie am
of $1 billion per incident. If the damages from a catastrophic pollution liability incident exceed our insurance coverzgendre of those
damages may materially decrease our net income.

The United States Clean Water Act

The United States Clean Water Act, or CWA, prohibits the discharge of oil or hazardous substances in navigable watesearstrichp



liability in the form of penalties for any unauthorized discharges. The CWA also imposes substantial liability for the costs of removal,
remediation and damages and complements the remedies available under the OPA and CERCLA.
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The United States Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA, regulates the discharge of ballast water and other wastientaktanci
the operation of a vessel under the CWA. EPA regulations require vessels greater than 79 feet in length (excludicigldshimgr
vessels) to obtain coverage under the Vessel General Permit, or VGP, to discharge ballast water and other wastew@Bitevatins [y
submitting a Notice of Intent. We have submitted Notices of Intent for all of our vessels. The newguiEEsreessel owners and operators
to comply with a range of best management practices, reporting, and other requirements, for various types of discimaayps@tds
United States Coast Guard requirements for ballast water management and exchladge tdrremain covered by the VGP, vessels must
comply with numerous inspection, monitoring, reporting and recordkeeping requirements. Vessel owners/operators musteathimgsot
conduct and document routine sigl§pection to track compliance withe VGP, and must conduct a comprehensive vessel inspection ever
12 months. As part of a settlement of a lawsuit challenging the VGP, EPA has recently agreed to propose a nhew VGP with numerical
restrictions on organisms in ballast water discharges bgidber2011. Compliance with the current VGP and any new VGP could require
the installation of equipment on our vessels to treat ballast water before it is discharged or the implementation dffathltybsposal
arrangements or procedures at patdigtsubstantial cost, and/or otherwise restrict our vessels from entering U.S. waters.

Other Environmental Initiatives

In waters of the European Union, our vessels are subject to regulation EuropeateMglialirectives implemented by the varsou
nations through laws and regulations of these requirements. These laws and regulations prescribe measures to preveropediiie
environment, and support maritime safety. For instance, the European Union has adopted directives that rdygrisgatessnto refuse
access to their ports to certain ssthndard vessels, according to vessel type, flag, and number of previous detentions. Member states m
inspect at least 25% of vessels using their ports annually and provide increased suredillassels posing a high risk to maritime safety or
the marine environment. If deficiencies are found that are clearly hazardous to safety, health or the environmenis theustatd to detain
the vessel until the deficiencies are addressed. Mertdtessre also required to implement a system of penalties for breaches of these
standards.

The EU's directive on the sulfur content of fuels restricts the maximum sulfur content of marine fuels used in ves#sjsiofitdat
member states' exclusieeonomic zones. Under this directive, our vessels may need to make expenditures to comply with the sulfur fue
content limits in the marine fuel they use in order to avoid delays or other obstructions to their operations. The Blisbasdbsdirectes
adopting the IMO's standards for the maximum sulfur content of marine fuels used in special sulfur oxide Emission Castayl BGAS,
in the Baltic Sea, the North Sea, and for any other seas or ports the IMO may designate as sulfur oxidenie@is after the date of
entry into force of the designation. These and other related requirements may increase our costs of operating andinsciffect
performance.

In 2005, the European Union adopted a directive onshipce pollution. In Octady 2009, the European Union amended the directive to
impose criminal sanctions for illicit shigource discharges of polluting substances, including minor discharges, if committed with intent,
recklessly, or with serious negligence and the dischargesduodily or in the aggregate result in deterioration of the quality of water. The
directive could result in criminal liability for pollution from vessels in waters of European countries that adopt impighegiglation.
Criminal liability for pollution may result in substantial penalties or fines and increased civil liability claims.

The European Union is currently considering proposals to further regulate vessel operations. Individual countries inetire Enian
may also have additional enviroemtal and safety requirements. It is difficult to predict what legislation or regulation, if any, may be
adopted by the European Union or any other country or authority.

Although he United States is not a party thereto, many countries have ratified and currently follow the liability plan adopted®y the
and set out in the International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage of 1969, or the 1969 Conventiarthldnde
convention, and depending on whether the country in which the damage results is a party to the 1992 Protocol to thealn@amedintion
on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage, a vessel's registered owner is strictly liable for pollutionggacaaised in the territorial waters
of a contracting state by discharge of persistent oil, subject to certain complete defenses. The limits on liabilityncihidirid®2 Protocol
use the International Monetary Fund currency unit of Special DrawingRighSDR. Under an amendment to the 1992 Protocol that
became effective in Novemb2003, for vessels of 5,000 to 140,000 gross tons, liability is limited to approximatelyndlibh SDR plus
631 SDR for each additional gross ton over 5,000. For v@s$elver 140,000 gross tons, liability is limited to 89n7iflion SDR. The
exchange rate between SDRs and U.S. dollars was 0.632939 SDR per U.S. dollar ae8\iabd1i. Under the 1969 Convention, the right
to limit liability is forfeited where the spils caused by the owner's actual fault; under the 1992 Protocol, a shipowner cannot limit liability
where the spill is caused by the owner's intentional or reckless conduct. Vessels trading in jurisdictions that anelpestehventions
must provde evidence of insurance covering the liability of the owner. In jurisdictions where the 1969 Convention has not been adopte
including the United States, various legislative schemes or common law govern, and liability is imposed either on fHfauasisima
manner similar to that convention. We believe that our protection and indemnity insurance will cover the liability yslderatepted by
the IMO.

The U.S. National Invasive Species Act, or NISA, was enacted in 1996 in response tmgepmirts of harmful organisms being
released into U.S. ports through ballast water taken on by ships in foreign ports. The United States Coast Guard ddtiptediueder
NISA that impose mandatory ballast water management practices for all vegspfsed with ballast water tanks entering U.S. waters.
These requirements can be met by performingagiehn ballast exchange, which is the exchange of ballast water on the waters beyond tl
exclusive economic zone from an area more than 200 miles froshang, by retaining ballast water on board the ship or by using



environmentally sound alternative ballast water management methods approved by the United States Coast Guard. Hagewer, mid
ballast exchange is mandatory for ships heading to the Gakaslor Hudson Bay. Midcean ballast exchange is the primary method for
compliance with the United States Coast Guard regulations, since holding ballast water can prevent ships from perfarmpeyatargs

upon arrival in the United States, and al&give methods are still under development. Vessels that are unable to condaceardallast
exchange due to voyage or safety concerns may discharge minimum amounts of ballast water (in areas other than the ahck e akes
Hudson River), provided &t they comply with recordkeeping requirements and document the reasons they could not follow the requirec
ballast water
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management requirements. The Coast Guard has issued proposed standards featmlidischarge, which could set maximum acceptable
discharge limits for various invasive species, or lead to requirement for active treatment of ballast water. Compliangenexth

regulations could require the installation of equipment on our vassetsat ballast water before it is discharged or arranging for disposal at
port facilities at potentially substantial costs.

At the international level, the IMO adopted an International Convention for the Control and Management of Ships' BatlasdwWate
Sediments, or the BWM Convention, in Februa®p4. The BWM Convention's implementing regulations call for a phased introduction of
mandatory ballast water exchange requirements, to be replaced in time with mandatory concentration limits. The BNfibiCaill not
be in force until 12nonths after it has been adopted by 30 countries, the combined merchant fleets of which represent not less than 35
the gross tonnage of the world's merchant shipping. As of Fel28a8011, the BWM Convention hbhsen adopted by 27 states,
representing approximately 25.32% of the world's tonnage. Despite the lack of ratification, the Marine Environment RZoteatittee of
IMO passed a resolution in Mar@010 calling upon those countries that have ratifiedréaty to encourage the installation of ballast water
management systems.

Greenhouse Gas Regulation

In February2005, the Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework on Climate Change, or Kyoto Protocol, entered into force. Ur
the Kyoto Protool, adopting countries are required to implement national programs to reduce emissions of certain gases, generally refe
to as greenhouse gases, which are suspected of contributing to global warming. Currently, emissions of greenhousérgasesifnaah
shipping are not subject to the Kyoto Protocol. At the December 2010 meeting of the United Nations Climate Change Gor@Garenoe
the IMO proposed measures to control greenhouse gas emissions from international shipping. The EU indi€tted M@tdid not
decide how to address greenhouse gas emissions from international shipping before December 2010, the EU would in¢ladal interna
shipping in its emissions trading scheme. The IMO is currently evaluating various mandatory measdig®etgreenhouse gas emissions
from international shipping, including markedsed mechanisms and energy efficiency standards. In the United States, the EPA has issu
finding that greenhouse gases threaten public health and safety and has ado@ton®golerning the emission of greenhouse gases from
motor vehicles and large stationary sources. The EPA may decide in the future to regulate greenhouse gas emissionarfcois ships
considering a petition from the California Attorney General to eggujreenhouse gas emissions from oggang vessels.

Any passage of climate change legislation or other regulatory initiatives by the IMO, the European Union, the Unitedo8tates o
countries where we operate that restrict emissions of greembasss could require us to make significant financial expenditures that we
cannot predict with any certainty at this time.

Vessel Security Regulation

Since the terrorist attacks of Septembgy 2001, there have been a variety of initiatives iréertd enhance vessel security. On
November25, 2002, the Maritime Transportation Security Act of 2002, or MTSA, came into effect. To implement certain portions of the
MTSA, in July2003, the United States Coast Guard issued regulations requiring the éngdtion of certain security requirements aboard
vessels operating in waters subject to the jurisdiction of the United States of America. Similarly, in D&fiabamendments to SOLAS
created a new chapter of the convention dealing specifically withimmausecurity. The new chapter went into effect in 2094, and
imposes various detailed security obligations on vessels and port authorities, most of which are contained in the rei§RSe2bde.

Among the various requirements are:

A onboard installation of automatic information systems, to enhance stesgessel and vesséb-shore communication
A onboard installation of ship security alert systems;

A the development of vessel security plans; and

A compliance with flag state security certification requirements.

The United States Coast Guard regulations, intended to align with international maritime security standards, exé@pvessels from
MTSA vessel security measures provided sugssels have on board, by Jaily2004, a valid International Ship Security Certificate that
attests to the vessel's compliance with SOLAS security requirements and the ISPS Code. Our vessels are in complianagauish the
security measures addressedhwy MTSA, SOLAS and the ISPS Code. We do not believe these additional requirements will have a mate
financial impact on our operations.

Inspection by Classification Societies

The hull and machinery of every commercial vessel must be classedldssification society authorized by its country of registry. The
classification society certifies that a vessel is safe and seaworthy in accordance with the applicable rules and régh&ationstry of
registry of the vessel and SOLAS.

A ves®l must undergo annual surveys, intermediate surveysjatings and special surveys. In lieu of a special survey, a vessel's
machinery may be on a continuous survey cycle, under which the machinery would be surveyed periodically eyeamp@reodOur
vessels are on special survey cycles for hull inspection and continuous survey cycles for machinery inspection. Eveplsessglired



to be drydocked every two to three years for inspection of the underwater parts of such vessel. If drpesssat maintain its class and/or
fails any annual survey, intermediate survey;dogking or special survey, the vessel will be unable to carry cargo between ports and will
unemployable and uninsurable. That could cause us to be in violatiortaf cavenants in our loan agreements.
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At an owner's application, the surveys required for class renewal may be split according to an agreed scheduleuerdriepdtire
period of class. This process is referred to as continuous class renewal.

All areas subject to survey as defined by the classification society are required to be surveyed at least once pedcladsgeshorter
intervals betwee surveys are prescribed elsewhere. The period between two subsequent surveys of each area must not exceed five ye

Most insurance underwriters make it a condition for insurance coverage and lending that a vessel be certified asyia class" b
classification society which is a member of the International Association of Classification Societies. Our vessels arasérified'in
class" by their respective classification societies all of which are members of the International AssociatigifichGtasSocieties.

The table below lists the next ddpcking and special surveys scheduled for our each vessel in our fleet, to the extent such dates are
known as of the date of this annual report:

Next Intermediate Next Special Survey

Vessel Dry-docking Dry-docking
M/V Free Goddess Third quarter 2013 Third quarter 2015

M/V Free Hero Third quarter 2013 Third quarter 2015

M/V Free Impala Third quarter 2015 Third quarter 2012

M/V Free Jupiter Second quarter 2015 Second quarter 2012

M/V Free Knight Second quarter 2016 Second quarter 2013

M/V Free Lady Second quarter 2011 Second quarter 2013

M/V Free Maverick First quarter 2016 First quarter 2013

M/V Free Neptune Third quarter 2014 Third quarter 2011

ISM and ISPS certifications have been awarded to all of our vessels and to the Manager by either the vessel's flagaaoentityeoof
the International Association of Classification Societies.

Risk of Loss and Liability Insurance
General

The operation of any cargo vessel includes risks such as mechanical failure, physical damage, collision, property loss octargo
damage and business interruption due to political circumstance®igrf@ountries, hostilities and labor strikes. In addition, there is always
an inherent possibility of marine disaster, including oil spills and other environmental mishaps, and the liabilitiesarismnging and
operating vessels in internationaldea OPA, which imposes virtually unlimited liability upon owners, operators and bareboat charterers ¢
any vessel trading in the exclusive economic zone of the United States of America for certain oil pollution accidedtstadtiS¢ates of
America, ha made liability insurance more expensive for ship owners and operators trading in the United States of America market. W
we believe that our present insurance coverage is adequate, not all risks can be insured, and there can be no gaayepefihataim
will be paid, or that we will always be able to obtain adequate insurance coverage at reasonable rates.

Hull and Machinery Insurance

We have obtained marine hull and machinery and war risk insurance, which include the risk of actustroctive total loss, for all of
our vessels. The vessels are each covered up to at least their fair market values or such higher amounts as maycmeettired t
requirements of any outstanding indebtedness on a particular vessel, with dedlict#ithounts of approximately $100 to $200.

We arrange, as necessary, increased value insurance for our vessels. With the increased value insurance, in casebthetatssel,
we can recover the sum insured under the increased value ipddidglition to the sum insured under the hull and machinery policy.
Increased value insurance also covers excess liabilities which are not recoverable in full by the hull and machineby petis@s of
under insurance.

Protection and Indemnity Insuance

Protection and indemnity insurance is provided by mutual protection and indemnity associations, or P&l associationsjerhimtirco
third-party liabilities in connection with our shipping activities. This includes tpardy liability and otherelated expenses of injury or death
of crew, passengers and other third parties, loss or damage to cargo, claims arising from collisions with other vegeeis,athara
third-party property, pollution arising from oil or other substances, and saliageg and other related costs, including wreck removal.
Protection and indemnity insurance is a form of mutual indemnity insurance, extended by protection and indemnity midtiahassoc
"clubs."

Our current protection and indemnity insurance coverage for pollutiontsli®h per vessel per incident. The 14 P&I associations that
comprise the International Group insure approximately 90% of the world's commercial tonnage and have enteredling@agrpement to
reinsure each association's liabilities. Each P&l association has capped its exposure to this pooling agreentatioat $&4 member of
a P&l association, which is a member of the International Group, we are subject to cdlle paylae associations based on its claim records
as well as the claim records of all other members of the individual associations and members of the pool of P&l assmuiatising the
International Group.
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Loss of Hire Insurance

We have not obtained loss of hire insurance for any of our vessels. Loss of hire insurance generally provides coverbigs afains
charter hire that result from the loss of use of a vessel. We wighweannually whether obtaining and/or maintaining this insurance is cost
effective. Our ability to obtain loss of hire insurance is subject to market conditions and general availability.

Kidnap and Ransom

We have kidnap and ransom insurance on a bggase basis, generally when one of our vessels is transitioning in an area where acts
piracy are known to take place. Kidnap and ransom insurance generally provides coverage against loss of earningdhathresult
payment of ransom, fees ofgatiators and crisis management personnel and the cost of reinstatement of replacement crew. The loss of
earning extension covers the insured for any hire lost during seizure for a certain number of days that have beentagesdeptian of
the cowerage, typically either 90, 120 or 18ays.

Procedures in the Event of an Insured Event

Marine casualties are an inherent risk in the shipping industry. If one of our vessels undergoes a marine casualtytontaketprmmpt
action in consultabn with the appropriate insurers, as described above, to ascertain the extent of any damage to our vessel, its cargo, t
crew, the vessel's ability to complete its charter and any environmental impact and the appropriate steps to try tbenitigateof the
casualty on our financial condition and results of operations.

Legal Proceedings

We are not currently a party to any material lawsuit that, if adversely determined, we believe would be reasonablidikely toaterial
adverse effect onur financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

Exchange Controls

Under Marshall Islands law, there are currently no restrictions on the export or import of capital, including foreigreecmhiziolg or
restrictions that affect the rendtice of dividends, interest or other payments tenesident holders of our common stock.

ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The following management's discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our historical consolidatedtéitemeiatiss
and accompanying notes included elsewhere in this report. This discussion contains fookiagistatements that reflieaur current views
with respect to future events and financial performance. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticigeted in t
forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, such as those set forth in the sectioriRistitleactors" and elsewhere in this
report.

The historical consolidated financial results of FreeSeas described below are presented, unless otherwise stateds iaftboitsaind
States dollars.

Overview

Our fleet consists of seven Handysize vessels and two Handymax vessels that carry a variety of drybulk commoditiesronotuding
grain and coal, which are referred to as "major bulks," as well as bauxite, phosphate, fertilizers, steel prodottsugamend rice, or
"minor bulks." Additionally, we entered into contracts to purchase two Handysize drybulk carriers of approximately 33¢g@h dinam a
reputable Chinese shipyard, scheduled for delivery in the second and third quarter of 28f1Maj46, 2011, the aggregate dwt of our
operational fleet is approximately 247,446 dwt and the average age of our fleet is approximately 12.8 years.

We are currently focusing on the Handysize and Handymax sectors, which we believe are mome indisatypes of cargoes that they
can carry and trade routes they can follow, and offer less volatile returns than larger vessel classes. We may, hoinelangexodpybulk
vessels if appropriate opportunities present themselves.

We have contreted the management of our fleet to our Manager. Our Manager provides technical management of our fleet, account
services and office space and has subcontracted the charter antigstest management of our fleet to Safbulk. While Safbulk is respensibl
for finding and arranging charters for our vessels, the final decision to charter our vessels remains with us.



Recent Developments
Sale of M/V Free Destiny

On July30, 2010, we entered into an agreement to sell theAiéé Destinya 1982built 25,240 dwt Handysize drybulk vessel, for a
price of $3,213. The vessel was delivered to the buyers on ARgu2010. We recognized a gain of $807. From the proceeds of the sale, \
prepaid $2,700 toward the Deutsche Bank Nederland loan facility.
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Newbuilding Contracts

On Augustl?, 2010, we entered into newbuilding contracts with a Chinese shipyard for the construction of two Handysize drybulk ve
of approximately 33,600 dwt each for an aggate purchase price of approximately $48,800 (excluding extra costs of approximately $92(
The vessels are scheduled for delivery in the second and third quartersp of 2012. We have determined that under ptesertitiozike
there is an arbitrage opgunity in ordering two newbuildings that yield higher individual earnings potential over a combined available
lifespan of 56years upon delivery, compared with three of its existing older vessels which have a combined remaining useful lifesf 39
ard are worth the same aggregate value as the aggregate newbuilding contract price for the two newbuildings.

Commitments for Newbuildings Pr®elivery and PosDelivery Financing

On Septembet0, 2010, we signed an offer letter with ABN AMRO Bank sa@ subject to customary legal documentation, binding
commitments for prelelivery and postlelivery debt financing up to an amount of $32,400 for the construction of the two newbuildings.

1:5 Reverse Stock Split

On SeptembeB0, 2010 in the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders our shareholders approved a reverse stock split of our issue
outstanding common stock, effective on Octobe2010, at a ratio of one share for every five shares outstanding. The reverselgtock sp
consolidates five shares of common stock into one share of common stock, par value of $.001 per share.

Vessels Classified as "Held for Sale" and Impairment Charges

On Octoberl, 2010, we classified the M/NWree Herg a 1995built 24,318 dwt Hangsize drybulk vessel, as "held for sale" for the year
ended Decembed1, 2010 at its estimated market value, less cost to sell, as all criteria required for the classification of a velsstdras "he
sale" were met. To date, no agreement has been refacbeltithe M/VFree Hero Additionally, on February 28, 2011, we initiated a plan of
sale of the M/MFree Neptunga 1996built 30,838 dwt Handysize drybulk vessel, and Miée Impala a 1997built 24,111 dwt Handysize
drybulk vessel. We have individuglhssessed for recoverability the carrying values of each of the above vessels. We have recorded at
DecembeBl, 2010 an impairment loss of $26ndllion by reference to the fair market values of the Nifée Heroand the M/VFree
Impala No impairment los was recognized for the M/Nree Neptunas its fair value exceeded its carrying value.

Sale of M/V Free Envoy

On April 14, 2011, we entered into an agreement to sell the M/V Free Envoy, ®©0i#326,318 dwt Handysize dry bulk carrier, for a
sale price of $4,200. The vessel was delivered to the buyers oa3@@11. A gain will be realized in the second quarter ol 2The
major part of the sale proceeds will be applied towards reducing our debt.

Employment and Charter Rates

All of our vessels are currently being chartered in the spot market. The following table presents our fleet informakitay 46,0£2011:

Vessel Name Type Built Dwt Employment
MV Handyma: 200¢: 50,24¢ About 35 month time barter at $14,000 per de¢
for the first 120 days and $15,500 for the bala
Free Lady period through May/Jun2011
M/ Handyma: 200z 47,77 Minimum 60 to about 90 day time charter at
$16,000 per day plus gross delivery bonus
Free Jupiter $270,000 through July/Augugdl1l
M/V Handysize 199¢ 24,11 About 80day time charter trip at $10,000 per c
through May/Jun011
Free Knight
M/V Handysize 199¢ 23,99 About 62day time charter trip at $9,100 per di
through
Free Maverick
May/June2011
M/V Handysize 1997 24,11 About 30day time charter trip at $9,900 per di

through May/Jun011
Free Impala



MV

Free Neptune

MV

Free Hero

MV

Free Goddess

Handysize

Handysize

Handysiz¢

199¢

199t

199t

32

30,83t

24,31¢

22,05

4-6 months time charter at $14,000 per day for
first 115 days and $15,250 thereafter,

through May/July2011

About 2025 day time charter trip at $10,500 p
day through May011

4-6 months time charter at $12,000 per day
through August/Octobe2011




Table of Contents

Acquisition of Vessels

From time to time, as opportunities arise and depending on the availability of financing, we intend to acquire adddiuitssedc
drybulk carriers. When a vessel is acquired free of charter, we enter into a new charter contract. The shipping éslinsioynesdays (also
referred to as "voyage" or "operating” days) to measure the number of days in a period during which vessels actualtgyemarate

Consistent with shipping industry practice, we treat the acquisition of a vessel (whethexdasith or without a charter) as the
acquisition of an asset rather than a business. When we acquire a vessel, we conduct, also consistent with shippimgdticeisany
inspection of the physical condition of the vessel, unless practical conigiderdd not allow such an inspection. We also examine the
vessel's classification society records. We do not obtain any historical operating data for the vessel from the selteit degider that
information material to our decision on acquiring essel.

Prior to the delivery of a purchased vessel, the seller typically removes from the vessel all records and log boolgs pastididiancial
records and accounts related to the vessel. Upon the change in ownership, the technical management bgtween the seller's technical
manager and the seller is automatically terminated and the vessel's trading certificates are revoked by its flagestantithih buyer
determines to change the vessel's flag state.

When a vessel has beender a voyage charter, the seller delivers the vessel free of charter to the buyer. When a vessel is under timi
charter and the buyer wishes to assume that charter, the buyer cannot acquire the vessel without the charterer'satoagess et
between the buyer and the charterer for the buyer to assume the charter. The purchase of a vessel does not in itseltctiansiebd¢icause
the charter is a separate service agreement between the former vessel owner and the charterer.

When we acquire vessel and want to assume or renegotiate a related time charter, we must take the following steps:
Obtain the charterer's consent to us as the new owner;

Obtain the charterer's consent to a new technical manager;

Obtai the charterer's consent to a new flag for the vessel, if applicable;

Arrange for a new crew for the vessel;

Replace all hired equipment on board the vessel, such as gas cylinders and communication equipment;

Negotiate and enter into new insurance contracts for the vessel through our own insurance brokers;

o 3o Do o Do Do P>

Register the vessel under a flag state and perform the related inspections in order to obtain new traditgsceaificdae flag
state, if we change the flag state;

)

Implement a new planned maintenance program for the vessel; and

)

Ensure that the new technical manager obtains new certificates of compliance with the safety and vessel security oétheati
flag state.

Business Components and Activities

Our business comprises the following primary components:

A Employment and operation of our drybulk carriers; and

A Management of the financial, general and administrative elements involved in the ownership and operation of our drybi
The employment and operation of our vessels involve the following activities:
Vessel maintenance and repair;
Planning and undergoing ddocking, special surveys and other major repairs;
Organizing and undergoing regular classification society surveys;
Crew selection and training;
Vessel spares and stores supply;
Vessel bunkering;
Contingency response planning;

Onboard safety procedures auditing;

o Bo Do Jo Do Do Do Do P>

Accounting;
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A Vessel insurance arrangemer
A Vessel chartering;
A Vessel hire management; anc

A Vessel performance monitorir

Critical Accounting Policies

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated fiaareziéd,stehich
have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of those financial statements requires ustitoatekearsl
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses and related discloseref avihindatcial
statements. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions anahso@ditiical accounting policies are those
that reflect significant judgments of uncertainties and potentially result in materially different results under differmptiass and
conditions. We have described below what we believe are our most @@emainting policies, because they generally involve a
comparatively higher degree of judgment in their application. For a description of all our significant accounting pedidiese £ to our
consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of Longdived AssetsWe follow the guidance under ASC 360, "Property, Plant and Equipment,” which addresses financial
accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of-limegl assets. The standard requires thatloregl assets andertain
identifiable intangibles held and used or disposed of by an entity be reviewed for impairment whenever events or chrangestdnees
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. When the estimate of undisdotintes, eaxsluding interest
charges, expected to be generated by the use of the asset is less than its carrying amount, we should evaluateathéngssietfent loss.
Measurement of the impairment loss is based on the fair value of the asset wleitehriined based on management estimates and
assumptions and by making use of available market data. We evaluate the carrying amounts and periods overlvieidlatsags are
depreciated to determine if events have occurred which would require ratidifito their carrying values or useful lives. In evaluating
useful lives and carrying values of lofiged assets, management reviews certain indicators of potential impairment, such as future
undiscounted net operating cash flows, vessel sales andapas;ibusiness plans and overall market conditions. In performing the
recoverability tests we determine future undiscounted net operating cash flows for each vessel and compare it to taeryessebdue.
The future undiscounted net operating cdstv$ are determined by considering our alternative courses of action, estimated vessel's
utilization, its scrap value, the charter revenues from existing time charters for the fixed fleet days and an estiyatesl ctelter
equivalent for the unfixedays over the remaining estimated useful life of the vessel, net of vessel operating expenses adjusted for infla
and cost of scheduled major maintenance. When our estimate of future undiscounted net operating cash flows for aloyvezsbahisie
vessel's carrying value, the carrying value is written down to the vessel's fair market value, if the fair market vedue¢haridhe vessel's
carrying value, by recording a charge to operations. As of Dece3tib@010, we performed an impairmensessment of its lontived
assets by comparing the undiscounted net operating cash flows for each vessel to its respective carrying value. Ttdagitprsicand
assumptions we used in each future undiscounted net operating cash flow analysis,inchotedothers, operating revenues;tofé days,
dry-docking costs, operating expenses and management fee estimates. Revenue assumptions were based on contracted émaptarter
the end of life of the current contract of each vessel as webragFd Freight Agreements (FFAs) and market historical average time chart
rates for the remaining life of the vessel after the completion of the current contracts. In addition, we used annnglexpenasies
escalation factor and an estimate of ofehdays. All estimates used and assumptions made were in accordance with our internal budgets
historical experiences. Our assessment concluded that no impairment existed as of D&te2Wi€x for any of its vessels which it intends
to hold, as the fwre undiscounted net operating cash flows per vessel exceeded the carrying value of each vessel. As a result of our de
to sell the M/VFree Impalaand the M/VFree Herq an impairment loss of $26,631, of which $17,253 relates to theRvw¥ Impalaand
$9,378 relates to the M/Free Herq was recognized in 2010 and reflected in our consolidated statement of operations.

Vessels' Depreciatiorthe cost of our vessels is depreciated on a stréiighbasis over the vessels' remaining economiaulifeés
from the acquisition date, after considering the estimated residual value. Effectivé,AR0@9, and following management's reassessment
of the useful lives of our assets, the fleet useful life was increased from 2¥y¢ar88 Management'stesate was based on the current
vessels' operating condition, as well as the conditions prevailing in the market for the same type of vessels.

Accounting for Special Survey and Batgcking CostsWe follow the deferral method of accounting for spesialvey and drdocking
costs, whereby actual costs incurred are deferred and are amortized over a period of five and two and a half yeaedy .rdsgpeatial
survey or drydocking is performed prior to the scheduled date, the remainiagnantizedbalances are immediately writtexff. Indirect
costs and/or costs related to ordinary maintenance, carried out while at dry dock, are expensed when incurred asptexydinamt
future economic benefit.

Accounting for Revenue and Expenggsvene is recorded when services are rendered, we have a signed charter agreement or othet
evidence of an arrangement, the price is fixed or determinable, and collection is reasonably assured. Voyage reveimagsortditéon
of cargo are recognized ratg over the estimated relative transit time of each voyage. A voyage is deemed to commence when a vesse
available for loading of its next fixed cargo and is deemed to end upon the completion of the discharge of the curtgnteamywoyage
charte, we agree to provide a vessel for the transportation of specific goods between specific ports in return for payngneteaf @poza
freight rate per ton of cargo. Revenues from time chartering of vessels are accounted for as operating leasassaed@gaifed on a



straight line basis as the average revenue over the rental periods of such charter agreements, as service is provitladeAitiraves
placing a vessel at the charterers' disposal for a period of time during which the chaeetbewessel in return for the payment of a
specified daily hire rate. Short period charters for less than three months are referred to as spot charters. Timedeatdirtgrdieee months
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to a year are generally referred to as medium term charters. All other time charters are considered long term. Voyagy@exaeinse
consisting of port, canal and bunker expenses that are unique to a particular charter, are paid for by the raertérer charter
arrangements or by us under voyage charter arrangements, except for commissions, which are always paid for by usfrelyaneéiess
type. All voyage and vessel operating expenses are expensed as incurred, except for commissiossio@smraideferred over the related
voyage charter period to the extent revenue has been deferred since commissions are earned as our revenues are éatosses oobab
voyages in progress are provided for in full at the time such losses can keexhtim

Important Measures for Analyzing Results of Operations
We believe that the important measures for analyzing trends in the results of our operations consist of the following:

A Ownership dayswe define ownership days as the total number of calendar days in a period during which each vessel in t
was owned by us. Ownership days are an indicator of the size of the fleet over a period and affect both the amouns of rev
earned and themaount of expenses that we incur during that period.

A Available daysWe define available days as the number of ownership days lesggtegate number of days that our vessels ar
off-hire due to major repairs, ddockings or special or intermediate surveys. The shipping industry uses available days to n
the number of ownership days in a period during which vessels are acapalyle of generating revenues.

A Operating daysWe define operating days as the number of available days in a period less the aggregate number of days t
are offthire due to any reason, including urdeeen circumstances. The shipping industry uses operating days to measure th
aggregate number of days in a period during which vessels could actually generate revenues.

A Fleet utilization.We calculate fleet utilization by dividing the number of operating days during a period by the number of av
days during that period. The shipping industry uses fleet utilization to measure a company's efficiency properly opeesiis
and ninimizing the amount of days that its vessels areno# for any unforeseen reason.

A Off-hire. The period a vessel is unable to perform the services for which it is required under a chahtiee. @2ffiods typically
include days spent undergoing repairs anddirgking, whether or not scheduled.

A Time charterA time charter is a contract for the use of a vessel for a specific period of time during which the charterer pay
substantially all of the voyage expenses, including port costs, canal charges and bunkers expenses. The vessel ovwreessph
operathg expenses, which include crew wages, insurance, technical maintenance costs, spares, stores and supplies and
on gross voyage revenues. Time charter rates are usually fixed during the term of the charter. Prevailing time cloarter rate
fluctuate on a seasonal and yéayear basis and may be substantially higher or lower from a prior time charter agreement v
subject vessel is seeking to renew the time charter agreement with the existing charterer or enter into a new timeeatmarnéer
with another charterer. Fluctuations in time charter rates are influenced by changes in spot charter rates.

A Voyage charterA voyage charter is an agreement to charter the vessel for an agréed asmount of freight from specified
loading port(s) to specified discharge port(s). In contrast to a time charter, the vessel owner is required to paylgudistditia
voyage expenses, including port costs, canal charges and bunkers expenses, in addition to the vessel operating expenses

A Time charter equivalent (TCEJhe time charter equivalent, or TCE, equals voyage revenues minus voyage expenses divid
number of operating days during the relevant time period, including the trip to the loading port. TCE-GAARstandard
seaborne transportation indusprgrformance measure used primarily to compare peoiqeriod changes in a seaborne
transportation company's performance despite changes in the mix of charter types (i.e., spot charters, time chartboatind
charters) under which the vessels magbwloyed during a specific period.

A Adjusted EBITDAWe consider Adjusted EBITDA to represent net earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amorti:
amortization of deferred revenue, back log asset, (gais)ionslerivative instruments, steblsed compensation expense, vesse
impairment loss, provision and writdfs of insurance claims and bad debts and (gain)/loss on sale of vessel. Under the law:
Marshall Islands, we are not subject to tax on irggomal shipping income. However, we are subject to registration and tonne
taxes, which have been included in vessel operating expenses. Accordingly, no adjustment for taxes has been made &br
calculating Adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA israan-GAAP measure and does not represent and should not be considel
an alternative to net income or cash flow from operations, as determined by U.S. GAAP, and our calculation of Adjusted E
may not be comparable to that reported by other compakd@ssted EBITDA is included herein because it is an alternative
measure of our performance.

Revenues

Our revenues were diewn primarily by the number of vessels we operate, the number of operating days during which our vessels gen
revenues, and the amount of daily charter hire that our vessels earn under charters. These, in turn, are affected by factorsber
including the following:

A The nature and duration of our charters;



A

The amount of time that we spent repositioning its ves
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A The amount of time that our vessels spent indbgk undergoing repairs;

A Maintenance and upgrade work;

A The age, condition and specifications of our vessels;

A The levels of supply and demand in the drybulk carrier transportation mark
A Other factors affecting charter rates for drybulk carriers under voyage chari

A voyage charter is generally a contract to carry a specific cargo from a load port to a discharge port for-apagteéal amount.
Under voyage charters, voyage expenses such as port, canal and fuel costs are paid by the vessel owner. Attidp isnaestioaterm
time charter for a voyage between load port(s) and discharge port(s) under which the charterer pays fixed daily haregatenonthly
basis for use of the vessel. A period time charter is charter for a vessel for a fixed penadat a set daily rate. Under trip time charters
and time charters, the charterer pays voyage expenses. Under all three types of charters, the vessel owners paydativessgpepses,
which include crew costs, provisions, deck and engine stit@scating oil, insurance, maintenance and repairs. The vessel owners are als
responsible for each vessel's-diycking and intermediate and special survey costs.

Vessels operating on period time charters provide more predictable cash flows, but can yield lower profit margins thapewedse] in
the spot charter market for single trips during periods characterized by favorable market conditions.

Vessels perating in the spot charter market generate revenues that are less predictable, but can yield increased profit n@rgins durit
periods of improvements in drybulk rates. Spot charters also expose vessel owners to the risk of declining drybulkisatgS@elcosts.
Our vessels were chartered on period time charters as well as in the spot market during the year ended December 31, 2010.

A standard maritime industry performance measure is the "time charter equivalent” or "TCE." TCE rates araglefingche charter
revenues less voyage expenses during a period divided by the number of our available days during the period, whiemtisvitbnsist
industry standards. Voyage expenses include port charges, bunker (fuel oil and diesel oil) expeaisd®rges and commissions. Our
average TCE rate for financial year 2008, 2009 and 2010 was $25,719, $16,105 and $15,742, respectively.

Vessel Operating Expenses

Vessel operating expenses include crew wages and related costs, the cost of irsxypanses relating to repairs and maintenance, the
costs of spares and consumable stores, tonnage taxes and other miscellaneous expenses. Vessel operating expengeegamnaadtsre
of a fixed nature.

Principal Factors Affecting Our Business
The principal factors that affected our financial position, results of operations and cash flows include the following:
A Number of vessels owned and operated,;
Charter market rates and periods of charter hire;
Vessel operating expenses and direct voyage costs, which are incurred in both U.S. dollars and other currencies, posnaril

Management fees and service fees;

o Do Do P>

Depreciation and amortization expenses, which are a function of vessel cost, any signifiecacgipisgton improvements,
estimated useful lives, estimated residual scrap values, and fluctuations in the carrying value of our vessels, aydeakiag, d
and special survey costs;

A Financing costs related to indebtedness associated with the vessels; and

A Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates.

Performance Indicators

The following performance measures were derived from our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ende®Decembe
2010, 2009 and 2008 included elsewhere in this report. The historical data included below is not necessarily indicatitaref ou
performance.

For the year ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Adjusted EBITDA (1) $26,83¢ $30,33: $41,51°
Fleet Data:
Average number of vessels (2) 9.6t 9.3t 7.3¢€
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For the year ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Ownership days (3) 3,52 3,41¢ 2,68¢
Available days (4) 3,43( 3,37: 2,60¢
Operating days (5) 3,32¢ 3,29¢ 2,441
Fleet utilization (6) 97.1% 97.1% 93.7%
Average Daily Results:

Average TCE rate (7) $ 15,74 $16,10¢ $ 25,71¢
Vessel operating expenses (8) 5,28: 5,21¢ 6,084
Management fees (9) 561 54¢ 61€
General and administrative expenses (10) 1,115 1,07: 1,39(
Total vessel operating expenses (11) $ 5,84: $ 5,761 $ 6,70(

(1) Adjusted EBITDA reconciliation to net income: Adjusted EBITDA represents net earnifagge btaxes, depreciation and amortizat
amortization of deferred revenue, back log asset, (gain)/loss on derivative instrumentsastatkompensation expense, vessel
impairment loss, interest and finance cost net, provision and-effgef insurace claims and bad debts and (gain)/loss on sale o
vessel. Under the laws of the Marshall Islands, we are not subject to tax on international shipping income. Howevehjeet dne
registration and tonnage taxes, which have been included in vessaling expenses. Accordingly, no adjustment for taxes has t
made for purposes of calculating Adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA is a®AAP measure and does not represent and shoul
be considered as an alternative to net income or cash flow frerat@ms, as determined by U.S. GAAP, and our calculation of
Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to that reported by other companies. Adjusted EBITDA is included herein because
alternative measure of our performance.

For the year ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Net income/(loss) $(21,82) $ 6,85¢ $19,19:
Depreciation and amortization 17,25 17,74¢ 14,13
Amortization of deferred revenue (1,039 (81) (36¢)
Back log asset o} 907 89¢
Stockbased compensation expense 55¢ 494 107
Vessel impairment loss 26,63 o} o}
Gain/(loss) on derivative instruments 465 111 1,45¢
Interest and finance cost, net of interest income 4,33¢ 4,29¢ 5,87:
(Gain) on sale of vessel (807) o} o}
Provision and writeoffs of insurance claims and bad debts 1,25( 0 221
Adjusted EBITDA $ 26,83« $30,33° $41,51°

(2) Average number of vessels is the number of vessels that constituted our fleet for the relevant period, as measuredbyhie su
number of days each vessel was a part of our fleet during the period divided by the number of calendar days in the period.

(3) Ownership days are the total number of daya period during which the vessels in our fleet have been owned by us. Ownershi
are an indicator of the size of our fleet over a period and affect both the amount of revenues and the amount of etixpensestt:
during a period.

(4) Available days are the number of ownership days less the aggregate number of days that our vesddale aheeotib major repairs,
dry dockings or special or intermediate surveys. The shipping industry uses available days to measure the numbétiptlaysar
a period during which vessels should be capable of generating revenues.

(5) Operating days are the number of available days less the aggregate number of days that our vess$eéle dreeaffany reason,

including unforeseen circumstances. The shipping industry uses operating days to measure the aggregate number ofiddys i
during which vessels could actually generate revenues.



(6) We calculate fleet utilization by dividing the number of our fleet's operating days during a period by the number of alegiabl

(7)

during the period. The shipping industry uses fleet utilization to measure a company's efficiency in properly opemésestand
minimizing the amount of days that its vessels arénwéf for any unforeseen reasons.

TCE is a noriGAAP measure of the average daily revenue performance of a vessel on a per voyage basis. Our method of ca
TCE is consistet with industry standards and is determined by dividing operating revenues (net of voyage expenses and con
by operating days for the relevant time period. Voyage expenses primarily consist of port, canal and fuel costs tha tseauniq
partiaular voyage, which would otherwise be paid by the charterer under a time charter contract. TCE is a standard shipping
performance measure used primarily to compare paoqeriod changes in a shipping company's performance despite changes

mix of charter types (i.e., spot charters, time charters and bareboat charters) under which the vessels may be emgnyed bet
periods:
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For the year ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Operating revenues $57,65( $57,53: $ 66,68¢
Voyage expenses and commissions (5,244 (4,487) (3,910
Net operating revenues 52,40¢ 53,05( 62,77¢
Operating days 3,32¢ 3,29¢ 2,441
Time charter equivalent daily rate $ 15,74. $16,10¢ $ 25,71¢

(8) Average daily vessel operating expenses, which includes crew costs, provisions, deck and engine stores, lubricatiagagi, inst
maintenance and repairs, is calculated by dividing vessel operating expenses by ownership days for the relevant time perioc

For the year ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Vessel operating expenses $ 18,60 $17,81: $16,35¢
Ownership days 3,52 3,41¢ 2,68¢
Daily vessel operating expenses $ 5,282 $ 5,21¢ $ 6,08¢

(9) Daily management fees are calculated by dividing total management fees paid on ships owned by ownership days for thmeae
period.

(10) Average daily general and administrative expenses are calculated by dividing general and administrative expenses (excludi
stockbased compensation expense) by ownership days for the relevant period.

(11) Total vessel operating expenses, or TVGBE measurement of our total expenses associated with operating our vessels. TVO
sum of vessel operating expense and management fees. Daily TVOE is calculated by dividing TVOE by fleet ownershipeday
relevant time period.

Results of Operations
Year Ended Decembedl, 2010 as Compared to Year Ended Decengier2009

REVENUES Operating revenues for the year ended Dece®bg2010 were $57,650 compared to $57,533 for the year ended
DecembeBl, 2009. The slight increase of $117 is attributable to the increase of the average number of vessels in our fleefdrahe 9.35
year ended Decembad, 2009 to 9.65 for the year ended Decendder2010, which was partially offset by the lower averdajéy TCE rate
of $15,742 in the year ended DecemBg&y 2010 compared to an average daily TCE rate of $16,105 in the year ended D&der2b@®.

VOYAGE EXPENSES AND COMMISSIONS/oyage expenses, which include bunkers, cargo expenses, port expamsagency
fees, tugs, extra insurance and various expenses, were $1,887 for the year ended Bac@®b@ras compared to $1,394 for the year
ended Decembed1, 2009. The variance in voyage expenses is duettte(Righer bunker consumption deeiicreased consumption during
off-hire and idle days, (ifhigher port expenses and (iifje increased cargo inspection expenses due to the increased discharging of cargc
South and West African ports. For the year ended Dece®ih@010, commissioreharged amounted to $3,357, as compared to $3,089 for
the year ended Decemligt, 2009. The increase in commissions is mainly due to the small increase of operating revenues for the year
DecembeB1, 2010 compared to the year ended Dece@beP00%nd a slightly higher average commission of 5.8% over total operating
revenues for the year ended Decener2010 versus an average commission of 5.4% over total operating revenues for the year ended
DecembeB1, 2009. The commission fees represent cassimmns paid to the Manager, other affiliated companies associated with family
members of our CEO, and unaffiliated third parties relating to vessels chartered during the relevant periods. For tieel yeacenbeBl,
2010, commissions paid to the Managqual 1.25% of gross hire or freight for vessels, which in turn pays 1.25% of gross hire and freigh
Safbulk.

OPERATING EXPENSES Vessel operating expenses, which include crew cost, provisions, deck and engine stores, lubricating oil,
insurancemaintenance and repairs, totaled $18,607 in the year ended De@&ImB610, as compared to $17,813 in the year ended
DecembeBl, 2009. The slight increase of $794, which is translated to daily operating expenses of $5,282 for the year ended3ecembe
2010 versus $5,218 for the year ended Dece®bge2009 is mainly attributed to the higher operating expenses incurred during vessels
dry-dockings which amounted to four for the year ended DeceBihe?010 compared to three for the year ended Dece3ib@009.



DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATIO8! For the year ended Decemlsdr, 2010, depreciation expense totaled $15,365, as compared
to $16,006 for the year ended DecemBEr2009. The decrease of $641 in depreciation expense resulted from the cltamgkepreciation
policy as described below in the "Liquidity and Capital Resources" section, from the classification leféd/Meroas "held for sale" in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets for the year ended De8én@t0 and the sale of M/Free Destinyon August27, 2010. The
decrease was to some extent alleviated by the increase of the average number of vessels to 9.65 in the year end8d , 283l
9.35 in the year ended DecemBéar, 2009. For the year ended Decenfier2010amortization of drydockings and special survey costs
totaled $1,888, an increase of $146 over the expenses reported in the year ended [Bdce@ber During the year ended Decentiier
2010, we amortized eight vessels' scheduleeddigkings and spediaurveys versus six vessels' scheduleddirgking and special surveys
during the year ended Deceml3dr, 2009.
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For the year ended Decemisdr, 2010 and 2009, batg asset's amortization expense amounted to $nil and $907, respectively, and is
included in voyage revenue, as the recognized asset in accordance with the acquisition of vessdftbe M&verickhas been fully
amortized durin@009.

MANAGEMENT FEE® Management fees for the year ended Decer@beP010 totaled $1,978, as compared to $1,874 in the year
ended Decembed1, 2009. The $104 increase in management fees resulted from the increased average number of vesgetechmiealth
management of the Manager to 9.65 in the year ended Dec8in#2610 from 9.35 in the year ended Decen®igr2009 and the higher
monthly management fee since Octobe09.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENS& SGeneral and administratiexpenses, which include, among other things, legal, audit,
audit related expenses, travel expenses, communications expenses, and services fees and expenses charged by théeh $dag@4, tota
(including $559 stoclbased compensation expense) for the geded Decembe&¥l, 2010, as compared to $4,156 (including $494
stockbased compensation expense) for the year ended Dec8it#809. The difference was primarily due to the higheraasm
stockbased compensation costs and woitiof $184 of filingexpenses.

PROVISION AND WRITBEFFS OF INSURANCE CLAIMS AND BAD DEBJ SWe agreed to settle the insurance claim of the M/V
Free Jupiterin exchange of a full and definite settlement with the salvage company involved in the incident and a cash p&g3@mb o
us. In accordance with the agreement, we wrote off $986. The remaining balance of $264 mainly refersfis wfiieng outstanding
accounts receivable.

GAIN ON SALE OF VESSEBLWe recognized a gain of $807 on the sale of the M€ Desiny, a 1982built 25,240 dwt Handysize
dry bulk vessel, for a price of $3,213. The vessel was delivered to the buyers on Zyq60.

VESSEL IMPAIRMENT LOSS In SeptembeR010, we initiated negotiations with various unrelated parties for thefstile M/V Free
Hero, the 1995 built 24,318 dwt Handysize dry bulk vessel. Accordingly, she was classified as an asset "held for sale,uldddh s
impairment loss of $9,378 as the vessel was recorded at the lower of its carrying amounebrdad@ss cost to sell. The effect of the
suspension of the depreciation for the fourth quarter of 2010, as a result of the classification of EnediAéroas asset "held for sale,"”
was to increase net income for the year ended Dece3ib@010 by $49 or $0.06 per weighted average number of shares, both basic and
diluted. Due to our intention to proceed with the sales of the M&¢é Impalaand M/V Free Neptungwe performed an impairment test as
of DecembeB1, 2010 and concluded that no impairmerdrge was required for the MfStee NeptuneAn impairment charge of $17,097
representing the amount by which the carrying amount of the vessdridé&/mpalaexceeded her fair value was recognized, which
together with the associated deferred dry docking special survey costs amounting to $156 are reflected in "Vessel impairment loss" in 1
consolidated statement of operations.

FINANCING COST® Financing costs amounted to $4,375 in the year ended Dec8mi&d10 and $4,323 for the year ended
December3d1, 2009. The increase of $52 was mainly due to the increased weighted average interest rate to 3.0% during the year ende
DecembeBl, 2010 compared to 2.5% in the year ended DeceBih@009, and the commitment fees of $171 incurred in relatitmet
offer letter signed for the financing of the vessels under construction. The increase was partly counterbalanced asthandecre
amortization of deferred financing fees by $134 in the year ended Dec8ini&10.

GAIN /(LOSS) ON INTEREST RBABWAPS Under the terms of the two swap agreements, we make quarterly payments to the
counterparty based on decreasing notional amounts, standing at $7,646 and $4,093 as of B&c2ftat fixed rates of 5.07% and
5.55% respectively, and the coumarty makes quarterly floatiagite payments of-tnonth LIBOR to us based on the same decreasing
notional amounts. The swaps mature in Septer2d&b and Jul015, respectively.

The gain (lossbn our two interest rate swaps, which is reflected éncitnsolidated statements of operations comprises of a realized los:
of $594 and an unrealized gain of $129, and a realized loss of $671 and an unrealized gain of $560 for the year ende@1DdMlzad
2009, respectively. The change is attributdbléhe interest rate differential between floating and fixed interest rates during 2010. We use
interest rate swaps to manage net exposure to interest rate fluctuations related to its borrowings.

NET LOSS® Net loss for the year ended DecemB&y 20D was $21,821, as compared to $6,859 net income for the year ended
Decembe1, 2009. The net loss for the year ended DeceBihe2010 resulted primarily from the charge of the following extraordinary
noncash items during 2010: (i) an impairment los$286,631 of which $17,253 relates to the Mfkée Impalaand $9,378 to the M/¥ree
Hero, (ii) the writeoff of $986 that related to the full and final settlement of the Ff¥e Jupiterinsurance claim and (iithe gain of $807
from the sale of M/\Free Destiny After the elimination of these items, net income for the year ended Dec8ini2910 would total to
$4,989, as compared to $6,859 in the year ended Dec&hp2009. The decrease in net income resulted primarily from higher operating
and voyagex@enses, as well as general and administrative expenses, as explained above, which were only partially, offset by increas:
operating revenues and lower depreciation and amortization expenses.

Year Ended Decembed1, 2009 as Compared to Year Ended Decengi, 2008

REVENUES® Operating revenues for the year ended Dece®beP009 were $57,533, as compared to $66,689 generated during the
year ended Decemb8d, 2008. The decrease of $9,156 is primarily attributable to a weaker charter market environment in the year end
DecembeB1, 2009 compared to the year ended Dece@begP008, which was not counterbalanced by the increase of average number of
vesselsd 9.35 in the year ended DecemBé&r 2009 from 7.36 in the year ended Decen®tigr2008.



39




Table of Contents

VOYAGE EXPENSES AND COMMISSIONS Voyage expenses, which include bunkers, cargo expenses, port expenses, port ager
fees, tugs, extra insurance and various expenses, were $1,394 for the year ended Bac@0d@ras compared to $527 for the year ended
DecembeB1, 2008. Seven of our vessels were chartered in the spot market under short term time charters during the year ended
DecembeBl, 2009. The variation in voyage expenses reflects mainly the bunkers deliedejivery operations during 2009.

For the year ended Deceml®dr, 2009, commissions charged amounted to $3,089, as compared to $3,383 for the year ended
DecembeBl, 2008. The commission fees represent commissions paid to Safbulk through the Manager, as well as, other affiliated and
unafiliated third parties relating to vessels chartered during the relevant periods. Commissions paid to the Manager eqiagrbszbbtre
or freight for vessels, which in turn pays 1.25% of gross hire and freight to Safbulk.

OPERATING EXPENSE® Vessel operating expenses, which include crew cost, provisions, deck and engine stores, lubricating oil,
insurance, maintenance and repairs, totaled $17,813 in the year ended D&Jerabe®, as compared to $16,354 in the year ended
DecembeB1, 2008. Thisncrease of $1,459 in vessel operating expenses is a result of the increase of the average number of vessels o
9.35 during the year ended DecemBgr 2009, as compared to 7.36 during the year ended Dec8ili08. The daily vessel operating
expenses per vessel owned, however, were $5,218 for the year ended De8&n#¥#}9, as compared to $6,084 for the year ended
DecembeB1, 2008, a decrease of 14.2%. This decrease was due to the better monitoring of vessel operating expenses andcibatmore
operation of our vessels as well as deflationary pressures on wages, lubricant costs, and some categories of stosesparss a

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION® For the year ended Deceml®dr, 2009, depreciation expense totaled $16,88@&ompared
to $13,349 for the year ended DecembEr2008. The increase in depreciation expense resulted from the growth of our fleet to an averag
9.35 for the year ended DecemBdr, 2009 from an average of 7.36 for the year ended Dece&hb2008and the related investment in
fixed assets. This increase in depreciation expense has been mitigated by the change in our depreciation policy detiegchbethe
year ended Decemb8i, 2009, amortization of digockings and special survey costiated $1,742 an increase of $954 over the expenses
reported in the year ended DecemBgy 2008. During the year ended Decentier2009, we amortized five vessels' scheduleeddgkings
and special surveys versus four vessels' scheduledodiing andspecial surveys in the year ended Decendlie2008. As a result,
amortization of deferred drgrockings and special survey costs increased for the year ended DeBért@09.

Effective April 1, 2009, and following our reassessment of the usefud bf®ur assets, our vessels' useful life was increased from 27 to
28years. Our estimate was based on the current vessels' operating condition and the conditions prevailing in the magkiypmotam
vessels. The effect of this change in accountitignese, which did not require retrospective adoption as per ASC 250 "Accounting Change
and Error Corrections," was to increase net income for the year ended De@an@d9 by $1,088 or $0.21 per weighted average number
of share, both basic and diluted.

For the year ended Decemi3dr, 2009 and Decemb8f, 2008, backog asset's amortization expense amounted to $907 and $899,
respectively, and is included in voyage revenue.

MANAGEMENT FEES8 Management fees for the year ended DecerdibeP00%otaled $1,874, as compared to $2,634 for the year
ended Decembedl, 2008, which included $1,655 of management fees, $300 office renovation expenses and $679 for service fees. Th
increase in management fees from $1,655 to $1,874 resulted from thedegedddin connection with the increased number of vessels undel
the technical management by the Manager and the increase of monthly technical management fee to $16.5 per vessel fressél15 per
effective since Octob&r009. For the year ended Decembgy 3009, service fees were classified as general and administrative expenses.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSESS General and administrative expenses, which include, among other things, legal,
audit, audit related expenses, international safety codgliance expenses, travel expenses, communications expenses, and services fee
charged by the Manager, totaled $4,156 (including $494 4taskd compensation expense) for the year ended Deca8ii#09, as
compared to $2,863 (including $107 stdwksed compensation expense) for the year ended Dece&thp2008. The difference was
primarily due to the change of the classification of services fees from "management fees" to "general and administnatige’ expe
Stockbased compensation costs reflect+eash, equitypased compensation granted in the form of stock options and restricted shares.

FINANCING COSTSd Financing costs amounted to $4,323 in the year ended Dec8mli2009, as compared to $6,453 for the year
ended Decembed1, 2008. The deease of $2,130 is mainly the result of the reduced interest expense for the year ended [3ce2bér
and the lower principal balances of our bank loans outstanding in the year ended D&3grabe9. Our financing costs represent primarily
the amortied financing fees in connection with the bank loans used for the acquisition of our vessels and-tifeoftiteamortized
financing fees. For the year ended Decen#ier2009, we expensed the unamortized financing fees of $111. The $111 unamortizBddina
fees relate to the financing fees of $163 incurred for the loan of $26,250 from First Business Bank, or FBB, we obtagn200a, o
partially finance the acquisition of the Mffee Impala On Decembet5, 2009, we entered an agreement for a sewared term loan of
$27,750 from FBB to refinance its existing loan with FBB.

For the year ended Decemisdr, 2008, we expensed the unamortized financing fees of $639 in comparison with related expenses inc
for the year ended Decemlit, 20070f $2,570. The $639 unamortized financing fees were expensed in 2008 as a result of the refinanci
of the HSH Nordbank AG loan facility with a new credit facility from Credit Suisse.

The amortization of financing fees for the year ended Dece®1h2009 totaled $345 or a decrease of $8 over the amortized expenses
reported in the year ended DecemBgy 2008.

LOSS ON DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTSS Under the terms of the two swap agreements, we make quarterly payments to the



counterparty based on decseay notional amounts, standing at $9,299 and $4,978 as of Dec8IA809 at fixed rates of 5.07% and
5.55% respectively, and the counterparty makes quarterly fleategpayments at LIBOR to us based on the same decreasing notional
amounts. The swapsature in Septemb@015 and Jul015, respectively. There were no further interest rate swap agreements conclude
the year ended Decemligt, 2009 and in the year ended Decen#igr2008.
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The loss on our two interest rate swaps, which is separately reflected in the consolidated statements of operationsfcamgaiizes!
loss of $671 and an unrealized gain of $560, and a realized loss of $395 and an unrealized loss of $1,064rfenthes i@ecemb&,
2009 and 2008, respectively.

NET INCOME3 Net income for the year ended DecemB&r 2009 was $6,859, as compared to $19,192 for the year ended
DecembeBl, 2008. The substantial decrease in net income for 2009 resulted prinaamilthe weaker freight market compared to the same
period last year.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically financed our capital requirements from equity provided by our shareholders, operating cash flogeand lon
borrowings. As 6May 16, 2011, our longerm borrowings totaled $114,871. We have primarily used our funds for capital expenditures tc
acquire and maintain our fleet, comply with international shipping standards and environmental laws and regulationssifignchyibd
requirements, make principal repayments on outstanding loan facilities, and payment of dividends. We expect to coltinperto re
operating cash flows, lorgrm borrowings, and the working capital available to us, as well as possible future eguityrfys, to fund our
future operations and possible growth. In addition, to the extent that the options and warrants currently issued arglgubsrqgised, the
proceeds from those exercises would provide us with additional funds. In 2009, we sdgpengayment of cash dividends on our common
stock because of prevailing economic conditions and to comply with restrictions in certain of our loan agreements. Baoauise ec
conditions remain uncertain, and because we are focusing on the renewdledétowe have determined not to resume the payment of cast
dividends at this time.

The dry bulk carriers we owned had an average age of approximatelyygdrstas of December 31, 2010. Effective Apyie009, and
following our reassessment oktluseful lives of our assets, the vessels' useful life was increased from 2fear28 ur estimate was based
on the current vessels' operating condition and the conditions prevailing in the market for same type of vessels. Hovoenies, eather
than a set number of years, determines the actual useful life of a vessel. As a vessel ages, the maintenance coslarhswigartspect
to the cost of surveys. So long as the revenue generated by the vessel sufficiently exceeds its maintenameeesst| will remain in use.
If the revenue generated or expected future revenue does not sufficiently exceed the maintenance costs, or if the roastteeeceed the
revenue generated or expected future revenue, then the vessel owner udsidtig seksel for scrap.

At Decembei31, 2010, our current liabilities exceeded our current assets by $2,128, as compared to $7,363 at Bec2od®enn
addition, and as further discussed under "Summary of Contractual Obligations" below, wathea@ iato two newbuilding contracts with a
Chinese shipyard for the construction of two Handysize drybulk vessels of approximately 33,600 dwt each, for an aggressgt@pce of
approximately $48,800 (excluding extra costs of approximately $928)eXected short term capital commitments to fund the constructior
installments under the shipbuilding contracts in 2011 amount to $4,880. We expect to use operating cash flows and shef pinecssgd of
vessels to pay the construction installmentdeurthe shipbuilding contracts until we take delivery of the vessels in the second and third
quarters of 2012. Cash expected to be generated from the operations assuming that current market charter hire ratesiho@iljre
may not be sufficient toover our ongoing working capital requirements and capital commitments, or for us to be in compliance with cert
covenants contained in our loan agreements. We are currently exploring several alternatives aiming to manage our walrking capi
requiremerd and other commitments in the event of current market charter hire rates will continue including a plan for a share capital
increase, disposition of certain vessels in our current fleet as more fully described in "Vessel Impairment Loss" andf'Restdtions”
sections, and seek to achieve additional reductions in operating and other costs.

We believe that the above plans will be sufficient to cover our working capital needs for a reasonable period of time.

Cash Flows
Year Ended Decembed1, 200 as Compared to Year Ended DecemB#r 2009

OPERATING ACTIVITIE® Net cash from operating activities decreased by $589 to $20,802 for the year ended D8teaMiEDd, as
compared to $21,391 of net cash from operating activities for the year ended De8&n#iI9. The decrease resulted from higher
operating, voyage, general and administrative expenses in the year ended D&de20&0 compared to the yeawded Decembedl,
2009.

INVESTING ACTIVITIE® Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2010 was $2,819, as compare
$11,302 for the year ended DecemB&y 2009. This decrease reflected primarily the expenditurébdaonstruction of the two
newbuilding vessels we have under contract and the net cash sale proceeds of $2,846 from the s&lreefD&Atinyn the year ended
DecembeBl, 2010, as compared to the acquisition of Nfée Neptunén the year ended @ember31, 2009 for a total cost of $11,302.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES® The cash used in financing activities for the year ended Dece8hb2010 was $20,630, as compared to
$7,126 used in the year ended Decen#ier2009. The increase in cash usednaricing activities was due to the following cash
movements:(i) scheduled repayment of bank loans of $14,808,%#)700 prepayment on Novemier2010 for the Deutsche Bank
Nederland facility as a result of the sale of vessel Mifée Destinyand (iii) an increase in restricted cash of $3,130 attributed to the pledge
deposit to ABN AMRO in respect of the guarantee provided for the second installment of the two newbuildings, countebyataaced
closing of the retention accounts with Credit Suissetdibe end of the waiver period relating to covenant breaches as of De@&imber
2008. For the year ended DecemBgy 2009, the cash used in financing activities mainly consisted e€h@duled repayments of bank



loans of $21,700 and (ii) prepayment®&,691 in total. For 2009, the cash provided from financing activities consisted of: (i) $16,244
proceeds from the followen equity offering and (ii) $6,000 from the FBB facility. The significant reduction of scheduled bank loan
repayments for the year @ed DecembeBl, 2010 is due to: (i) $500 reduction in the repayment of the Credit Suisse facility, (ii) $5,400
reduction in the repayment of the Deutsche Bank Nederland facility and (iii) $1,000 reduction in the repayment of thiitfBBnfese
reductons are mainly due to the amended repayment schedules for the loans resulting from refinancing of existing loans with FBB an
Deutsche Bank Nederland.
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Year Ended Decembedl1, 2009 as Compared dear Ended Decembedl, 2008

OPERATING ACTIVITIES Net cash from operating activities decreased by $11,172 to $21,391 for the year ended D&tePdis,
as compared to $32,563 of net cash from operating activities in the year ended D&derdf¥8. This is attributable to the weaker freight
market in the year ended DecemBér 2009 compared to the year ended Dece@bge?008.

INVESTING ACTIVITIE® Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2009 was $&@0paaed to
$182,539 for the year ended DecemB&r2008. We agreed to purchase on Augu009 the M/\MFree Neptundérom an unaffiliated third
party for approximately $11,000 and related purchase costs of $302. The $182,539 in net cash usedgractixgses for the year ended
DecembeB1, 2008 were associated with the acquisition of the Ft&& Knighton March19, 2008 for the purchase price of $39,250 and
related purchase costs of $400, with the acquisition of the fié¥ Impalaon April 2, 2008 for the purchase price of $37,500 and related
purchase costs of $420, with the acquisition of the e Ladyon July7, 2008 for a cash purchase price $65,200 and related purchase
costs of $157 and with the acquisition of the M7kée Maverickon Septembet, 2008 for the cash purchase price of $39,600 and related
purchase costs of $12.

FINANCING ACTIVITIESY The cash used in financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2009 was $7,126, as compar
cash provided from financinactivities for the year ended DecemBér 2008 amounting to $89,960. During the year ended Decedtiber
2009, we received $6,000 additional liquidity as a result of a new secured term loan of $27,750 with FBB to refinancexstitigdoan
of $21,7500n the M/VFree Impala while we repaid $28,391 of loan princip@in July28, 2009, we completed a registered offering of
10,041,151 shares of common stock (adjusted to 2,008,230 to reflect the reverse stock split), which included 1,309 (atfutiedr&s
261,943 to reflect the reverse stock split) issued pursuant to the underwriteidlaveent option. The offering resulted in net proceeds of
$16,244, after deducting underwriting fees and offering expenses. Proceeds from the offering wetmasbdfgr the acquisition of the
drybulk vessel M/\MFree Neptungfor general working capital purposes, and an amount equal to $1,691 was applied against the outstan
loan balance with Deutsche Bank Nederland as discussed in the sectionT&rom@ét” below. During the year ended DecemBér
2008, we obtained and utilized the proceeds from the Deutsche Bank Nederland loan facilities, the proceeds from théaEH &y, aaual
the proceeds from the Credit Suisse loan facility Tranche B for tlehase of the M/\Free Knightand the M/VFree Maverick the
purchase of the M/\¥Free Impalaand the purchase of the Mfee Ladyrespectively.

Long-Term Debt
We and our subsidiaries have obtained financing from affiliated and unaffiliated leodissvessels.

All of our credit facilities bear interest at LIBOR plus a margin, ranging from 2.25% to 4.25%, and are secured by nwrtieges
financed vessels and assignments of vessels' earnings and insurance coverage proceeds. They affornmativé and negative financial
covenants of the borrowers (the respective vessel owning subsidiaries), including maintenance of operating accountgasinifeposits,
average cash balances to be maintained with the lending banks (at grougridweinimum ratios for the fair values of the collateral vessels
compared to the outstanding loan balances. Each borrower is restricted under its respective loan agreement from iitaumeihg add
indebtedness, changing the vessels' flag without the fsrmmsent or distributing earnings.

The weighted average interest rate for the year ended Dec8inliz10 and the year ended Decengier2009 was 3.0% and 2.5%,
respectively. Interest expense incurred under the above loan agreements amoB)832tmét of capitalized interest $43) and $3,708 for
the year ended Decemligl, 2010 and the year ended Decen8ier2009, respectively, and is included in "Interest and Finance Costs" in
the consolidated statements of operations.

Our remaining undwn availability commitment is related to the Deutsche Bank Nederland overdraft facility commitment as of
DecembeB1, 2010 amounted to $125. In addition, we have available a commitment of up to $32,400 for the newbuildings as discusse
below.

On Sepemberl0, 2010, we signed an offer letter with ABN AMRO Bank securing, subject to customary legal documentation,
commitments for prelelivery and postlelivery debt financing up to an amount of $32,400 for the construction of two handysize vessels.

The facility, that will be available for drawdown up to Decentier2012, is repayable in 20 quarterly installments plus a balloon payab
along with the last installments, commencing three months after the delivery of the vessels. The vessels wikhmligtrial against the
facility.

According to the agreed terms, the facility will bear interest at LIBOR plus a margin and will include customary finaeomhitsp an
arrangement fee will be paid upon signing of the agreement and commitneanfdee undrawn portion of the facility are paid,
commencing on the signing of the offer letter. We have incurred commitment fees of $171 for the year ended Decembein8iLid2oilio,
the consolidated statements of operations in "Interest and Fitaste"

On Octobe#t, 2010 ABN AMRO issued letters of guarantee in favor of the Chinese yard covering the second installment for the ves:
under construction, amounting to $2,440 for each vessel. On the same date, we entered into a bank guikraagredaent for the
issuance of the above mentioned letter of guarantees. The letters of guarantee mature on the earliest between theagaterafdhehe
second installment and Novemltag, 2011. In this respect we have deposited an amounittegha second installment for the vessels under
construction on a pledged account with ABN AMRO and is included in the "Restricted cash" in the consolidated balance sheet.



On Novembeld, 2010, we paid an amount of $2,700 constituting prepaymentdevieutsche Bank Nederland loan facility due to the
sale of M/VFree Destinyand we expect to further prepay an amount of $3,700 due to the sale of tli@éd/Envoy According to the loan
terms, all future installments will be reduced to nil until thédon payment due in November 2012.
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Loan Covenants
As of DecembeB1, 2010, our loan agreements contain various financial covenants as follows:

a) Credit Suisse loan agreement:v#@ should maintain minimum cash balances of $375 for each of our vessels covered by the loa
agreement; (iijhe aggregate fair market value of the financed vessels must not be less than 135% of the outstanding loan bale
swap exposure, which hasen waived to 115% until Aprdl, 2011, at which time the aggregate fair market value of the financed v
again must not be less than 135% of the outstanding loan balance.

b) FBB loan agreement: (iye should maintain an average corporate liquidity of at least $3,00Mg(ligverage ratio of the corporate
guarantor shall not at any time exceed 55%; tii@) ratio of EBITDA to net interest expense shall not be less than 3; iv) the fair m:
valueof the financed vessels shall be at leasi (&% for the period July, 2010 to Jun80, 2011 and (b}25% thereafter.

c) Deutsche Bank Nederland loan agreementh@)interest coverage ratio shall not be less than 3 until Dec&hb2010 and thereafter
be reset by Deutsche Bank Nederland, in its reasonable discretion in consultation withhesdéht service coverage ratio shall not
less than 1.00 until Decemb®&t, 2010 and thereafter to be reset by Deutsche Bank ldedgin its reasonable discretion in consulta
with us; (iii) the gearing ratio shall not exceed 2.5; {hg outstanding loan balance shall not be more than a ratio of the fair marke
of the financed vessels as follows: &0% from Julyl, 2010 until and including Jung0, 2011, (b110% from Julyl, 2011 until and
including Juned0, 2012, (c120% from Julyl, 2012 until and including Decemb@&®d, 2012 and (d}25% from December 31, 2012
onwards.

In the event of norwompliance with theovenants prescribed in the loan agreements, including the result of a sharp decline in the ma
value of our vessels, such noampliance would constitute a potential event of default in the absence of available additional assets or ca
secure our @bt and bring us into compliance with the debt covenants, and could result in the lenders requiring immediate payment of tf
loans.

As of DecembeB1, 2010, we were in compliance with all of the loan covenants and the debt continues to be classifiegms,long
except for (i)the principal payments falling due in the nextrd@nths and (iithe estimated portion of the Credit Suisse loan balanatng
to the M/V Free Heroamounting to $8,760 as a result of the intended sale of the vessel.

There can be no assurances, however, that if current market conditions further deteriorate we will remain in compl@andeanith
covenants. In the event of potential raympliance with such debt covenants in the future there can be no assuranoaslématers will
provide waivers or forbearances.

As of DecembeB1, 2010, the following repayments of principal are required over the next five years and throughout their term for oL
debt facilities:

(In thousands of U.S. Dollars)

Long-term debt repayment due by period*

More
Uptol 1i 3 3i 5 than 5
Total year years years years
Deutsche Banklederland $ 34,45¢ $ 3,30( $ 25,40¢ $ 5,75( $ o
Credit Suisse 60,25( 16,37: 12,89¢ 17,70 13,27¢
FBB 25,75( 3,35( 6,70(C 6,70( 9,00(
As of December31, 2010 $120,45¢ $ 23,02: $ 45,00¢ $30,15° $22,27"

* Excluding the principal repayments for Hull 1 and Hull 2.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of DecembeB1, 2010, we did not have any difélance sheet arrangements as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of RegBdfion
promulgated by the SEC.
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Summary of Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations and their maturity dates as of De2E20410:

Payments Due by Period

More
Less than than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
Long-term delb $120,45¢ $23,02: $45,00¢ $ 30,15’ $22,27"
Interest on variableate debt 12,15: 3,45: 4,97¢ 3,34 37¢
Yard construction installments 44 ,84( 4,88( 39,96( o) o]
Services fees to the Manager 11,02: 1,422 2,84¢ 2,84¢ 3,911
Management fees to the Manager 34,51¢ 2,19: 3,64¢ 3,56¢ 25,11
Total obligations $222,98t¢ $34,97( $96,43: $ 39,907 $51,67°

The aboe table does not include our share of the monthly rental expenses for our offices of approximately Euro 10.

ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES
A. Directors and Senior Management

The following sets forth the names of the members of our board of directors and our senior management. Generally, eaufitreember
board of directors serves for a thwgsar term. Additionally, the directors are divided among three classes, so thd téficemf a certain
number of directors expires each year. Consequently, the number of directors who staetefriiore each year may vary. Our executive
officers are appointed by, and serve at the pleasure of, the board of directors. The primasslaukiress of each of our executive officers
and directors is 89 Akti Miaouli & 4 Mavrokordatou Street, 185 38, Piraeus, Greece.

Term
Name Age Position Expires
lon G. Varouxakis 40 Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive 2011

Officer and President

Alexandros Mylonas 36 Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer o}
George Kalogeropoulos 50 Director 201z
Didier Salomon 64 Director 201z
Focko H. Nauta 53 Director 2013
Dimitrios Panagiotopoulos 5C Director 2011
Keith Bloomfield 39 Director 201:
Maria Badekas 38 Secretary o}

lon G. Varouxakiss one of our founders and is the Chairman of our board of directors. He also serves as our President and Chief
Executive Officer. In 2003, MV arouxakis founded Free Bulkers, the beginning of a singssel, selfinanced entrepreneuati venture that
led to FreeSeas' founding and NASDAQ listing in 2005. Prior to founding Free BulkefrgaMuxakis held since 1997 management
positions in private shipping companies operating in the drybulk sector. Mr. Varouxakis holds a candidaterandagrfrom the Catholic
University of Saint Louis in Brussels and a bachelor of science degree in economics from the London School of Econoofitisahnd P
Science. MrVarouxakis is a member of the Hellenic Committee of the Korean Register of i8hifgoa member of the Hellenic and Black
Sea Committee of Bureau Veritas and is an officer of the reserves of the Hellenic Army.

Alexandros Mylonas our Chief Financial Officer and joined us in OctoB669. In addition, he has served as our Tneastince
DecembeR010. Prior to joining FreeSeas, NUWlylonas was the Banking Executive of Cardiff Marine Inc., a ship management company
managing a fleet of tankers and drybulk carriers including the fleet of DryShips Inc. a company listed on the NAIEBs#Qelect Market.
From 2005 to 2008, MMylonas was an Account Manager with the Global Shipping Group of Fortis Bank, an international shipping ban
From 2002 to 2005, MiMylonas was an Investment Associate with NBG Venture Capital, a privatg &guiinvesting in Southeast
Europe. Mr. Mylonas holds an MBA in Finance and Supply Chain Management from Michigan State University and a Bachelwssf Busi
Administration from University of Macedonia in Thessaloniki.

George Kalogeropoulogined aur board of directors in Decemb2010. He has over 3@ars of marine transportation experience,
holding managerial positions in brokering, chartering, ship management, and operations for large shipping companiesand_Gndece.
Since 1999, Mr. Kalgeropoulos has served as the Commercial/Chartering Director of a number of affiliates of the Restis Group of
Companies. MrKalogeropoulos currently serves on the boards of several companies in the transportation industry, including Swissmar
CorporationLtd., South African Marine Corp., Safore Pty, and Safbulk Pty Ltd. He is a member of the Hellenic Shipbrokers Association



Didier Salomorjoined air board of directors in 2008. He spent fifteen years as head of global shipping at BNP Paribas overseeing a
$10billion shipping portfolio and managing an international team of approximately 65 professionals. Prior to that, he heldositins at
Banque LouisDreyfus, Banque Bruxelles Lambert and Credit Naval. In late 2009, he established Shipadvise, a French company focusi
advisory and consultancy in shipping. Malomon holds a diploma in political science (Sciences Po Paris), a Masteridegveéaris
Assas) and a post graduate diploma in banking (Centre d'Etudes Superieures de Banque). For many years he has beartlglecturer
economy and capital markets at the Conservatoire des Arts et Metiers in Paris.
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Focko H. Nautéhas been one our directors since 2005. Since Sept@dbey he has also been a director of FinShip SA, a ship financing
company. He assisted us in arranging debt financing with Holland&auhie Unie N.V. From 1997 through 1999, N\auta served as a
managing director of Van Ommeren Shipbroking, a Lordasedship brokering company. Prior to 1997, he was a general manager of a
Fortis Bank branch. MiNauta holds a degree in law from Leiden University in the Netherlands.

Dimitrios Panagiotopoulogined our board of directors in 2007. He is the head gipshg and corporate banking of Proton Bank, a
Greek private bank, where he has served since 2pd#t. From Januar}997 to Marct2004, he served as deputy head of the Greek
shipping desk of BNP Paribas and before that for four years as senior offibersbfipping department of Credit Lyonnais Greece. From
1990 to 1993, he was working as chief accountant in lonia Management, a Greek shipping comfaryadilotopoulos also serves on the
board of directors of Seanergy Maritime Holdings Corp. He holtksgace in economics from Athens University and a masters of science ir
shipping, trade and finance from City University of London. He was an officer of the Greek Special Forces and todagitsad tragpt
reserves of Hellenic Army.

Keith Bloomfieldoined our board of directors in 2010. He has oveyda&s of experience in mergers and acquisitions, corporate law, ar
wealth management. He is currently the President and Chief Executive Officer of Forbes Family Trust, a private wealtlentditagem
which he founded in Septemk2009. From Octobe2006 to Septemb&009, he was a Senior Managing Director and Corporate Counsel a
Third Avenue Management, a global asset management firm with approximately $16 billion in assets under managememfvandéird
he was responsible for mergers and acquisitions, corporate transactions and business development. Prior to joiningu€hind vasra
corporate attorney with Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP. Bloomfield earned an LL.M (Master of Law) in Tdian from New York
University School of Law and a J.D. with honors from Hofstra University School of Law, and graduated cum laude with HiBtéryin
from Tulane University.

Maria Badekasholds a Bachelor in English and European Laws from Essexetsity (UK) and a Master of Law from University of
Cambridge (UK). From 2001 to 2003 she was a political expert to the European Commission, DG Development. From 2008012305, s
a special advisor to the Mayor of Athens and participated in the ptiepanéthe Athens 2004 Olympic Games (international affairs and
public relations). Between 2005 and 2006, she was a special advisor to the Minister of the Hellenic Ministry of Foresgamdfiom
2006 to 2009, she was a special advisor to the GeBecaetary for European Affairs of the Hellenic Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

B. Compensation

The total gross compensation paid in 2010 to our directors was $194. Effective on Ja2@d:y if the U.S. Dollar/Euro exchange rate
exceeds 1.35 atie last business day of each quarter, then the amount of the directors' fees payable for that quarter will be inbegdased s
the amount payable in U.S. Dollars will be the equivalent in Euros based on a 1.35 U.S. Dollar/Euro exchange rate. Cdbutodecing
2008, in connection with the execution of our amended and restated services agreement with our Manager, our Managemoettblyes
management fee from us to provide overall executive and commercial management of our affairs. See "Parefijpddi&is" and "Related
Party Transactions."

C. Board Practices

The term of our ClasA directors expires in 2012, the term of our CIBsdirectors expires in 2013 and the term of our Claskirectors
expires in 2011. MrBloomfield was appoited to the board of directors in Mar2gB10 and MrKalogeropoulos was appointed to the board
of directors in Decemb&010. There are no agreements between us and any director that provide for benefits upon termination or retire

Board Committees
Our board of directors has an audit committee, a compensation committee, a nominating committee and a corporate governance
committee. Our board of directors has adopted a charter for each of these committees.
Audit Committee

Our audit committee consists of Mesdigawuta, Salomon and Panagiotopoulos, each of whom is an independent direciautdrhas
been designated the "Audit Committee Financial Expert" under the SEC rules and the current listing standards of the NAlsiplclia
Rules.

The audit committee has powers and performs the functions customarily performed by such a committee (including thos¢ seqhired
a committee under the NASDAQ Marketplace Rules and the SEC). The audit committee is resporssildetiog and meeting with our
independent registered public accounting firm regarding, among other matters, audits and the adequacy of our accoantiogy and ¢
systems.

Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee consists of Me®lisomfield and Panagiotopoulos, each of whom is an independent director. The
compensation committee reviews and approves the compensation of our executive officers.
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Nominating Committee

Our nominating committee consists of Mes&@omfield and Panagiotopoulos, each of whom is an independent director. The
nominating committee is responsible for overseeing the selection of persons to be nominated to serve on our board.of director

Corporate Governance Committee

Our corporate governance committee consists of MeSatemon and Bloomfield, each of whom is an independent director. The
corporate governance committee ensures that we have and follow appropriate governance standards.

Dir ector Independence

Our securities are listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market and we are exempt from certain NASDAQ listing requirements including the
requirement that our board be composed of a majority of independent directors. The board of direetatsdtasl whether each of
MessrsNauta, Salomon, Panagiotopoulos and Bloomfield is an "independent director" within the meaning of the listing requirements o
NASDAQ. The NASDAQ independence definition includes a series of objective tests, such as diraictior is not our employee and has
not engaged in various types of business dealings with us. In addition, as further required by the NASDAQ requirenuarts ofhe b
directors made a subjective determination as to each of MBkara, Salomon, Pagmtopoulos and Bloomfield that no relationships exist
which, in the opinion of the board of directors, would interfere with the exercise of his independent judgment in cartlyeng ou
responsibilities of a director. In making this determination, thedbofdirectors reviewed and discussed information provided by each of
MessrsNauta, Salomon, Panagiotopoulos and Bloomfield with regard to his business and personal activities as they may rathtauto us «
management. After reviewing the mformatlorespented to it, our board of directors has determined that each of Mdgmsta, Salomon,
Panagiotopoulos and Bloomfield is "independent" within the meaning of such rules. Our independent directors will megiviea session
as often as necessary tdfifltheir duties, but no less frequently than annually.

Code of Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a code of conduct and ethics applicable to our directors, officers and employees, a copy of whichisyrosted o
website.

D. Employees

We currently have no employees. Our Manager is responsible for employing all of the executive officers and staff tandxecute a
supervise our operations based on the strategy devised by the board of directors and subject to the approval of direloct@slarfd for
recruiting, and employing, either directly or through a crewing agent, the senior officers and all other crew membevsdselsur

Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive Plan

Our Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive Plarimydemented for the purpose of furthering our ldgagn stability, continuing
growth and financial success by retaining and attracting key employees, officers and directors through the use of ttesk (daen
shareholders approved the plan on DeceariBe2006. Awards may be granted under the plan in the form of incentive stock options,
nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, dividend equivalent rights, restricted stock, unrestricted stotdd ststiicunits and
performance shareBursuant to the plan, we have reserved 300,000 shares of our common stock for awards, of which 216,000 remain
available for grant as of the date of this report.

In DecembeR007, our Board of Directors granted 9,000 options to directors and 25060sto executive officers, as adjusted to
reflect the reverse stock split effective OctobeP010, of which 28,000 would vest in one year, 3,000 would vest in two years and 3,000 i
three years from the grant, all at an exercise price of $41.25 quex. §tffective Decembdi8, 2009, certain of our officers and directors have
forfeited 22,000 of the stock options granted to them, leaving 12,000 stock options outstanding as of CHc&t@th8rand 2009. The
outstanding stock options, which expire orcBmber24, 2012, are vested and remain unexercised as of Dec8Mnt610.

On DecembeB1, 2009 our Board of Directors awarded 255,000 restricted shares, as adjusted to reflect the reverse stock split effect
Octoberl, 2010, to its nomxecutive @tectors, executive officers and certain of our Manager's employees. Of the 255,000 restricted shar
10,000 restricted shares with an original vesting date on Dec&hp2010 have been forfeited in May 2010. Of the remaining 245,000
restricted share§,1,000 restricted shares vested on Decer@beP009, 40,000 restricted shares vested on Dece3itb@010, 84,000
restricted shares will vest on DecemB&r2012 and 50,000 restricted shares will vest on Dece®ih@013. Unvested restricted shares
amoured to 134,000 as of Decemigr, 2010.

All of our officers, directors and executive, managerial, administrative and professional employees, including officdtseatf ou
manager, are eligible to receive awards under the plan. Our board of directdhe power and complete discretion, as provided in the plan
to select which persons will receive awards and to determine for each such person the terms, conditions and natunel pétitethava
number of shares to be allocated to each individuphasof each award.



ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
A. Major Shareholders

The following table sets out certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock a4 6f 204yl by each of
our officers and directors, all of our officers and directors as a group, and each person or group of affiliated persausretidy known
to us to be the beneficial owner of 5% or more of the shares of our common stock.
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Unless otherwise indicated, we believe that all persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power witlalteszaet
of beneficially owned by them. As beneficial owners of shares of aomstock, the persons named in the table do not have different voting
rights than any other holder of common stock.

Number of Shares of
Shares of Common
Common Stock Stock
Beneficially Beneficially
Name Owned Owned (1)
lon G. Varouxakis (2) 546,27 8.42%
All directors and executive officers as a group (eight persons)(3) 611,67 9.42%
FS Holdings Limited (4) 648,12( 9.9%%

(1) For purposes of computing thengentage of outstanding shares of common stock held by each person named above, any she
named person has the right to acquire withirdé&gs under warrants or options are deemed to be outstanding for that person, bt
deemed to be outstding when computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Based on 6,487,852 shares of corr
outstanding as of May6, 2011.

(2) Reflects 502,940 shares owned by The Mida's Touch S.A., a Marshall Islands corporation wholly owneddrpitakis and 3,334
shares underlying warrants owned by The Mida's Touch. Does not include 8,000 shares owned of record by V Estates 8.A.,
controlled by his father, or 6,120 shares owned of record by his mother, as to which shares he disclaims beneficial ownershi

(3) Includes 50,000 restricted shares, which do not vest until Dece&8hb2013.

(4) Reflects 561,757 shares owned by FS Holdings Limited, a Marshall Islands corporation, and 86,363 shares owned by Bedb:
Republic of Cyprus corporation, each of which is controlled by the Restis family.

B. Related Party Transactions

Manager

All of our vessels receive management services from the Manager, pursuant to ship management agreements between each of the
ship-owning companies and the Manager.

On October, 2010, the subsidiaries Adventure Fourteen S.A. and Advehfteen S.A. entered into management agreements with the
Manager for the provision of management services to our two newbuilding vessels we have under contract.

Each of our ship owning subsidiaries pays, as per its management agreement with the, Menmdbly technical management fee of
$16.5 (on the basis that the dollar/Euro exchange rate is 1.30 or lower; if on the first business day of each montlEine doithange
rate exceeds 1.30 then the management fee payable will be increasedrfonthén question, so that the amount payable in U.S. dollars
will be the equivalent in Euro based on 1.30 dollar/Euro exchange rate) plus a fee of $0.4 per day for superintendzce attdrather
direct expenses.

We also pay the Manager a fee algio 1.25% of the gross freight or hire from the employment of our vessels. The Manager has
subcontracted the charter and post charter management of our vessels and pays the 1.25% of the gross freight or kingpfayméme of
our vessels to Safbullan entity affiliated with the Restis family, one of our major shareholders. In addition, we pay a 1% commission on
gross purchase price of any new vessel acquired or the gross sale price of any vessel sold by us with the assistaartagef s
respect, we paid Free Bulkers $32 relating to the sale offivé¥ Destinyand $488 relating to the signing of shipbuilding contracts for the
construction of two Handysize vessels in 2010 and $110 relating to the acquisition 6fé&/Weptunén 20M. In addition, we have
incurred commission expense relating to our commercial agreement with the Manager amounting to $728, $752 and $8é8S@mithedye
DecembeB1, 2010, 2009 and 2008 respectively, included in "Commissions" in our consolidadeckestist of operations.

We pay, as per our services agreement with the Manager, a monthly fee of $118.5, (on the basis that the dollar/Eunaexthhrgfe
or lower; if on the last business day of each month the dollar/Euro exchange rate ex@®dusnithe service fee payable will be adjusted
for the following month in question, so that the amount payable in dollars will be the equivalent in Euro based on dBfaeaiechange
rate) as compensation for services related to accounting, fahaeporting, implementation of Sarbar@zley internal control over financial
reporting procedures and general administrative and management services plus expenses. The Manager is entitled tmdderifrinati
agreement is terminated upon a "chaafjeontrol” as defined in its services agreement with the Manager. The termination fee as of
Decembe1, 2010 would be $100,298.
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Fees and expenses charged by the Manager are included in ourafistateiments in "Management fees to a related party,” "General an
administrative expenses," "Operating expenses," "Gain on sale of vessel," "Vessels," "Vessel impairment loss" and "dwvessss f
under construction." The total amounts chargedHteryear ended Decembt, 2010, 2009 and 2008 amounted to $3,826 ($1,978 of
management fees, $1,439 of services fees, $178 of superintendent fees, $117 for other expenses and $114 for managgément fees a
supervision expenses for vessels under constryc®8r245 ($1,874 of management fees, $1,313 of services fees and $58 of superintend
fees) and $2,634 ($1,655 of management fees, $679 of services fees and $300 of partial contribution for the refurlilshwiéincecfpace
used by us), respectively.

On DecembeB1, 2009, we granted 84,000 restricted shares to certain of the Manager's employees, vesting in R@t2nmesuant to
our equity incentive plan.

The cost of these shares is amortized over their vesting period and is included in "General and administrative expenses" in t
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. In addition, in Dec0ibesnd 2009, a bonus of $400 and $200 respegtivek
granted to the Manager, which is included in "General and administrative expenses," in our consolidated financial statements.

The balance due from the Manager as of Dece®bgeg2010 and Decembai, 2009 was $1,285 and $1,410 respectively.arheunt
paid to the Manager for office space during the year ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $204, $197 and 328§ aedpecti
included in "General and administrative expenses" in our consolidated statements of operations.
First Busines Bank (FBB)

We received from FBB, in which lon G. Varouxakis, our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President, owns a minostyadntére
in which members of the Restis family hold a substantial interest, a loan of $26,250 which has beeparsgdinance the acquisition of
the M/V Free Impalain April 2008. On Decembelr5, 2009, we reached an agreement for a new secured term loan of $27,750 from FBB
refinance its then outstanding loan balance of $21,750 and to receive additionéllimfuigh to $6,000 with a first priority mortgage over
the M/V Free Impalaand the M/VFree NeptuneThe outstanding balance of the loan as of DeceBibe2010 was $25,750. Interest
charged under the loan facility for the year ended DeceBhe2010, 209 and 2008 amounts to $893, $629 and $874, respectively, and is
included in the interest and finance cost in our consolidated statements of operations.
Other Related Parties

We, through Free Bulkers and Safbulk, use, from time to time, ebsbkering firm associated with family members of lon G.
Varouxakis, our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President, for certain of the charters of our fleet. During thdegear en
December3d1, 2010, 2009 and 2008 such shijpkering firm charged us commissions of $175, $48 and $112, respectively, which are
included in "Commissions" in our consolidated statements of operations. The balance due teltrakslimg firm as of Decembérl, 2010
and DecembeBl, 2009 was $98 and $18 respectively.

C. Interest of Experts and Counsel

Not applicable.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Information
Please see "lteit8. Financial Statements" for a list of the financial statements filed as part of this annual report.
B. Significant Changes
Not applicable.

ITEM 9. THE OFFER AND LISTING
A. Offer and Listing Details
Not applicable.
B. Plan of Distribution
Not applicable.
C. Markets



Our common stock and Clagswarrants began trading on the NASDAQ Global Market on Nove®p2007 under the trading symbols
FREE and FREEZ, resptvely. Prior to that time our common stock and Clasgarrants were traded on the NASDAQ Capital Market
under the symbols FREE and FREEZ, respectively.

The closing high and low sales prices of our common stock and Zieasrants as reported bysttNASDAQ Stock Market, for the
quarters and months indicated, are as follows (adjusted to give effect of our one share for five share reverse stiakaspffdctive on
Octoberl, 2010):

Common Stock Class Z Warrants
For the Years Ended: High Low High Low
DecembeBl, 2006 $27.2¢ $13.1¢( $1.2C $0.3¢
DecembeR1, 2007 51.2C 13.8( 5.2C 0.4¢
DecembeR1, 2008 39.8¢ 4.5(C 3.3t 0.0t
DecembeR1, 2009 17.4¢ 5.8t 0.6t 0.0¢
DecembeRl, 2010 7.9¢ 3.61 0.2t 0.01
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Common Stock Class Z Warrants
For the Quarters Ended: High Low High Low
March31, 2009 $ 9.4(C $2.7C $0.3¢ $0.0¢
June30, 2009 17.4¢ 5.8 0.6t 0.1C
Septerber30, 2009 12.1¢ 7.8 0.5% 0.1€
DecembeR1, 2009 8.7¢ 6.3 0.3z 0.1¢
March31, 2010 6.7C 6.4(C 0.2C 0.2C
June30, 2010 7.4t 5.8t 0.2C 0.1C
Septembpr 30, 2010 6.0C 4.5C 0.1t 0.0z
DecembeBl, 2010 5.0¢ 3.61 0.12 0.01
March31, 2011 3.8¢ 2.4¢ 0.0¢ 0.0z
June30, 2011 (through Ma$6, 2011) 2.8( 2.4¢ 0.0¢ 0.0z
Common Stock Class Z Warrants
For the Months Ended: High Low High Low
November30, 2010 5.0¢ 3.92 0.1z 0.01
DecembeRdl, 2010 4.0¢ 3.61 0.1z 0.04
Januany1, 2011 3.8¢ 3.44 0.0¢ 0.03
February28, 2011 3.44 2.92 0.0¢ 0.07
March31, 2011 3.4¢ 2.72 0.0¢ 0.0t
April 30, 2011 2.7¢ 2.4¢€ 0.0¢ 0.0z
May 31, 2011 (through Mag6, 2011) 2.8C 2.4¢ 0.07 0.0¢

D. Selling Shareholders
Not applicable.

E. Dilution

Not applicable.

F. Expenses of the Issue

Not applicable.

ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
A. Share Capital
Not applicable.
B. Memorandum and Articles of Incorporation

The information required herein was provided in the Registration Statement on Ho¢Rilé& N0.333-145203), the report on Formks
dated Octobe22, 2009, both previously filed by us with the Securities and Exchange Commission and incorporated herein by reference
filed herewith as Exhibit.5.

One million shares of our preferred stock hbeen designated SeridsParticipating Preferred Stock in connection with our adoption of a
shareholder rights plan as described below undestareholder Rights Plan."

Shareholder Rights Plan
General

Each share of our common stock includegyhtrthat entitles the holder to purchase from us a unit consisting ¢honsandth of a share
of our SeriedA participating preferred stock at a purchase price of $90.00 per unit, subject to specified adjustments. The riglet are issu
pursuant to a riglh agreement between us and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, as rights agent. Until a right is exercis
the holder of a right will have no rights to vote or receive dividends or any other shareholder rights.

The rights may have antakeover effects. The rights will cause substantial dilution to any person or group that attempts to acquire us
without the approval of our board of directors. As a result, the overall effect of the rights may be to render moreddfsadtirage any
attempt to acquire us. Because our board of directors can approve a redemption of the rights or a permitted offer, toeldigiois sh
interfere with a merger or other business combination approved by our board of directors.



We have summarized the material terms and conditions of the rights agreement and the rights below. For a completeaedkeription
rights, we encourage you to read the rights agreement, which we have filed as an exhibit to this annual report.
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Detachment of the Rights

The rights are attached to all certificates representing our outstanding common stock and will attach to all commotifisetels e
issue prior to the rights distriboti date that we describe below. The rights are not exercisable until after the rights distribution date and
expire at the close of business on the tenth anniversary date of the adoption of the rights plan, unless we redeene thexcharigr as
described below. The rights will separate from the common stock and a rights distribution date will occur, subjecteh epesjifions, on
the earlier of the following two dates:

A 10days following a public announcement that a person or groaffilidited or associated persons or an "acquiring person" has
acquired or obtained the right to acquire beneficial ownership of 15% or more of our outstanding common stock; or

A 10 business days following the start of a tender or exchange offer that would result, if closed, in a person becomingran "a
person."

Existing shareholders and their affiliates are excluded from the definition of "acquiring person" for puiftbserights, and therefore
their ownership or future share acquisitions cannot trigger the rights. Specified "inadvertent” owners that would otemsear
acquiring person, including those who would have this designation as a result of reuofltagamon stock by us, will not become
acquiring persons as a result of those transactions.

Our board of directors may defer the rights distribution date in some circumstances, and some inadvertent acquisiioreswitlima
person becomingreacquiring person if the person promptly divests itself of a sufficient number of shares of common stock.

Until the rights distribution date:
A our common stock certificates will evidence the rights, and the rights will be transferable only with those certificates; and

A any new shares of common stock will be issued with rights and new certificates will contain a notation incorporatirtg the ri
agreement by reference.

As soon as practicable after the rights distribution date, the rights agent will mail certifsgatesenting the rights to holders of record of
common stock at the close of business on that date. After the rights distribution date, only separate rights cerfifieptesevit the rights.

We will not issue rights with any shares of common stock we issue after the rights distribution date, except as outtiterodsofnay
otherwise determine.

Flip-In Event

A "flip -in event" will occur under the rights agreement when a persmnies an acquiring person. If a fiipevent occurs and we do not
redeem the rights as described under the headirigedemption of Rights" below, each right, other than any right that has become void, a
described below, will become exercisable at thetitis no longer redeemable for the number of shares of common stock, or, in some ca:
cash, property or other of our securities, having a current market price equal to two times the exercise price of such right.

If a flip-in event occurs, all righ that then are, or in some circumstances that were, beneficially owned by or transferred to an acquiri
person or specified related parties will become void in the circumstances the rights agreement specifies.

Flip-Over Event
A "flip -over eveti' will occur under the rights agreement when, at any time after a person has become an acquiring person:

A we are acquired in a merger or other business combination transaction
A 50% or more of our assets, cash flows or earning power is sold or trans

If a flip-over event occurs, each holder of a right, other than any right that has become void as we describe under the Rigading "
Event" above, will have the right receive the number of shares of common stock of the acquiring company having a current market pri
equal to two times the exercise price of such right.

Antidilution

The number of outstanding rights associated with our common stock is dogegistment for any stock split, stock dividend or
subdivision, combination or reclassification of our common stock occurring prior to the rights distribution date. Witkcaptiers, the
rights agreement does not require us to adjust the exeraseopthe rights until cumulative adjustments amount to at least 1% of the
exercise price. It also does not require us to issue fractional shares of our preferred stock that are not integraifronkigleehundredth
of a share, and, instead we magkm a cash adjustment based on the market price of the common stock on the last trading date prior to
date of exercise. The rights agreement reserves us the right to require, prior to the occurrence ohavefitpr flipover event that, on
anyexercise of rights, that a number of rights must be exercised so that we will issue only whole shares of stock.

Redemption of Rights

At any time until 10days after the date on which the occurrence of arfligvent is first publicly announcedie may redeem the rights in
whole, but not in part, at a redemption price of $0.01 per right. The redemption price is subject to adjustment for s, stttk



dividend or similar transaction occurring before the date of redemption. At our opianawpay that redemption price in cash, shares of
common stock or any other consideration our board of directors may select. The rights are not exercisable-aftevarflipntil they are

no longer redeemable. If our board of directors timely orttersedemption of the rights, the rights will terminate on the effectiveness of th:
action.
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Exchange of Rights

We may, at our option, exchange the rights (other than rights owned by an acquiring person or an affiliate or an aasceiajgiraig
person, which have become void), in whole or in part. The exchange must be at an exchange ratio of one share stfoabmperoright,
subject to specified adjustments at any time after the occurrence ofradlipnt and prior to:

A any person other than our existing shareholders becoming the beneficial owner of common stock with voting power eqaal
more of the total voting power of all shares of common stock entitled to vote in the election of directors; or

A the occurrence of a flipver event.

Amendment of Terms of Rights

While the rights are outstanding, we may amend the provisions of the rights agreement only as follows:

A to cure any ambiguity, omission, defect or inconsistency;

A to make changes that do not adversely affect the interests of holders of rights, excluding the interests of any asquiriag pel

A to shorten or lengthen any tinperiod under the rights agreement, except that we cannot change the time period when right
redeemed or lengthen any time period, unless such lengthening protects, enhances or clarifies the benefits of holdetherf r
than an acquiring pson.

At any time when no rights are outstanding, we may amend any of the provisions of the rights agreement, other thanttiecreasing
redemption price.

C. Material Contracts

Except as described elsewhere in this document, we have no material contracts, other than contracts entered int@my tueieeiof
business, to which the Company or any member of the group is a party.

D. Exchange Controls and Other LimitationsAffecting Security Holders

Under Marshall Islands law, there are currently no restrictions on the export or import of capital, including foreigneecmhizolg or
restrictions that affect the remittance of dividends, interest or other paymeawtsresident holders of our shares.

E. Taxation

The following is a discussion of the material Marshall Islands and United States federal income tax consequencesadle8ant to
Holder, as defined below, of our common stock. This discussiommtaiepurport to deal with the tax consequences of owning common stoc
to all categories of investors, some of which, such as dealers in securities, investors whose functional currencyistedt $tates dollar,
and investors that own, actually ordem applicable constructive ownership rules, 10% or more of the voting power of our stock, may be
subject to special rules. This discussion deals only with U.S. Holders that hold the common stock as a capital assehcgarages to
consult your ownax advisors concerning the overall tax consequences arising in your own particular situation under United States fede
state, local or foreign law of the ownership of common stock.

Marshall Islands Tax Consequences

We are incorporated in the Mardhalands. Under current Marshall Islands law, we are not subject to tax on income or capital gains, ¢
no Marshall Islands withholding tax will be imposed upon payments of dividends by us to our stockholders provided sotthestoakdn
not resident®f the Marshall Islands. Holders of our common stock or warrants who are not residents of, domiciled in, or carrying on an
commercial activity in the Marshall Islands will not be subject to Marshall Islands tax on the sale or other dispositicomfion stock or
warrants.

United States Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following are the material United States federal income tax consequences to us of our activities and to U.S. Helolek$.&nd
Holders, each as defined below, of the ownerahigh disposition of our common stock. The following discussion of United States federal
income tax matters is based on the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, judiciatidenistosisye
pronouncements, and existingd proposed regulations issued by the United States Department of the Treasury, all of which are subject
change, possibly with retroactive effect. This discussion below is based, in part, upon Treasury Regulations promulgStsdtiongig3
of the Mde, and in part, on the description of our business as described in "About Our Company" above and assumes that we conduc
business as described in that section.

Taxation of Operating Income: In General

Unless exempt from United States federal income taxation under the rules discussed below, a foreign corporation i¥)sitegct to
States federal income taxation in respect of any income that is derived from the use of vessels, from the hiringainessitg for use on
a time, voyage or bareboat charter basis, from the participation in a shipping pool, partnership, strategic alliaqpezajoigtagreement,



code sharing arrangements or other joint venture it directly or indirectly owns @igstes in that generates such income, or from the
performance of services directly related to those uses, which we refer to as "shipping income," to the extent thahthieshipeiis

derived from sources within the United States. For these purga@$sof shipping income that is attributable to transportation that begins o
ends, but that does not both begin and end, in the United States, exclusive of certain U.S. territories and possetiisitassincomse from
sources within the United Stateghich we refer to as "U.SSource Gross Transportation Income" or "USSGTI."
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Shipping income attributable to transportation that both begins and ends in the United States is considered to be Ii(%e&oviitsn
the United States. U.S. law prohibits us from engaging in transportation that produces income considered torben e é&s within the
United States.

Shipping income attributable to transportation exclusively betweertyn®nports will be considered to be 100% derived from sources
outside the United States. Shipping income derived from sources outside tiae Shaiies will not be subject to any United States federal
income tax.

In the absence of exemption from tax under Se@R8) our USSGTI would be subject to a 4% tax imposed without allowance for
deductions as described below.

Exemption of Operatig Income from United States Federal Income Taxation
Under Sectior883 of the Code, we will be exempt from United States federal income taxation on eepl& shipping income if:

A we are organized in a foreign country (our "country of organization") that grants an "equivalent exemption" to corporations
organized in the United States; and either

A more than 50% of the uize of our stock is owned, directly or indirectly, by "qualified shareholders," that are persshe é)e
"residents" of our country of organization or of another foreign country that grants an "equivalent exemption" to carporatio
organized in the Uied States, and (ilvho comply with certain documentation requirements, which we refer to as the "50%
Ownership Test," or

A our stock is primarily and regularly traded on one or more established securities markets in our cougdnyizstmn, in another
country that grants an "equivalent exemption" to United States corporations, or in the United States, which we refer to as -
"Publicly-Traded Test."

The Republic of the Marshall Islands, the jurisdiction where we and our shipowning subsidiaries are incorporated, gvalesat'equ
exemptions" to United States corporations. Therefore, we will be exempt from United States federal income taxatigestith s
U.S-source shipping income if we satisfy either the 50% Ownership Test or the PObidgd Test.

Since the 2007 tax year, we have claimed the benefits of the S888dax exemption for our shipwning subsidiaries on the basis of
the PubliclyTraded Test. For 2010 and subsequent tax years, we anticipate that we will need to satisfy thelPaddidl¥est in order to
qualify for benefits under Secti@83. While we expect to satisfy the Publidlyaded Test for such years, there bamo assurance in this
regards. Our ability to satisfy the Publi€lyaded Test is discussed below.

The regulations provide, in pertinent part, that the stock of a foreign corporation will be considered to be "primatilyptrade
established sexities market in a country if the number of shares of each class of stock that are traded during the taxable year on all
established securities markets in that country exceed the number of shares in each such class that are traded duongettatigbad
securities markets in any other single country. Our common stock, our sole class of our issued and outstanding steeilyisréoied” on
the NASDAQ Global Market.

Under the regulations, our stock will be considered to be "regularlydttafdene or more classes of our stock representing 50% or more
of our outstanding shares, by total combined voting power of all classes of stock entitled to vote and by total combiotdlvesses of
stock, are listed on one or more establishediiges markets, which we refer to as the "listing threshold." Our common stock, our sole cla
of issued and outstanding stock, is listed on the NASDAQ Global Market, and accordingly, we will satisfy this listinghesquire

The regulations furtheequire that with respect to each class of stock relied upon to meet the listing requirersealt ¢ipss of the
stock is traded on the market, other than in minimal quantities, on at leday$@uring the taxable year or 1/6 of the days in a &able
year; and (iithe aggregate humber of shares of such class of stock traded on such market is at least 10% of the average numbfer of sh
such class of stock outstanding during such year or as appropriately adjusted in the case of a éhgedaxale believe we will satisfy the
trading frequency and trading volume tests. Even if this were not the case, the regulations provide that the tradinganequading
volume tests will be deemed satisfied by a class of stock if, as we expecthte case with our common stock, such class of stock is traded
on an established market in the United States and such class of stock is regularly quoted by dealers making a mastatkn such

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the regulations preyith pertinent part, that a class of stock will not be considered to be "regularly
traded" on an established securities market for any taxable year in which 50% or more of the vote and value of thegaitatasdifisuch
class of stock are owned, aally or constructively under specified stock attribution rules, on more than half the days during the taxable y
by persons who each own directly or indirectly 5% or more of the vote and value of such class of stock, who we refér to as "5
Shareholders.We refer to this restriction in the regulations as the "Cleblgl Test." The Closeldeld Test will not disqualify us,
however, if we can establish that our qualified 5% Shareholders own sufficient shares in owhelkblgck of stock to precludbe
shares in the closelyeld block that are owned by noualified 5% Shareholders from representing 50% or more of the value of such clast
of stock for more than half of the days during the tax year, which we refer to as the exception to theHeldsedst.
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Establishing such qualification and ownership by our direct and indirect 5% Sharehdldéepend on their meeting the requirements of
one of the qualified shareholder tests set out under the regulations applicable to 5% Shareholders and compliance witherstig
certification procedures by each intermediary or other person irh#ie of ownership between us and such qualified 5% Shareholders.
Further, the regulations require, and we must certify, that no person in the chain of qualified ownership of sharesyalietbayqualify for
exemption holds those shares in bearer form.

For purposes of being able to determine our 5% Shareholders, the regulations permit us to rely ontheshdeSchedul&3D filings
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The regulations further provide that an investment compangisiertdd tender the
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, will not be treated as a 5% Shareholder for such purposes.

There can be no assurance regarding whether we will be subject to the Elekklyest for any year or whether in circumstangbere
it would otherwise apply we will be able to qualify for the exception to the Clésely Test. For this and other reasons, there can be no
assurance that we or any of our subsidiaries will qualify for the benefits of S888auf the Code for anyear.

Taxation in Absence of Exemption

To the extent the benefits of Secti®83 are unavailable, our USSGTI, to the extent not considered to be "effectively connected" with t
conduct of a U.S. trade or business, as described below, would bet $algel% tax imposed by SectiB@7 of the Code on a gross basis,
without the benefit of deductions, otherwise referred to as the "4% Tax." Since under the sourcing rules describedhatr@vtham50%
of our shipping income would be treated as beiagved from U.S. sources, the maximum effective rate of U.S. federal income tax on our
shipping income would never exceed 2% under the 4% gross basis tax regime.

To the extent the benefits of the SectB88 exemption are unavailable and our USSGToinsidered to be "effectively connected" with
the conduct of a U.S. trade or business, as described below, any such "effectively connectalirtkShipping income, net of applicable
deductions, would be subject to the U.S. federal corporate ineoamaitrently imposed at rates of up to 35%. In addition, we may be subje
to the 30% "branch profits" taxes on earnings effectively connected with the conduct of such trade or business, as déiralioadnce
for certain adjustments, and on certmterest paid or deemed paid attributable to the conduct of its U.S. trade or business.

Our U.S:source shipping income would be considered "effectively connected” with the conduct of a U.S. trade or business only if:
A We have, or are considered to have, a fixed place of business in the United States involved in the earning of shippiagdnce

A substantially all of our U.Ssource shipping income is attributable to regularly scheduled transportation, such as the operati
vessel that follows a published schedule with repeated sailings at regular intervals between the same points fivatdyesgeor
end in the United States.

We do not intend to have, or permit circumstances that would result in having any vessel operating to the United Stgidarbn a
scheduled basis. Based on the foregoing and on the expected mode gbpingsiperations and other activities, we believe that none of ou
U.S-source shipping income will be "effectively connected" with the conduct of a U.S. trade or business.

United States Taxation of Gain on Sale of Vessels

Regardless of whether weiglify for exemption under Secti@83, we will not be subject to United States federal income taxation with
respect to gain realized on a sale of a vessel, provided the sale is considered to occur outside of the United Staie=dubtdeesifederal
income tax principles. In general, a sale of a vessel will be considered to occur outside of the United States for ¢hifstiplerpmthe
vessel, and risk of loss with respect to the vessel, pass to the buyer outside of the United States. édsteatpaty sale of a vessel by us
will be considered to occur outside of the United States.

United States Federal Income Taxation of U.S. Holders

As used herein, the term "U.S. Holder" means a beneficial owner of common stock that is a Uniedti@exter resident, United States
corporation or other United States entity taxable as a corporation, an estate the income of which is subject to Urfiderdtateome
taxation regardless of its source, or a trust if a court within the UnitéeksS¢aable to exercise primary jurisdiction over the administration of
the trust and one or more United States persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust.

If a partnership holdsur common stock, the tax treatment of a partner will generally depend upon the status of the partner and upon
activities of the partnership. If you are a partner in a partnership holding our common stock, you are encouragedytoucdasudtvisar

Distributions.Subject to the discussion of passive foreign investment companies below, any distributions made by us with respect tc
common stock to a U.S. Holder will generally constitute dividends, which may be taxable as ordinary incanaéfied'dividend income"
as described in more detail below, to the extent of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, as determinecedrgtatddriederal
income tax principles. Distributions in excess of our earnings and profits will hedréat as a nontaxable return of capital to the extent of
the U.S. Holder's tax basis in his common stock on a dfltadiollar basis and thereafter as capital gain. Because we are not a United Stat
corporation, U.S. Holders that are corporation$ mék be entitled to claim a dividends received deduction with respect to any distributions
they receive from us. Dividends paid with respect to our common stock will generally be treated as passive category incbmease of
certain types of U.SHolders, general category income for purposes of computing allowable foreign tax credits for United States foreign



credit purposes.

Dividends paid on our common stock to a U.S. Holder who is an individual, trust or estate, which we refeix@amdiVidual
Holder," will generally be treated as "qualified dividend income" that is taxable to such a U.S. Individual Holder att@alefergates
(through 2012) provided that (e are not a passive foreign investment company for the taxadrieyeng which the dividend is paid or
the immediately preceding taxable year (which we do not believe we are, have been or willdw)c@)ymon stock is readily tradable on
an established securities market in the United States (such as the NASDBd) I(Géoket), and (3)he U.S. Individual Holder has owned the
common stock for more than @@ys in the 12Hay period beginning 6@ays before the date on which the common stock becomes
ex-dividend. There is no assurance that any dividends paid on omaostock will be eligible for these preferential rates in the hands of a
U.S. Individual Holder. Any distributions treated as dividends paid by us that are not eligible for these preferentidll batésxed as
ordinary income to a U.S. Individual Higr.
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Special rules may apply to any "extraordinary dividend" generally, a dividend in an amount which is equal to or in tecessaent of
a stockholder's adjusted basis (or fair market value in certain circumstances) in a share of our stock paiddpar.an "extraordinary
dividend" on our stock that is treated as "qualified dividend income," then any loss derived by a U.S. Individual Holther Sedenor
exchange of such stock will be treated as {targn capital loss to the extent of such dend.

Sale, Exchange or Other Disposition of Common Stasguming we do not constitute a passive foreign investment company for any
taxable year, a U.S. Holder generally will recognize taxable gain or loss upon a sale, exchange or other di§positommon stock in an
amount equal to the difference between the amount realized by the U.S. Holder from such sale, exchange or other didpbsitib6 .a
Holder's tax basis in such stock. Such gain or loss will be treated atetomgapital gairor loss if the U.S. Holder's holding period is
greater than one year at the time of the sale, exchange or other disposition. Such capital gain or loss will genettaitydselWrSsource
income or loss, as applicable, for U.S. foreign tax creditgaep. A U.S. Holder's ability to deduct capital losses is subject to certain
limitations.

Passive Foreign Investment Company Status and Significant Tax Conseq8eecé. United States federal income tax rules apply to a
U.S. Holder that holds stkdn a foreign corporation classified as a passive foreign investment company for United States federal income
purposes. In general, we will be treated as a passive foreign investment company with respect to a U.S. Holder ikableaysatain
which such holder held our common stock, either:

A atleast 75% of our gross income for such taxable year consists of passive income (e.g., dividends, interest, capdalegésns
derived other than in the active conduct of a rental business); or

A atleast 50% of the average value of the assets held by the corporation during such taxable year produce, or are held for 1
production of, passive income.

For purposes of determining whether we are a passive foreign investment company, we will be treated as earning and owning our
proportionate share of the income and assets, respectively, of any of our subsidiary corporations in which we owrtablithst \28ue of
the subsidiary's stock. Income earned, or deemed earned, by us in connection with the performance of services woltigte@assng
income. By contrast, rental income would generally constitute "passive income" unless we were tdsategagific rules as deriving our
rental income in the active conduct of a trade or business.

We may hold, directly or indirectly, interests in other entities that are passive foreign investment companies, or SRibl<idialfywe
are a passive foreign investment company, each U.S. Holder will be treated as owning its pro rata share biieraboelodf any such
Subsidiary PFICs.

Based on our current operations and future projections, we do not believe that we are, nor do we expect to becommraigassive
investment company with respect to any taxable year. Although we are nogngbgin an opinion of counsel on this issue, our belief is
based principally on the position that, for purposes of determining whether we are a passive foreign investment copuesyintteame
we derive or are deemed to derive from the time charteridgyayage chartering activities of our wholly owned subsidiaries should
constitute services income, rather than rental income. Correspondingly, such income should not constitute passive ittwamsetadhat
we or our whollyowned subsidiaries own dmoperate in connection with the production of such income, in particular, the vessels, should
constitute passive assets for purposes of determining whether we are a passive foreign investment company. Intern@ridegenue S
pronouncements concernitite characterization of income derived from time charters and voyage charters as services income for other
purposes support this position. However, a 2009 case reviewing the deductibility of commissions by a foreign salesrcdepatatidhat
time charter income constituted rental income under the law due to specific characteristics of the time charters inTiosveates.Inc. v.

U.S, 565 F.3d 299 (5Cir., Apr. 13, 2009). The IRS has stated that it disagrees with and will not acquidsed idawater decision, and in

its discussion stated that the time charters at issue in Tidewater would be treated as producing services income foogeBIGpurever,

the IRS's statement with respect to the Tidewater decision was an administratineredtcannot be relied upon or otherwise cited as
precedent by taxpayers. Consequently, in the absence of any binding legal authority specifically relating to the staisitamg governing
PFICs, there can be no assurance that the IRS or a coud agrae with the Tidewater decision. However, if the principles of the Tidewate
decision were applicable to our time charters, we would likely be treated as a PFIC. In addition, although we intenct toucafthirs in a
manner to avoid being clagsifl as a passive foreign investment company with respect to any taxable year, we cannot assure you that tt
nature of our operations will not change in the future.

As discussed more fully below, if we were to be treated as a passive foreign investmpany for any taxable year, a U.S. Holder
would be subject to different taxation rules depending on whether the U.S. Holder makes an election to treat us aschE@attifi
Fund," which election we refer to as a "QEF election." As an alternativeking a QEF election, provided that our common stock is listed
on the NASDAQ Global Market and are treated as "regularly traded" on such market for the year in which the electioa is ®aHe]der
should be able to make a "maxkmarket” electiorwith respect to our common stock, as discussed below.

Taxation of U.S. Holders Making a Timely QEF Electiba U.S. Holder makes a timely QEF election, which U.S. Holder we refer to ac
an "Electing Holder," the Electing Holder must report each fgddnited States federal income tax purposes his pro rata share of our
ordinary earnings and our net capital gain, if any, for our taxable year that ends with or within the taxable yeardaiirthé-Elder,
regardless of whether or not distributionsresreceived from us by the Electing Holder. The Electing Holder's adjusted tax basis in the
common stock will be increased to reflect taxed but undistributed earnings and profits. Distributions of earnings atiiphaiitdbeen
previously taxed will esult in a corresponding reduction in the adjusted tax basis in the common stock and will not be taxed again once



distributed. An Electing Holder would generally recognize capital gain or loss on the sale, exchange or other dispmsitoomwion

stock.A U.S. Holder would make a QEF election with respect to any year that we are a passive foreign investment companybytreflecti
QEF election on an IRS For8621 filed with his United States federal income tax return. If we were aware that we wertecated as a
passive foreign investment company for any taxable year, we would provide each U.S. Holder with all necessary infoorasicio in

make the QEF election described above with respect to our common stock and the stock of any Subsidiary PFIC
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Taxation of U.S. Holders Making a "Matk-Market" Election Alternatively, if we were to be treated as a passive foreign investment
company for any taxable year and our common stock is treatetbasetable stock," a U.S. Holder would be allowed to make a
"mark-to-market" election with respect to our common stock, provided the U.S. Holder completes and files I8 Horaflecting a
markto-market election in accordance with the relevant intisns and related Treasury Regulations. Since our stock is listed on the
NASDAQ Global Market, our common stock will be treated as "marketable stock" for this purpose, provided that our comri®on stock
regularly traded on such market in accordance witlicgige Treasury regulations. If that election is made, the U.S. Holder generally woul
include as ordinary income in each taxable year the excess, if any, of the fair market value of the common stock athleezxabte year
over such holder's adjiesl tax basis in the common stock. The U.S. Holder would also be permitted an ordinary loss in respect of the e»
if any, of the U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in the common stock over its fair market value at the end of the taxaltlenigaothe
extent of the net amount previously included in income as a result of thetayadeket election. A U.S. Holder's tax basis in his common
stock would be adjusted to reflect any such income or loss amount. Gain realized on the sale, exchangkspositi@n of our common
stock would be treated as ordinary income, and any loss realized on the sale, exchange or other disposition of the commdd bt
treated as ordinary loss to the extent that such loss does not exceed the ietma@aketgains previously included by the U.S. Holder. A
markto-market election under the passive foreign investment company rules with respect to our common stock would not apply to a
Subsidiary PFIC, and a U.S. Holder would generally not be able to make sack-toimarket election in respect of such U.S. Holder's
indirect interest in a Subsidiary PFIC. Consequently, U.S. Holders could be subject to the passive foreign investmentutesnpihy
respect to income of a Subsidiary PFIC, the value of whictaliaddy been taken into account indirectly via riarknarket adjustments
with respect to our shares.

Taxation of U.S. Holders Not Making a Timely QEF or Mar#Market ElectionFinally, if we were to be treated as a passive foreign
investment company for any taxable year, a U.S. Holder who does not make either a QEF election etoariardet” election for that
year, whom we refer to as a "Nd&tbecting Holder," would be sulgeto special rules with respect to @y excess distribution (i.e., the
portion of any distributions received by the NBlecting Holder on our common stock in a taxable year in excess of 125% of the average
annual distributions received by the NBleding Holder in the three preceding taxable years, or, if shorter, theEMating Holder's
holding period for the common stock), and Ry gain realized on the sale, exchange or other disposition of our common stock. Under th
special rules:

A the excess distribution or gain would be allocated ratably over theElmting Holders' aggregate holding period for the comm
stock;

A the amount allocated to the current taxable year and any taxable year before we became a passive foreign investmerdud
be taxed as ordinary income; and

A the amount allocated to each of the other taxable years would be subject to tax at the highest rate of tax in eféguylfcalbhe
class of taxpayer for that year, and an interest charge for the deemed deferral benefit would be imposed withthesgscitiog
tax attributable to each such other taxable year.

These penalties would not apply to a pension or profit sharing trust or otkeraianpt organization that did nebrrow funds or
otherwise utilize leverage in connection with its acquisition of our common stock. If-&Moting Holder who is an individual dies while
owning our common stock, such holder's successor generally would not receiveip isté@x basisvith respect to such stock.

Note that, following a recent change in law, a U.S. holder that owns shares of a PFIC is required to file an annuadrinfetumativith
the IRS reflecting such ownership, regardless of whether a QEF election etormaakket election is made.

United States Federal Income Taxation of "Neb.S. Holders"
A beneficial owner of common stock that is not a U.S. Holder is referred to herein as-bl!Sld#older."

Dividends on Common Stodkon-U.S. Holders genaily will not be subject to United States federal income tax or withholding tax on
dividends received from us with respect to our common stock, unless that income is effectively connected witttise Nolder's
conduct of a trade or business in thetddiStates. If the Neb.S. Holder is entitled to the benefits of a United States income tax treaty witl
respect to those dividends, that income is taxable only if it is attributable to a permanent establishment maintaihkuHy $hédolder in
the Unted States.

Sale, Exchange or Other Disposition of Common Stdok-U.S. Holders generally will not be subject to United States federal income
tax or withholding tax on any gain realized upon the sale, exchange or other disposition of our common stock, unless:

A the gain is effectively connected with the NOrS. Holder's conduct of a trade or business in the United States. If th&Jon
Holder is entitled to the benefits of an income tax treaty with respect to that gain, that gain is taxable only ibiiteédtto a
permanent establishment maintainedhmsy NorU.S. Holder in the United States; or

A the NorU.S. Holder is an individual who is present in the United States foda@g8or more during the taxable year of dispositi
and other conditions are met.
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If the NonU.S. Holder is engaged in a United States trade or business for United States federal income tax purposes, the inceme fr
common stock, including dividends and the gain from the sale, exchange or other dispb#iostock that is effectively connected with
the conduct of that trade or business will generally be subject to regular United States federal income tax in the saasedisanssed in
the previous section relating to the taxation of U.S. Holderad(iition, if you are a corporate NahS. Holder, your earnings and profits
that are attributable to the effectively connected income, which are subject to certain adjustments, may be subjeiticioahivi@chdh
profits tax at a rate of 30%, or atawler rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

In general, dividend payments, or other taxable distributions, made within the United States to you will be subjecttmimf@morting
requirements. Such payments will also be subject to backup withholding tax if you are@parate U.S. Holdema you:

A fail to provide an accurate taxpayer identification number;

A are notified by the Internal Revenue Service that you have failed to report all interest or dividends required to beshovedamal
income tax returns; or

A in certain circumstances, fail to comply with applicable certification requirements.

NonU.S. Holders may be required to establish their exemption from information reporting and backup withholding by ceriifying the
status on Internal Revenue SeevForm W8BEN, W-8ECI or W-8IMY, as applicable.

If you sell your stock to or through a United States office or broker, the payment of the proceeds is subject to b@&atésiteackup
withholding and information reporting unless you certify that you are dh8nperson, under penalties of perjuwyyou otherwise
establish an exemption. If you sell your stock through alWeited States office of a neldnited States broker and the sales proceeds are
paid to you outside the United States, then information reporting and backup withholding geriknadiyapply to that payment. However,
United States information reporting requirements, but not backup withholding, will apply to a payment of sales proceétsateven
payment is made to you outside the United States, if you sell your stock throoghtJaited States office of a broker that is a United States
person or has some other contacts with the United States.

Backup withholding tax is not an additional tax. Rather, you generally may obtain a refund of any amounts withheld wigler back
withholding rules that exceed your income tax liability by filing a refund claim with the Internal Revenue Service.

We encourage each stockholder to consult with his, her or its own tax advisor as to particular tax consequences itwjitaoichold
dispasing of our shares, including the applicability of any state, local or foreign tax laws and any proposed changes ie #pplicabl

F. Dividends and Paying Agents
Not applicable.

G. Statement by Experts
Not applicable.

H. Documents on Display

We file annual reports and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any report or document we file, inelexiigjti
at the SEC's public reference room located at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C.P16548 call the SEC at800-SEG0330 for
further information on the public reference room. Such materials can also be obtained on the SEC's site on thehittpeffreiat sec.gol

We will also provide without charge to each personluding any beneficial owner, upon written or oral request of that person, a copy C
any and all of the information that has been incorporated by reference in this annual report. Please direct such Adepssisas
Mylonas, Chief Financial OfficeFreeSeas Inc., 89 Akti Miaouli & 4 Mavrokordatou, Piraeus, Greece, telephone numkzr0-88r8770
or facsimile number +3@10-4291010.

I. Subsidiary Information

Not applicable.

ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Fluctuation

The international drybulk industry is a capitalensive industry, requiring significant amounts of investment. Much of this investment is
provided in the form of londerm debt. Our debt usually contains interest rates that fluctuate with LIBOR. Ingé@#srest rates could
adversely impact future earnings. To mitigate this risk, we have entered into two interest rate swap contracts.



Our interest expense is affected by changes in the general level of interest rates. As an indication of ti@exsantsitivity to interest
rate changes, an increase of 100 basis points would have decreased our net income and cash flows in the 2011 figqaioy@aabsiya
$1,126 based upon our debt level during the period in 2010 during which we had dedyicding.
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The following table sets forth for a period of five years the sensitivity of the loans on each of the vessels owned by us duriffiscal 2
U.S. dollars to a 10basispoint increase in LIBOR.

(In thousands of U.S. Dollars)

Vessel Name 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Free Hero / Free Goddess / Free Jupiter $ 27F $ 17cC $ 13t $ 10C $ 57
Free Impala / Free Neptune $ 247 $ 214 $  17¢ $ 14t $ 111
Free Knight $ 137 $ 107 $ 76 $ 46 $ 15
Free Lady $ 26¢ $ 23¢ $ 207 $ 177 $ 147
Free Maverick $ 19¢ $ 15€ o} o} 0

Please see "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results @3perdabng Term Debt" for a full
description of each of these loans.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk associated with its variable rate borrowings, and its objective is to managedhstiatpact
fluctuations on earnings drcash flows of its borrowings. In this respect, we use interest rate swaps to manage net exposure to interest
fluctuations related to its borrowings and to lower its overall borrowing costs. We have two interest rate swaps owtdtaadioiz!
notional amount of $11,739 as of DecemBé&r 2010. These interest rate swap agreements do not qualify for hedge accounting, and char
in their fair values are reflected in our earnings.

Our derivative financial instruments are valued using pricindetsothat are used to value similar instruments by market participants.
Where possible, we verify the values produced by our pricing models to market prices. Valuation models require a aatiety of i
including contractual terms, market prices, yieldves, credit spreads, measures of volatility and correlations of such inputs. Model inputs
can generally be verified and do not involve significant management judgment. Such instruments are typically classifiszi/alithiof the
fair value hierarchy.

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

We generate all of our revenues in U.S. dollars, but incur a portion of our expenses in currencies other than U.Sirduadtzosnting
purposes, expenses incurred in Euros are converted into U.S. dollars at the erafegmgevailing on the date of each transaction. At
Decembe1, 2010, 2009 and 2008, approximately 55%, 21% and 21%, respectively, of our outstanding accounts payable was denom
in currencies other than the U.S. dollar (mainly in the Euro). Asdioation of the extent of our sensitivity to foreign exchange rate change:
an increase of an additional 10% in the value of other currencies against the dollar would have decreased our net casimfilowadn
2010 by approximately $263 based uponabeounts payable we had denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar as of
DecembeBl, 2010.

Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk, consist principallyaoficzesth
equivalents, trade accounts receivable, insurance claims and derivative contracts (interest rate swaps). We placel @asbash an
equivalents, consisting mostly of deposits, with high credit qualified financial institutions.

We monitor the creditisk regarding charterer's turnover in order to review its reliance on individual charterers. We do not obtain righi
collateral to reduce its credit risk. We are exposed to credit risk in the event-pérformance by counter parties to derivativerinsents;
however, we limit our exposure by diversifying among counter parties with high credit ratings. In addition, the couttetpadgrivative
financial instrument is a major financial institution in order to manage exposure-fierfonmance canterparties.

Charter Market Risk

Our revenues, earnings and profitability are affected by the prevailing charter market rates. During the first quaftethef RD1
fluctuated from 1,693 where it stood on the first trading day of Jar@dry to a low of 1,043 on Februaty2011. Since then, the BDI has
recovered to 1,306 on MaB, 2011. Such chartering market volatility is expected to adversely impact our financial performance for the
relevant quarter including its net income and castfl

M/V Free Jupiterwas on time charter with KLC from JuBe 2007 until she was +&elivered to us on FebruaP®, 2011. KLC has made
several unilateral deductions from hire payments during the-yle@ecourse of the time charter, and no hireldsesn received from KLC
from Februaryg, 2011 until the scheduled and actual redelivery of the vessel on FepRu@@11. We have commenced arbitration
proceedings against KLC, and have taken action to obtain security, including the arrest of KL@\assetsult, we have obtained
third-party security in the amount of $1,680 (which includes provision for interest and legal costs) in the form of a letestakingdrom
KLC's P&I club covering KLC's unilateral deductions from the hire. We have alsined cash security held in escrow in the amount of
$159 from the execution of a lien on shibes. We believe that we have grounds to recover the ates@ibed secured portion of our claim,
although there can be no assurances that we will be abtesto. dn addition, due to the uncertainties surrounding the possibility of



recovering unsecured portion of the hire obligations due from KLC to us, management has determined that it will notasdogaire in
the relevant quarter such unsecured anguwahich total approximately $320. On Janu2By 2011 KLC announced that it had filed a
petition for the rehabilitation proceeding for court receivership in the Seoul Central District Court, and the couretaalpssservation
order.
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ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES
Not applicable.

PART Il

ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES

There has been no default of any indebtedness nor is there any arrearage in the payment of dividends.

ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Except as described elsewhere in this document, there have been no changes to the instruments defining the righesebfreniyold
class of registered securities, and the rights of holders of the registered securities have not been alterechhgetw issdification of any
other class of securities in 2010 (see "ItE®n Additional Informatior® B. Memorandum and Articles of Incorporation") for a description
of this plan). There are no restrictions on working capital and no removal or substifidigsets securing any class of our registered
securities.

ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Disclosure Controls and Proceduresder the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief
executive officer and chief financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and opevatitisctifsure
controls and procedureas defined in Rule$3a15(e) and 15d.5(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchar
Act") as of DecembeBl, 2010. Disclosure controls and procedures are defined under SEC rules as controls and other procedures that
designd to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under theAexdhange
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within required time periods. Disclosure controls and procedures intdualedcontr
procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it fileswrdaridimgt&xchange
Act is accumulated and communicated to the issuer's management, including its principal executineipatfiprancial officers, or
persons performing similar functions, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Thererdrnmitiagons to
the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures, inthedpassibility of human error and the circumvention of
overriding of the controls and procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and procedures can onlygaaviddere
assurance of achieving their control objectives.

Based on ouevaluation, our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of Decentiier2010.

(b) Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial RepoMingagement is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined I3&1if) of the Exchange Act. Our internal
control over financial reporting is a process designed under thevigiperof our chief executive officer and chief financial officer to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our financial datextents|
purposes in accordance with generally acceptedunting principles in the United States.

Management has conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as o8 Ded@hiber
based on the criteria described in Internal Coréirdhtegrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this assessment, management has concluded that the Company's internal contriall over fina
reporting as of Decemb@&i., 2010 was effective.

(c) Attestaton Report of the Registered Public Accounting Fifiinis annual report does not include an attestation report of the
Company's registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management's reposugshtut
attestation by the Company's registered public accounting firm pursuant to the rules of the Securities and Exchange Cbatrpissiuh t
the Company to provide only management's report in this annual report.




(d) Changes in Internal Control over FinasdReporting There were no changes in internal control over financial reporting during the
year ended Decemb8d, 2010 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company's internal control o
financial reporting.

ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our audit committee is made up of the three independent directors. We believe thathkdrNauta meets the definition of an audit
committee financial expert, as defined for the purposes of 1@&hof Form 20F, and accordingly serves as our financial expert.Nduta
is independent, as such term is defined in 17 CFR 2403L&#e have dermined that the number of directors that make up the audit
committee reflects the appropriate level of governance for a company of this type and size. All of the audit committeehaeember
experience with the financial management of a company andraikef with the reports that are provided by management for the purpose
reporting the financial position of the business.

ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our officers and directors. Our Code of BusihesglConduc
Ethics is available on the Corporate Governance section of our websitenafreeseas.giWe will also provide a paper copy our Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics free of charge upon written request of a shareholder. Shareholders may direct their hecatésision tof
Alexandros Mylonas, Chief Financial Officer.
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ITEM 16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The aggregate fees billed for the last two fiscal years for professional services rendered by our auditor are as follows:

2009 2010
Audit fees (1) $ 704 $ 464
Audit-related fees o] o]
Tax fees o] o)
Other fees o] o]
Total $ 704 $ 464

(1) Audit fees represent fees for professional services related to the audit of our financial statements for the years enpir@ D &G (
and 2009, which include for 2009 fees for professional services related to the filing of our prospectus suppieen€otinbpany’'s
previously filed shelf registration statement which we used for20@ followon offering and fees that relate to the Company's fi
on OctobeR2, 2009 with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission of the registration statenamn &1 For the purpose of
undertaking possible capital raises in the future.

Our audit committee prapproves all audit, auditlated and no@audit services not prohibited by law to be performed by our independer
auditors and associated fees prior to the engagement of the independent auditor with respect to such services.

ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES
Not applicable.

ITEM 16E. PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS
Not applicable.

ITEM 16F. CHANGES IN REGISTRANT'S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT

At a meeting held on May, 2009, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the engagei@nsb& Young (Hellas) Certified
Auditors Accountants S.A, or E&Y, as its independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending D&teP@ioér. At the
same meeting, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the dismissakofdderhouseCoopers, S.A., or PWC, as independent
registered public accounting firm of the Company. The audit committee of the Board of Directors approved the changedertdepe
registered public accounting firms on May2009.

The report of PWC on the Company's financial statements for the fiscal year ended D&3r@bB68B did not contain an adverse opinion
or a disclaimer of opinion and was not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting princippghétwo most
recent fiscal years prior to the appointment of E&Y as independent registered accounting firm, and in the subsequeetiodetinough
May 1, 2009, there have been no reportable events (as defined iBQ&a)(1)(v) of Regulatios-K).

In connection with the audits of the Company's financial statements for the fiscal year ended D8te208, and in the subsequent
interim period through Mag, 2009, there were no disagreements with PWC on any matters of accounting jsrimcjpigctices, financial
statement disclosure, or auditing scope and procedures that, if not resolved to the satisfaction of PWC, would haveCaosedkeW
reference to the matter in their report. The Company has requested PWC to furnish it ddetteseal to the Commission stating whether it
agrees with the above statements. A copy of that letter, dated Sup@10, is filed as Exhib#5.1 to this Form 2.

During the two most recent fiscal years prior to the appointment of E&Y as indagaedistered accounting firm, the Company has not
consulted with E&Y regarding either (e application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed;
the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on the Coyfgpfinancial statements, and neither a written report was provided to the
Company or oral advice was provided that E&Y concluded was an important factor considered by the Company in reachorgasdecisi



the accounting, auditing or financial reportisgue; or (iijany matter that was either the subject of a disagreement, as that term is defined
Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulatios-K and the related instructions to 1te3@4 of Regulatiors-K, or a reportable event, as that term is defined
in Item304(a)(1)(v) of RegulatiorS-K.

ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

As a foreign private issuer, we can elect to be exempt from many of the corporate governance requirements of The NASDAQ Stock
Market other than the requirements regarding the disclosure of a going concern audit opinion, notification of matenapharte with
NASDAQ corporate governance practices, the establishment and composition of an audit committee that complies with1SBE Robk
a formal audit committee charter. The practices followed by us in lieu of NASDAQ's corporate governance dalssriaed below:

A Our board is composed of a majority of independent directors, consistent with NASDAQ corporate governance requireme
not required under Marshall Islands law, however, to maintain a majority independent directors anmbivguzantee that we w
always in the future maintain a board with a majority of independent members.

A Inlieu of obtaining shareholder approval prior to the issuance of designated securities, we comply with provisions lbf Mars
Islands law, requiring that the board of directors approves share issuances.

A Inlieu of holding regular meetings at which only independent directors are present, our entire board of directorsy afmdjorit
are independent, hold regular meetings as is consistent with Marshall Islands law.

A As aforeign private issuer, we are not required to solicit proxies or provide proxy statements to NASDAQ pursuant to NAS
corporate governance rules or Marshall Islands law. Consistent with Marshall Islands law and as provided in our byldws, \
notify our shareholders of meetings between 15 anda§@ before the meeting. This natification will contain, among other thir
information regarding business to be transacted at the meeting. In addition, our bylaws provide that shareholders snust gi\
between 150 and 18fays advance notice to properly introduce any business at a meeting of shareholders.
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Other than as noted above, we are in compliance with all other applicableAAS&porate governance standards. Additionally, we
believe that our established practices in the area of corporate governance are in line with the spirit of the NASDA® atanutandde
adequate protection to our stockholders

PART IlI

ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

See lteml8.

ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following financial statements, together with the report of our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm theseforttasn
pages F1 through F28, are filed as part of this annual report.

ITEM 19. EXHIBITS

Exhibit

No.: Exhibit Description

1.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of
FreeSeas Inc. (formerly known as Adventure Holdi
S.A)

1.2 Amended and Restated Byaws of FreeSeas Inc.
(formerly known as Adventure Holdings S.A.)

1.3 First Amendment to the Amended and Restated
Bylaws of FreeSeas Inc.

1.4 First Amendment to the Amended and Restated
Articles of Incorporation of FreeSeas Inc.

1.5 Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articles
Incorporation of FreeSeas Inc.

21 Specimen Common Stock Certificate

2.6 Form of Clas&Z Warrant

2.7 Warrant Clarification Agreement dated Ma@, 2007
between FreeSeas Inc. and Aman Stock Transfer
Trust Company

2.9 Shareholder Rights Agreement entered into effecti

as of Januarg4, 2009 by and between FreeSeas Ir

Where Filed

Exhibit 3.1 to Registrant's Registration Statement or
Form F1 (File No. 333124825) filed on May.1, 2005
and incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit 3.2 to Registrant's Registration Statement or
Form F1 (File No. 333124825) filed on May.1, 2005
and incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit 3.3 to Amendment Ndl to Registrant's
Registration Statement on ForrlKFile No.
333124825) filed on Julp2, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference

Exhibit 99.3 to Registrant's Formk filed on
October22, 2009 and incorporated herein by referer

Filed herewith

Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment Ndl to Registrant's
Registration Statement on ForrlKFile No.
333124825) filed on Jul®2, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference

Exhibit 4.4 to Amendment Ndl to Registrant's
Registration Statement on ForrlKFile No.
333124825) filed on Julp2, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference

Exhibit 4.27 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form?20-F for the year ended Decemisdr, 2006 and
incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit 2.9 to Registrant's Annual Report on FRF
for the year ended Decemlizt, 2008



4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, L
Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive Plan
Credit Agreement dated Ju@d, 2004 between

Adventure Three S.A. and Hollandsche BénkJnie
N.V.

Mortgage dated Septemb2®, 2004 by Adventure
Three S.A. in favor of Hollandsche Ba#ék Unie N.V.

Deed of Assignment dated Septemb@r 2004
between Adventure Three S.and Hollandsche Ban
0 Unie N.V.
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Annex A to Registrant's Formi6 filed on Decembet,
2006 and incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit 10.7 to Amendment Nd. to Registrant's
Registration Statement on ForrlKFile No.
333124825) filed on Julp2, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference

Exhibit 10.8 to Amendment Nd. to Registrant's
Registration Statement on ForrrlKFile No.
333124825) filed on Jul®2, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference

Exhibit 10.9 to Amendment Nd. to Registrant's
Registration Statement on ForrlKFile No.
333-124825) filed on Julg2, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference
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Exhibit

No.: Exhibit Description

4.5 ShortTerm Loan Agreement in Euros and Optiona
Currencies dated JuB; 2004 between Adventure
Three S.A. and Hollandsche Baéik Unie N.V.

4.7 Standard Ship Management Agreement dated1july
2004 between Free Bulkers S.A. and Adventure Tl
S.A.

4.8 Amendment Nol of July22, 2005 to the "Shipman
98" Agreement dated Jully 2004 between Adventur
Three S.A. and Free Bulkers S.A.

4.10 Credit Agreement dated SeptemB8&8; 2005 between
Adventure Three S.A. and Hollandsche Bé&nkJnie
N.V.

4.14 Amendment dated Janua2$, 2006 to Credit
Agreement dated Septemt&8, 2005 between
Adventure Three S.A. and Hollandsche BénkUnie
N.V.

4.26 Facility Agreement dated Decemiizt, 2007 betwee
FreeSeas Inc. and Credit Suisse

4.27 First Preferred Mortgage on the MRfee Heroin
favor of Credit Suisse

4.28 First Preferred Mortgage on the MRfee Goddesm
favor of Credit Suisse

4.29 First Preferred Mortgage on the MRfee Jupiterin
favor of Credit Suisse

4.30 Loan Agreement dated Mar@i, 2008 between
Adventure Nine and First Business Bank

4.31 First Preferred Mortgage on the MRfee Impalain
favor of First Business Bank

4.32 Deed of Covenants dated Ap2il 2008 between
Adventure Nine and First Business Bank

4.33 Credit Agreement dated Janu&i, 2008 among

Adventure Two, Adventure Three and Adventure
Seven with Hollandsche Bargk Unie N.V.

Where Filed

Exhibit 10.10 to Amendment Nd. to Registrant's
Registration Statement on ForrlKFile No.
333124825) filed on Julp2, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference

Exhibit 10.12 to Registrant's Registration Statement
Form F1 (File No. 333124825) filed on MayL.1, 2005
and incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit 10.13 to Amendment Nd. to Registrant's
Registration Statement on ForrrlKFile No.
333124825) filed on July2, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference

Exhibit 10.23 to Amendment N& of Registrant's
Registration Statement on ForrlKFile No.
333-124825) filed on Octobetl, 2005 and incorporat
herein by reference

Exhibit 4.28 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form20-F for the year ended Deceml&dr, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit 4.39 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form?20-F for the year ended Decemi&d, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit 4.40 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form?20-F for the year ended Decemisd, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit 4.41 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form20-F for the year ended Decemlt&dr, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit 4.42 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form?20-F for the year ended Decemisdr, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit 4.43 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form20-F for the year ended Decemt&dr, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit 4.44 to Registrais Annual Report on
Form20-F for the year ended Decemt&dr, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit 4.45 to Registrant's Amral Report on
Form20-F for the year ended Decemi&%, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit 4.46 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form20-F for the year ended Decemi&s, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference



4.34

4.35

Short Term Loan Agreement among Adventure Tw
Adventure Three, Adventure Seven and Hollandsc
Bankd Unie N.V.

Rollover Loan Agreement dated Ap8&J 2008 among
Adventure Two, Adventure Three, Adventure Seve
and Hollandsche Bank Unie N.V.
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Exhibit 4.47 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form20-F for the year ended Decemisdr, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit 4.48 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form20-F for the year ended DecemIg, 2007 and
incorporated hereiby reference
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Exhibit
No.:

Exhibit Description

4.36

4.37

4.39

4.41

4.42

4.43

4.44

4.45

4.46

4.48

4.50

451

452

4.54

First Preferred Mortgage dated Mart®, 2008 on the
M/V Free Knightin favor of Hollandsche Bani
Unie N.V.

Deed of Covenants between Adventure Seven anc
Hollandsche Ban® Unie N.V

Second Preferred Mortgage on the M#kée Envoyin
favor of Hollandsche Ban& Unie N.V.

First Preferred Mortgage on the MRfee Maverik in
favor of Hollandsche Ban& Unie N.V

Amended Credit Agreement dated Augiligf 2008
among Adventure Two, Adventure Three, Adventu
Seven and Adventure Eleven with Hollandsche Ba
0 Unie NV.

Supplemental Agreement dated J@6e 2008 to the
Facility Agreement dated Decemltizt, 2007 betwee
FreeSeas Inc. and Credit Suisse

Supplemental Agreement dated Ma&3) 2009 to the
Facility Agreement dated Decemit, 2007 betwee
FreeSeas Inc. and Credit Suisse

First Supplemental Agreement dated Matéh 2009
to Loan Agreement dated Mar8ii, 2008 with First
Business Bank S.A.

Deed of Amendment dated Mariti, 2009 of the
Deed of Covenant dated Ap#| 2008 between
Adventure Nine S.A. and First Business Bank S.A.

Amended and Restated Services Agreement datec
Octoberl, 2008 between FreeSeas Inc. and Free
Bulkers S.A.

Amendment and Restatement Agreement dated
September 1, 2009 among Adventure Two, Adven
Three, Adventure Seven, Adventure Eleven, Free$
Inc. and New HBU Il N.V.

Facility Agreement dated Septemider2009 among
Adventure Two, Adventure Three, Adventure Seve
Adventure Eleven, FreeSeas Inc. and New HBU Il
N.V.

Deed of Release of Whole dated Septeniser2009
by New HBU Il N.V. in favour of Adventure Two,
Adventure Three, Adventure Seven and Adventure
Eleven

Deed of Assignment dated Septemb®y 2009
between Adventure Three and New HBU Il N.V.

Where Filed

Exhibit 4.49 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form20-F for the year ended Decemisdr, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit 4.45 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form20-F for the year ended DecemIg%, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit 4.52 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form20-F for the year ended Decemisdr, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference

Exhibit 4.54 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form20-F for the year ended Deceml&dr, 2008

Exhibit 4.55 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form20-F for the year ended Decemtsdr, 2008

Exhibit 4.56 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form20-F for the year ended Deceml&dr, 2008

Exhibit 4.57 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form20-F for the year ended Decemtsdr, 2008

Exhibit 4.58 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form?20-F for the year ended Decemtsdr, 2008

Exhibit 4.59 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form20-F for the year ended Deceml&dr, 2008

Exhibit4.61 to Registrant's Annual Report on
Form?20-F for the year ended Decemtsdr, 2008

Exhibit 99.5 to Registrant's-K filed on October 22,
2009

Exhibit 99.6 to Registrant's-R filed on October 22,
2009

Exhibit 99.7 to Registrant's-K filed on October 22,
2009

Exhibit 99.9 to Registrant's-R filed on October 22,
2009



4.55

4.56

4.57

Deed of Assignment dated Septemb®&y 2009
between Adventure Seven and New HBU II N.V.

Deed of Assignment dated Septemb®y 2009
between Adventure Eleven and New HBU 11 N.V.

Addendum Nol dated Septembéi7, 2009 to the
Amended and Restated Services Agreement datec
Octoberl, 2008 by and between FreeSeas Inc. ant
Free Bulkers S.A.

62

Exhibit 99.10 to Registrant's-& filed on October 22,
2009

Exhibit 99.11 to Registrant's-K filed on October 22,
2009

Exhibit 99.12 to Registrant's-K filed on October 22,
2009
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4.59

4.60

4.61

4.62

4.63

4.64

4.65

4.66

4.67

4.68

4.69

8.1

12.1

Form of Standard Ship Management Agreement b
and between Free Bulkers S.A. and each of Adver
Five S.A. through Adventure Twelve S.A.

Form of Addendum to BIMCO Management
Agreement by and between Free Bulkers S.A. and
of Adventure Three S.A. and Adventure Five S.A
through Adventure Twelve S.A.

Loan Agreement dated Decemlér, 2009 among
Adventure Nine, Adventure Twelve and First Busir
Bank

First Priority Mortgage on the M/¥ree Impalain
favor of First Business Bank

First Preferred Mortgage on the MRfee Neptunén
favor of First Business Bank

Deed of Covenants dated Decemb&y 2009 betweel
Adventure Nine and First Business Bank

Amendment and Restatement Agreement dated
December 1, 2009 among Adventure Two, Advent
Three, Adventure Seven, Adventure Eleven, Free$
Inc. and New HBU Il N.V.

Restated Facility Agreement dated Decenihe2009
among Adventure Two, Adventure Three, Adventu
Seven, Adventure Eleven, FreeSeas Inc. and New
HBU Il N.V.

Third Supplemental Agreement dated Noventbér
2009 to the Facility Agreement dated Decentbér
2007 between Fr&eas Inc. and Credit Suisse
First Preferred Liberian Ship Mortgaga the M/V
Free Goddess in favor of Credit Suisse AG

First Preferred Liberian Ship Mortgaga the M/V
Free Hero in favor of Credit Suisse AG

First Preferred Liberian Ship Mortgage ¢ tM/V
Free Jupiter in favor of Credit Suisse AG

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Section302 Certification of Chief Executive Officer

Where Filed

Exhibit 99.13 to Registrant's-K& filed on October 22,
2009

Exhibit 99.14 to Registrant's-K filed on October 22,
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SIGNATURES

The raistrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Foffna2@ has duly caused and authorized the
undersigned to sign this annual report on its behalf.

FREESEAS INC.

By: /s/ Alexandros Mylonas
Name: Alexandros Mylonas
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

Dated: May18, 2011
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of FreeSeas Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of FreeSeas Inc. as of Bgcafiieand 2009, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, shareholders' equity, andoseskofl the years then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statementsubasetit.o

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stalsdaifrthe Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial stéteenehisagerial
misstatement. We were not engagegéadorm an audit of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included
consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are apptopriateuimstances,

but not for thepurpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordi
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts argdimitbelosure
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, anteevakraling t
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our ophion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financiafpositio
FreeSeas Inc. at Decemisdr, 2010 and 2009, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for theyesded, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/sl Erst & Young (Hellas) Certified Auditors
Accountants S.A.
Athens, Greece

March29, 2011
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of FreeSeas Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated statements of operations, shareholders' equity and cash flows for the year endeDe2ed@eresent
fairly, in all material respects, the results of operations and cash flows of FreeSeas Inc. for the year ended Ele@0Bem conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These fisiatements are the responsibility of the
Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audited/eurcanatlit
of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Congganytig Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statementmaterfate of
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test bas@ereg supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overtdtdimamtial s
presentation. We believe that our audit providesasonable basis for our opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers S.A.

Athens

April 14, 2009, except for the effects of a reverse stock split effective OdtpB@10 discussed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, as to which the date iarbh29, 2011.
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FREESEAS INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Al amounts in tables in thousands of United States dollars, except for share and per share data)

December December
31, 31,
Notes 2010 2009
ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,69/ $ 6,341
Restricted cash 5,25¢ 1,75(
Trade receivables, net of provision of $1,385 and $1,443 for 2010 and 2009
respectively 2,157 2,011
Insurance claims 11 13¢ 9,24(
Due from related party 4 1,28¢ 1,41(
Inventories 1,171 601
Prepayments and other 39C 772
Vessel held for sale 5 13,60¢ 0
Total current assets $ 27,69: $ 22,12t
Advances for vessels under construction 6 5,66¢ o}
Vessels, net 5 213,69: 270,70:
Deferred charges, net 7 2,81 2,99t
Restricted cash _112¢ _1,50¢
Total non-current assets $223,29: $ 275,19t
Total assets $ 250,98: $297,32:

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable $ 4,32¢ $ 10,74¢
Accrued liabilities 1,22 1,31(
Unearned revenue 43( 41¢€
Due to related party 4 98 18
Derivative financial instrumen current portion 9 58: 56€
Deferred revenud current portion 13€ 1,032
Bank loan®d current portion 1C 23,02: 15,40(
Total current liabilities $ 29,81¢ $ 29,48¢
Derivative financial instrumen® net of current portion 9 53¢ 684

Deferred revenud net of current portion o} 13¢
Bank loan®d net of current portion 1C 97,43’ 122,55¢
Total long term liabilities $ 97,97¢ $123,38:

Commitments and Contingencies 11 o} o}

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized, none issu 15 o} o}
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 250,000,000 shares authorized, 6,487,852
6,497,852 shares issued and outstanding at Dece3hb2010 and 2009 15 6 6
Additional paidin capital 127,63« 127,07
Retained earnings/ (Accumulated deficit) (4,450 17,37:
Total shareholders' equity $123,19( $ 144,45.
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 250,98: $ 297,32

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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FREESEAS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Al amounts in tables in thousands of United States dollars, except for share and per share data)

OPERATING REVENUES

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Voyage expenses

Commissions

Vessel operating expenses

Depreciation expense (Note 5)

Amortization of deferred charges (Note 7)
Management and other fees to a related party (Note 4)
General and administrative expenses

Provision and writeoffs of insurance claims and bad debts
Gains on sale of vessel (Note 5)

Vessel impairment loss (Note 5)

Income (loss)from operations

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):

Interest and finance costs

Loss on derivative instruments (Note 9)
Interest income

Other

Other income (expense)

Net income (loss)

Basic earnings (losger share

Diluted earnings (losger share

Basic weighted average number of shares
Diluted weighted average number of shares

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009
$ 57,65( $ 57,53
(1,887 (1,399
(3,357 (3,089
(18,60) (27,819
(15,365 (16,0096
(1,88¢) (1,749
(1,979 (1,879
(4,499 (4,15¢)
(1,250 0
807 o}
(26,63)) )
$ (17,000 $ 11,45¢
(4,375 (4,329
(46%) 11y

37 24

(18) (190

$ (482) $ (4,600
$ (21,82) $ 6,85¢
$ (3.46) $ 1.3t
$ (3.46) $ 1.3¢
6,313,60! 5,092,77.
6,313,60! 5,092,77.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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66,68¢

(527)
(3,389
(16,35¢)
(13,349
(78¢)
(2,639
(2,869)
(221)

3

3

26,57(

(6,459
(1,456)
58¢

(49

©

$

(7,379)

19,19:

$
$

4.57
4.5¢
4,201,29
4,210,39
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FREESEAS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(Al amounts in tables in thousands of United States Dollars, except for share and per share data)

Common
Shares Additional Retained
(Notes 1 and Common Paid-in Earnings
(Accumulated
13) Shares $ Capital deficit)
Balance December31, 2007 4,149,04 $ 4 $115,48: $ (2,859
Dividend payments o} o} (7,335 (5,827
Stock compensation expense o} o} 107 o}
Stock issued upon exercise of warrants 35,57¢ o} 83¢ o}
Stock issued upon exercise of options 50,00( o} 1,25(C o}
Net income 0 0 0 19,19:
Balance DecembeB1, 2008 4,234,622, $ 4 $110,33¢ $ 10,51:
Common shares issued 2,008,23i 2 16,24 o}
Stock compensation expense o} o} 494 o}
Restricted shares issued 255,00t o} o} o}
Net income o) o) o) 6,85¢
Balance Decembef31, 2009 6,497,85. $ 6 $127,07! $ 17,37
Stock compensation expense o} o} 55¢ o}
Restricted shares forfeited (20,000 o} o} o}
Net loss o} o} 0 (21,827
Balance Decembef31, 2010 6,487,85. $ 6 $127,63: $ (4,450

The acompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-6

Total

$112,62°
(13,15)

107

83¢
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FREESEAS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Al amounts in tableg thousands of United States Dollars)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (losshet cash provided from operating
activities
Depreciation (Note 5)
Amortization of deferred financing fees (Note 7)
Amortization of deferred drglocking and special survey costs (Note 7)
Provision and writeoffs of insurance claims and bad debts
Stock compensation cost (Note 14)
Write off of deferred financing fees (Note 7)
Change in fair value of derivatives (Note 9)
Amortization of deferred revenue
Gain on sale of vessel (Note 5)
Vessel impairment loss
Back log asset (Note 8)
Changes in:
-Trade receivables
-Insurance claims
-Due from related party
-Inventories
-Prepayments and other
-Accounts payable
-Accrued liabilities
-Unearned revenue
-Due to related party
Dry-docking and special survey costs paid (Note 7)

Net Cash from Operating Activities

Cash flows from (used in) Investing Activities:
Vessel acquisitions (Note 5)

Advances for vessels under construction (Note 6)
Proceeds from sale of vessel, net

Net Cash used in Investing Activities

Cash flows from (used in) Financing Activities:
Increase in restricted cash

Proceeds from long term loan

Payments of bank loans

Proceeds from issuance of common shares, net of issuance costs (Note 15)
Exercise of warrants (Note 14)

Exercise of stock options (Note 14)

Common stock dividend

Financing fees (Note 7)

Net Cash from / (used in) Financing Activities

Net increase /(decrease) in cash in hand and at bank
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid for interest

Year Ended
December December December
31, 31, 31,
2010 2009 2008
$(21,82) $ 6,85¢ $ 19,19:
15,36¢ 16,00¢ 13,34¢
211 34t 358
1,88¢ 1,74: 78¢€
1,25(C o} 221
55¢ 494 107
o) 111 63¢
(129) (560) 1,061
(1,039 (81) (369)
(807) 8 3
26,63 o} o}
o} 907 89¢
(490) (1,199 (979)
4,99; 8,567 (1,697
12¢ 224 (597)
(570) (22) (80)
382 20C (63€)
(3,162 (170) 7,73¢
(139) (10,03: (5,366
14 (904) 537
8C 6 12
(2,547 (1,097 (2,617
$ 20,80: $ 21,39 $ 32,56:
3 (11,307 (182,539
(5,66¢) ) 8
2,84¢ 0 0
$ (2,819 $ (11,309 $ (182,539
(3,130) (655) (2,245
o} 6,00( 153,65(
(17,500 (28,397 (49,600
o} 16,24« o}
o} o} 83¢
0 o} 1,25C
d ) (13,15))
8 (324) (774)
$ (20,630 $ (7,126 $ 89,96(
$ (2,647 $ 2,960 $ (60,01¢
6,341 3,37¢ 63,39/
$ 3,69« $ 6,341 $ 3,37
$ 4,015 $ 4,46 $ 4,41



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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FREESEAS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in thousands of United States Dollars, except for share and per share data)

1. Basis of Presentation and General Informatiol

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of FreeSeas Inc. and its wholly owned subsidi:
(collectively, the "Company" or "FreeSeas"). FreeSeas, formerly known as Adventure Holdings S.A., was incorporated in |
Marshall I$ands on April23, 2004 for the purpose of being the ultimate holding company cfstijing companies. The

management of FreeSeas' vessels is performed by Free Bulkers S.A. (the "Manager"), a Marshall Islands company thed i
by the Chief Execine Officer of FreeSeas (see Note 4).

Effective Octobet, 2010, the Company effected a fitceone reverse stock split on its issued and outstanding common stock
13). All share andgr share amounts disclosed in the Financial Statements give effect to this reverse stock split retroactive
periods presented.

During the year ended Decemldr, 2010, the Company owned and operated eight Handysize (one of which was sold on
August2010), two Handymax dry bulk carriers and placed an order for the construction of two Handysize bulk carriers. As

DecembeB1, 2010, FreeSeas is the sole ownallobutstanding shares of the following sluiwning subsidiaries:

Year
Built/
Expected
% Year of Date of Date of

Co
mp
any Owned M/V Type Dwit Delivery Acquisition Disposal

/

(

\

¢

I

1

l

I

¢

\

(

/ Free

. 10(% Destiny Handysize 25,24( 1982 08/04/0- 08/27/1(

/

(

\

¢

I

1

l

I

¢

|

I

¢

¢

Free
¢ 100(% Envoy Handysize 26,31¢ 198¢ 09/29/0¢ N/A



AN — — = - o~~~ .

N =~ — -~ - o~ o~ .

~ o — —

N~ — = m - o~ ~ .

~s

10(%

10(%

10(%

10(%

Free
Fighter Handysize

Free
Goddes: Handysize

Free
Hero Handysize

Free
Knight Handysize

38,90¢

22,05

24,31¢

24,11

198%

199t

199t

199¢

06/14/0:

10/30/0°

07/03/0°

03/19/0¢

04/27/0°

N/A

N/A

N/A



—_ e~ - o~ ~ — — - — o~

AN~ — = - o~~~ .

—— i = —

e e N =~ — =~ - o~ ~ .

—_ — e - o~ ~ .

10(%

10(%

10(%

Free

Jupiter Handymas
Free

Impala Handysize
Free

Lady Handymas

47,77

24,11

50,24¢

200z

1997

200z

09/05/0°

04/02/0¢

07/07/0¢

N/A

N/A

N/A



. Free
J 10(% Maverick Handysize 23,99 199¢ 09/01/0¢ N/A

100% Hull 1 Handysize 33,60( 201z N/A N/A



. S S —

AN — — - = m - o~~~ .

—_ o o ek el =

J 10(% Hull 2 Handysize 33,60( 2012 N/A N/A
2. Significant Accounting Policies

a) Principles of ConsolidationThe accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
GAAP" and include in each of the three years in the period ended Decgini2€r10 the accounts and operating results o
Company and its whollpwned subsidiaries referred to in Note 1 above. All significant-tcderpany balances and
transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation. FreeSeas as the holding compamesdetlether it has a controlli
financial interest in an entity by first evaluating whether the entity is a voting interest
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FREESEAS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in thousands of United States Dollars, except for share and per share data)

Charterer

b)

d)

entity or a variable interest entity. Under ASC 810 "Consolidation," (formerly ARB No. 51) a voting interest entity isya
in which the total equity invésment at risk is sufficient to enable the entity to finance itself independently and provides
equity holders with the obligation to absorb losses, the right to receive residual returns and the right to make fishancia
operating decisions. The holdimompany consolidates voting interest entities in which it owns all, or at least a majority
(generally, greater than 50%) of the voting interest. Variable interest entities ("VIE") are entities as defined undé€r tha
in general either do not haveuéty investors with voting rights or that have equity investors that do not provide sufficier
financial resources for the entity to support its activities. The determination of whether a reporting entity is required tc
consolidate another entity is bas®d among other things, the other entity's design and purpose and the reporting entit
power, through voting or similar rights, to direct the activities of the other entity that most significantly impact ttteatityie
economic performance. A conliing financial interest in a VIE is present when a company has the obligation to absorb
or the right to receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE, or both. Only one reporting entitya&rnbe
primary beneficiary, is exmpted to be identified as having a controlling financial interest and thus is required to consoli
VIE. The Company evaluates all arrangements that may include a variable interest in an entity to determine if it may
primary beneficiary, and wod be required to include assets, liabilities and operations of a VIE in its consolidated finar
statements. As of Decembg&t, 2010 and 2009, no such interest existed.

Use of Estimatesthe preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires manage
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contiage
liabilities at the dte of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses du
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Comprehensive Incom&he Company follows the provisions of ASC 220, "Comprehensive Income,” which requires s¢
presentation of certain transactions, which are recorded directly as components of stockholders' equity. For the year
DecembeRl, 2010, 2009 and 2008roprehensive income was the same as net income.

Concentration of Credit Rislinancial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to significant concentration
credit risk, consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, insurance claims and detigatt
(interest rate swaps). The @pany places its cash and cash equivalents, consisting mostly of deposits, with high credi
qualified financial institutions. The Company monitors the credit risk regarding charterer's turnover in order to review
reliance on individual charterers. T@@mpany does not obtain rights to collateral to reduce its credit risk. The Compan
exposed to credit risk in the event of Roerformance by counter parties to derivative instruments; however, the Comps
limits its exposure by diversifying among coemnparties with high credit ratings. Credit risk with respect to trade accoun
receivable is considered high due to the fact that the Company's total income is derived from a few charterers. Daia
ended Decembedl, 2010, 2009 and 2008 three kheers individually accounted for more than 10% of the Company's vt
revenues as follows:

FY 2010 FY 2009 FY 2008

A
B

C

e)

16% 37% 38%

14% 18% 13%
Less thar

12% 10% 1C%

Foreign Currency TranslationThe functional currency of the Company is the U.S. Dollar because the Company's ves:
operate in international shipping markets, and therefore primarily transact business in U.S. Dollars. The Company'g
records are maintained in U.S. Dollafsansactions involving other currencies during the year are converted into U.S. [
using the exchange rates in effect at the time of the transactions. At the balance sheet date, monetary assets and
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FREESEAS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in thousands of United States Dollars, except for share and per share data)

f)

g)

h)

m)

n)

liabilities, which are denominated in other currencies, are translated into U.S. Dollars at tbedyeachange rates. Resulti
gains or losses are included in other income/loss in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Cash and Cash EquivalenfBhe Company considers highly liquid investments such as time deposits and certificates o
with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Restricted CashRestricted cash includes bank deposits that are required under the Company's borrowing arrangeme
kept as part of the security required under the respective loan agreements.

Trade Receivables, néthe amount shown as Trade Receivables at each balance sheet date includes receivables fro
charterers for hire, freight and demurrage billings, net of an allowance for doubtful debts. An estimate is made oatiee
for doubtful debts based on a rewi of all outstanding amounts at year end, and an allowance is made for any account
management believes are not recoverable.

Insurance Claimstnsurance claims comprise claims submitted and/or claims in the process of compilation for submis
(claims pending) relating to hull and machinery or protection and indemnity insurance coverage. They are recorded ¢
on the accrual basis andoresent the claimable expenses incurred, net of deductibles, the recovery of which is probab
the related insurance policies and the Company can make an estimate of the amount to be reimbursedeoverarie
amounts are included in accruedildies and depending on their nature, are classified as operating expenses or voyac
expenses in the statement of operations. The classification of insurance claims (if any) into currencanenoassets is
based on management's expectations #eeipcollection dates.

Inventories:Inventories, which are comprised of bunkers and lubricants remaining on board of the vessels at year en
valued at the lower of cost, as determined on aifitdirst-out basis, or market.

Advances for vessels under constructibhis account includes milestone payments relating to the shipbuilding contract
the shipyard, and various ppeirchase costs and expenses for which the recognition criteria are met.

Vessels' Costessels are stated at cost, which consists of the contract purchase price and any material expenses in¢
acquisition (initial repairs, improvements, delivery expenses and other expenditures to prepare the vessel for hgagei}
Subsequent expenditures for conversions and major improvements are also capitalized when they appreciably exter
increase the earning capacity or improve the efficiency or safety of the vessels. Otherwise, these expenditures ave ¢
expense as incurred.

Vessels' Depreciationthe cost of the Comparmsywessels is depreciated on a stralgig basis over the vessels' remaining
economic useful lives from the acquisition date, after considering the estimated residual value. Effective2Bp8| and
following management's reassessment of the use@d bf the Company's assets, the fleet useful life was increased fron
28years. Management's estimate was based on the current vessels' operating condition, as well as the conditions pi
the market for the same type of vessels.

Vessels held for saldt is the Company's policy to dispose of vessels when suitable opportunities arise and not neces:
keep them until the end of their useful life. The Company classifies assets and disposal groups of assets as beiafgte
accordance with ASC 360, "Property, Plant and Equipment,” when the following criteria are mahggement possessing
the necessary authority has committed to a plan to sell the asgbg éBset is immediately available for sale on an "as is
basis; (iii)an active program to find the buyer and other actions required to execute the plan to sell
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FREESEAS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in thousands of United States Dollars, except for share and per share data)

p)

the asset have been initiated; (iwg sale of the asset is probable, and transfer of the asset is expected to qualify for re:
as a completed sale withone year; (vihe asset is being actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relal
its current fair value and (vgctions required to complete the plan indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to
will be madeor that the plan will be withdrawn. Lorliyed assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale are meas
the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. These assets are not depreciated once they meatdhe
be hetl for sale and are classified in current assets on the consolidated balance sheet.

Impairment of Londived AssetsThe Company followshe guidance under ASC 360, "Property, Plant and Equipment,”
addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal-tif&mhgssets. The standard requires that
long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles heldused or disposed of by an entity be reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverab
estimate of undiscounted cash flows, excluding interest chargestexpede generated by the use of the asset is less tt
carrying amount, the Company should evaluate the asset for an impairment loss. Measurement of the impairment lo:
on the fair value of the asset which is determined based on managstitaates and assumptions and by making use of
available market data. The Company evaluates the carrying amounts and periods over wihivdd@sgets are depreciate
to determine if events have occurred which would require modification to their cavalimgs or useful lives. In evaluating
useful lives and carrying values of loliged assets, management reviews certain indicators of potential impairment, su
future undiscounted net operating cash flows, vessel sales and purchases, business glenallimarket conditions. In
performing the recoverability tests the Company determines future undiscounted net operating cash flows for each v
compares it to the vessel's carrying value. The future undiscounted net operating cash flowesnaireeddty considering the
Company's alternative courses of action, estimated vessel's utilization, its scrap value, the charter revenues froimexi
charters for the fixed fleet days and an estimated daily time charter equivalent for the unfsxedatahe remaining
estimated useful life of the vessel, net of vessel operating expenses adjusted for inflation, and cost of scheduled maj
maintenance. When the Company's estimate of future undiscounted net operating cash flows for any vesgbkis therer
vessel's carrying value, the carrying value is written down, by recording a charge to operations, to the vessel's fatusa
if the fair market value is lower than the vessel's carrying value.

As of DecembeB1, 2010, the Company performed an impairment assessment of Hg/Eohgssets by comparing the

undiscounted net operating cash flows for each vessel to its respective carrying value. The significant factors andhss
the Company used in each frewndiscounted net operating cash flow analysis included, among others, operating reve
off-hire days, drydocking costs, operating expenses and management fee estimates. Revenue assumptions were ba
contracted time charter rates up to the enifebf the current contract of each vessel as well as Forward Freight Agreel
(FFAs) and market historical average time charter rates for the remaining life of the vessel after the completion efithe
contracts. In addition, the Company usedaanual operating expenses escalation factor and an estimate of off hire day:
estimates used and assumptions made were in accordance with the Company's internal budgets and historical expe
shipping industry. The Company's assessment cdadlthat for vessels that it is intended to be held and used no impair
existed as of Decemba8d, 2010, as the future undiscounted net operating cash flows per vessel exceeded the carryin
each vessel. For the vessels for which alternativeseswf action (including their sale) are under consideration, an impa
charge of $26,631 was recognized in 2010 and reflected in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

Accounting for Special Survey and BEdgcking CostsThe Company follows the deferral method of accounting for specii
survey and dndocking costs, whereby actual costs incurred are deferred and are amortized over a period of five and
half years, respectively. If special survey or-docking isperformed prior to the scheduled date, the remainingrortized
balances are
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a)

Y

Y

w)

immediately writteroff. Indirect costs and/or costs related to ordinary maintenance, carried out while at dry dock, are
when incurred as they do not provide any future economic benefit.

Financing CostsFees incurred for obtaining new loans are deferred and amortized over the loans' respective repaym
periods, using the effective interest rate method. These charges are included in the balance sheet line item Deferred
Any unamortized balance obsts relating to loans repaid or refinanced is expensed in the period the repayment or refi
is made, if the refinancing is deemed to be a debt extinguishment under the provision of ABC'B@0t: Modifications an
Extinguishments."

Unearned Revenuélnearned revenue includes cash received prior to the balance sheet date and is related to revenu
after such date. These amounts are recognized as revenue over the voyage or charter period.

Deferred Revenue and Balidg assetsWhen a vessel is acquired with an assumed remaining time charter, the Compa
records any below or above market value of the time charter assumed. The difference between market and assumec
belowmarket charter value discounted using the weighted average cost of capital method and is recorded as deferre
revenue or a back log asset and amortized on a straight line basis to revenue over the remaining life of the assumed
charter.

Interest Rate Swap3he Company uses interest rate swaps to manage net exposure to interest rate changes related
borrowings. Such swap agreements, designated as "economic hedges" are recorded at fair value with changes in th
fair value recognized in eanys unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met. During the years ended D&der2be8
2009 and 2010, there was no derivative transaction meeting such hedge accounting criteria; therefore the change in
value is recognised in earnings.

Financial InstrumentsThe principal financial assets of the Company consist of cash and cash equivalents and restrict
trade receivables (net of allowance), insurance claims, prepayments and advances. The principal fibaiieisidf the
Company consist of accounts payable, accrued liabilities, deferred revenuteriorgdebt, and interesate swaps. The
carrying amounts reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of financial assets and liabilitiegtapprc
their respective fair values.

Fair Value Measurement3he Company follows the provisions of ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurements and Disclosur
which defines, and providesiiglance as to the measurement of, fair value. ASC 820 creates a hierarchy of measurem:
indicates that, when possible, fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfeiradiabili
orderly transaction between rkat participants. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority (Level 1) to quoted pi
active markets and the lowest priority (Level 3) to unobservable data, for example, the reporting entity's own datae Ul
standard, fair value measumnents are separately disclosed by level within the fair value hierarchy. ASC 820 applies wt
assets or liabilities in the financial statements are to be measured at fair value, but does not require additioriahasgeol
beyond the requirements ither accounting principles. .

Fair value option:In February, 2007, the FASB issued ASC 825, "Financial Instruments," which permits companies tc
certain financial assets and financial liabilitiedadr value. ASC 825 was effective for the Company as of Jardy&908 at
which time the Company could elect to apply the standard prospectively and measure certain financial instrumentsea
The Company elected not to report any existingrfoia assets or liabilities at fair value that are not already reported at 1
value. The Company retains the ability to elect the fair value option for certain future assets and liabilities acquiteid u
new pronouncement.

Accounting for Revenue and Expend®svenue is recorded when services are rendered, the Company has a signed ct
agreement or other evidence of an arrangement, the price is fixed or
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y)

aa)

bb)

cc)

determinable, and collection is reasonably assured. A voyage charter involves the carriage of a specific amount and
cargo from specific load port(s) to specific discharge port(s), subject to various cargo handling terms, in return foopa
anagreed upon freight rate per ton of cargo. A time charter involves placing a vessel at the charterers' disposal fof a
time during which the charterer uses the vessel in return for the payment of a specified daily hire rate. Short persddrc
less than three months are referred to as spot charters. Time charters extending three months to a year are gemktall
as medium term charters. All other time charters are considered long term. Voyage revenues for the transportati@men
recognized ratably over the estimated relative transit time of each voyage. A voyage is deemed to commence when
available for loading of its next fixed cargo and is deemed to end upon the completion of the discharge of the current
Revenues from time chartering of vessels are accounted for as operating leases and are thus recognized on a stiiaig
as the average revenue over the rental periods of such charter agreements, as service is provided, Voyage expense
consisting of port, canal and bunker expenses that are unique to a particular charter, are paid for by the charterer uni
charter arrangements or by the Company under voyage charter arrangements, except for commissions, which are al
for by theCompany, regardless of charter type. All voyage and vessel operating expenses are expensed as incurred,
commissions. Commissions are deferred over the related voyage charter period to the extent revenue has been defe
commissions areagned as the Company's revenues are earned. Probable losses on voyages in progress are provide
at the time such losses can be estimated.

Profit Sharing Arrangement&irom time to time, the Company has entered into profit sharing arrangements with its ch
whereby the Company may have received additional income at an agreed percentage of net earnings earned by suc
where those earnings are over theebeate of hire and settled periodically during the term of the charter agreement. Re
generated from the profit sharing arrangements are recorded in the period they are earned.

Repairs and Maintenanc&ll repair and maintenance expenses, including major overhauling and underwater inspectic
expenses, are charged against income as incurred and are included in vessel operating expenses in the accompany
consolidated statements of operations.

StockBased Compensatiofollowing the provisions of ASC 718, "CompensatiGhock Compensation” the Company

recognizes all shafleased payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, in the consolidated sti
of operations Ased on their fair values on the grant date. Compensation cost on stock based awards with graded ves
recognized on an accelerated basis as though each separately vesting portion of the award was in substance, a sep

Earnings per ShareBasic earnings per share are computed by dividing net incomelgiod®} weighted average number ¢
common shares outstanding during the periods presented. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential dilution thi
occur if secuties or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised. Dilution has been computed by the treas
method whereby all of the Company's dilutive securities (warrants, options and restricted shares) are assumed to be
and the proceedssed to repurchase common shares at the weighted average market price of the Company's commo
during the relevant periods. The incremental shares (the difference between the number of shares assumed issued :
number of shares assumed purchasegljrecluded in the denominator of the diluted earnings per share computation unl
such inclusion would be antilutive.

Segment Reportind:he Company reports financial inforti@n and evaluates its operations by total charter revenues. Tt
Company does not have discrete financial information to evaluate the operating results for each type of charter. Alths
revenue can be identified for these types of charters, managemsmadddentify expenses, profitability or other financial
information for these charters. As a result, management, including the chief operating decision makers, reviews opel
results solely by revenue per day and operating results of the fleet artieDompany has determined that it operates u
one reportable segment. Furthermore, when the Company charters a vessel to a charterer, the charterer is free tede
worldwide and, as a result, the disclosure of geographic informatiompiadticable.
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dd) Subsequent EvenfShe Company evaluates subsequent events or transactions up to the date in which the financial st
are issued according to the requirements of ASC 855.

ee) Recent Accounting Standards Updates:

ASU 201006: In Januan2010, the FASB issued ASU 2008, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (Topic
820)Improving Disclosures About Fair Value Measurements. ASU ZIBlLAmends ASC 820 to add new requirements fc
disclosures about transfers into and out of Levels 1 and 2eparate disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances, an
settlements relating to Level 3 measurements. It also clarifies existing fair value disclosures about the level of tmagc
and about inputs and valuation techniques used to measuraltar Vhe ASU also amends guidance on employers'
disclosures about postretirement benefit plan assets under ASC 715 to require that disclosures be provided by class
instead of by major categories of assets. The guidance in the ASU is effective first reporting period (including interim
periods) beginning after Decemlies, 2009, except for the requirement to provide the Level 3 activity of purchases, sal
issuances, and settlements on a gross basis, which will be effective for femsabgginning after Decemb#s, 2010, and fo
interim periods within those fiscal years. In the period of initial adoption, entities will not be required to provideidecn
disclosures for any previous periods presented for comparative purposes efdiese disclosures are required for periol
ending after initial adoption. The provisions of ASU 2@idid not have a material impact on the Company's consolidal
financial statements.

3. Working capital

At DecembeB1, 2010, the Company's current liabilities exceeded its current assets by $2,128. In addition and as further c
Note 6 the Company's expected short term capital commitments to fund the construction installments under the shipbuildi
contractsm 2011, amount to $4,880. Cash expected to be generated from operations assuming that current market charte
would prevail in 2011, may not be sufficient to cover the Company's ongoing working capital requirements and capital
commitments, or fothe Company to be in compliance with certain covenants contained in its loan agreements. The Comp:
currently exploring several alternatives aiming to manage its working capital requirements and other commitments irothe ¢
current market chartdnire rates will continue including a share capital increase, disposition of certain vessels in its current 1
more fully described in Note 5, and seek to achieve additional reductions in operating and other costs.

The Company believes that the above plans will be sufficient to cover its working capital needs for a reasonable pexiod of
4. Related Party Transactions
Manager

All vessels listed in Note 1 (except Mifee Fighterand M/V Free Destinywhich were sold in Aprik007 and Augus2010,
respectively) receive management services from the Manager, pursuant to ship management agreements between each
ship-owning companies and the Manager.

On October, 2010, the subsidiaries Adventure Fourteen S.A. and Adventure Fifteen S.A. entered into management agres
the Manager for the provision of management services to Hull 1 and Hull 2.

Each of the Company's shipvning subsidiaries pays, as per its management agreement with the Manager, monthly technit
management fee of $16.5 (on the basis that the $/Euro exchange rate is 1.30 or lower; if on the first business dayntif dzeh
$/Euro exchange rate exceeds 1.30 then the management fee payable will be increased for the month in question, so tita
payable in $ will be the equivalent in Euro based on 1.30 $/Euro exchange rate) plus a fee of $0.4 per day for superintenc
atendance and other direct expenses.
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FreeSeas also pays the Manager a fee equal to 1.25% of the gross freight or hire from the employment of FreeSeas' vess
Manager has subcontracted the charter and post charter management of FreeSeas' vessels and pays the 1.25% of thergt
hire from the employment of the vessels to Safbulk Pty Ltd ("Safbulk), an entity affiliated with one Company's majordgnata
addition, FreeSeas pays a 1% commission on the gross purchase price of any new vessel acquired or the grossaaje prict
vessel sold by FreeSeas with the assistance of the Manager. In this respect, the Company paid Free Bulkers $32 ecdating
M/V Free Destiny(Note 5) and $488 relating to the signing of shipbuilding contracts for the construction of twsikanedssels
(Note 6) in 2010 and $110 relating to the acquisition of IAfge Neptunén 2009. In addition, the Company has incurred
commission expense relating to its commercial agreement with the Manager amounting to $728, $752 and $866 fomithedyt
DecembeB1, 2010, 2009 and 2008 respectively, included in "Commissions" in the accompanying consolidated statement:
operations.

FreeSeas pays, as per its services agreement with the Manager, a monthly fee of $118.5, (on the basis that the $/Euaiesk
1.35 or lower; if on the last business day of each month the $/Euro exchange rate exceeds 1.35 then the servitedéhmya
adjusted for the following month in question, so that the amount payable in dollars will be the equivalent in Euro h&%ed on
$/Euro exchange rate) as compensation for services related to accounting, financial reporting, implementabanesO&Ey
internal control over financial reporting procedures and general administrative and management services plus expenses.
Manager is entitled to a termination fee if the agreement is terminated upon a "change of control" as defineddestager@me
with the Manager. The termination fee as of Decer8fie2010 would be $100,298.

Fees and expenses charged by the Manager are included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements in "Mas
to a related party,” "General and administrative expenses," "Operating expenses,"” "Gain on sale of vessel,” "Vessels," "V¢
impairment loss" and "Advances for vessels under construction.” The total amounts charged for the year ended32elOriibe
2009 and 2008 amounted to $3,826 ($1,978 of management fees, $1,439 of services fees, $178 of superintendent fedisef
expenses and $114 for management fees and supervision expenses for vessels under construction), $3,245 ($1,874 of m
fees, $1,313 of services fees and $58 of superintendent fees) and $2,634 ($1,655 of management fees, $679 of sedvt2®
of partial contribution for the refurbishment of the office space used by the Company), respectively.

On DecembeB1, 2009, the Company granted 84,000 restricted shares to certain of the Manager's employees vesting in
Decembe012 pursuant to the Company's equity incentive plan (Note 14).

The cost of these shares is amortized over their vesting period and is included in "General and administrative expenses" i
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. In addition, in Decfibeaind 2009, a bonus of $400 and $200
respective}, was granted to the Manager, which is included in "General and administrative expenses."

The balance due from the Manager as of Dece®bg2010 and Decemb8d, 2009 was $1,285 and $1,410 respectively. The
amount paid to the Manager for office space during the year ended De&ImB6d4.0, 2009 and 2008 was $204, $197 and $2C
respectively and is included in "General and administrative expenses" in the aogargpconsolidated statements of operation:

First Business Bank (FBB)

FreeSeas received from FBB, in which one of the Company's major shareholders holds a substantial interest, and in whic
Company's Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President owns a minority interest, a loan of $26,250 (Note 10) which |
usedto partly finance the acquisition of the MRfee Impalain April 2008. On Decembérb, 2009, the Company reached an
agreement for a new secured term loan of $27,750 from FBB to refinance its then outstanding loan balance of $21,766ia&
additioral liquidity of up to $6,000 with a first priority mortgage over the Mikée Impalaand the M/VFree NeptuneThe
outstanding balance of the loan as of DecerBtie2010 was $25,750. Interest charged under the loan
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